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Dear Shareholders,
2017 marked another year of significant progress for Veracyte. We delivered solid revenue growth, product-portfolio
expansion, scientific innovation and major reimbursement successes as we continued to transform patient care, providing
answers to challenging questions that improve care and reduce healthcare costs. Moreover, we made significant strides in
turning Veracyte into a multi-product company, poised to exploit first-to-market advantages in three large markets.
We are on a strong path to succeed in pulmonology. Our Percepta Bronchial Genomic Classifier is gaining traction in lung
cancer screening and diagnosis, where it is the first genomic test to receive Medicare coverage. Our Envisia Genomic Classifier
is moving towards Medicare coverage and subsequent commercial expansion for improved diagnosis of idiopathic pulmonary
fibrosis, or IPF. Collectively, our pioneering genomic tests target a $2 billion opportunity to address significant unmet clinical
needs.
In our beachhead indication, thyroid cancer, we have performed more than 100,000 Afirma genomic classifier tests and
estimate we have helped more than 40,000 patients avoid unnecessary surgery, saving the healthcare system over $800 million
in avoided surgery costs.
2017 Highlights
Looking at our accomplishments in 2017, we achieved important results that both solidified our near-term success and
paved a pathway to sustained growth. They included:
Commercial Expansion
x Grew our revenue to $72 million and our reported genomic test volume to just over 26,000 tests
x Began booking revenue for Percepta in lung cancer, our second indication
x Introduced our next-generation Afirma Genomic Sequencing Classifier (GSC), developed on our RNA sequencing and
machine-learning technology platform
Reimbursement Expansion
x Gained coverage for our Afirma classifier from Anthem, Inc., one of the nation’s largest health benefits companies,
bringing the total number of covered lives for the test to over 275 million.
x Expanded the number of in-network contracted lives for Afirma to 175 million
x Gained Medicare coverage for Percepta
Evidence Development
x For Afirma, presented four studies at major endocrinology meetings demonstrating the ability of the next-generation
Afirma GSC to identify significantly more benign thyroid nodules among those deemed indeterminate by
cytopathology
x For Percepta, presented three clinical utility studies for Percepta and published a cost-effectiveness study in the
prestigious Journal of Thoracic Oncology
x For Envisia, presented five abstracts at major pulmonology conferences and published three studies demonstrating the
test’s clinical validity, clinical utility and analytical verification
Importantly, we achieved these impressive milestones while reducing our cash burn by 22 percent compared to 2016. We
remain committed to exercising financial discipline as we build our business and move towards our goal of achieving
profitability.

Driving Short- and Long-Term Growth
We enter 2018 with great momentum. Our existing thyroid customers – as well as new ones – are gaining access to our
state-of-the-art Afirma GSC. Percepta adoption has grown nicely, with nationwide Medicare coverage effective as of January 1,
2018. Our expanded reimbursement rates are fueling revenue growth. And our significantly expanded sales team is poised to
drive adoption and growth across our multi-product portfolio.
Our team also continues to forge new ground in product innovation that we believe will drive continued growth. During the
second quarter of 2018, we plan to launch our new Afirma Xpression Atlas platform, providing physicians with unprecedented
amounts of rich genomic content – gene expression, DNA variant and RNA fusion data from over 500 genes – to inform
surgery and treatment decisions for patients with suspected thyroid cancer. We believe that the Afirma Xpression Atlas, in
tandem with the Afirma GSC, will enable us to offer physicians the most comprehensive solution available for managing
patients with thyroid nodules.
Key milestones and catalysts that we expect to drive our business forward in 2018 also include positive coverage decisions
for Percepta from private payers, Medicare coverage for Envisia and expanded in-network contracts for our CLIA laboratory,
which will particularly fuel Afirma growth. We will also continue to build the clinical evidence for our tests. Important results
we expect this year include publication of our clinical validation study for the Afirma GSC, comprehensive clinical utility data
for Percepta from our registry sites and publication of our prospective clinical validation study for Envisia.
Looking further ahead, we envision significant opportunities to apply our novel approach of answering challenging
questions further upstream in the clinical pathway – to enable earlier disease detection. We are particularly excited about our
groundbreaking work in pulmonology where our scientists are pursuing a nasal swab test to identify patients with early signs of
lung cancer. Lung cancer remains the leading cancer killer in the United States – largely because most patients are diagnosed at
advanced stages when the cancer is less treatable. We plan to collaborate with top thought leaders to build on compelling
findings published last year in the Journal of the National Cancer Institute in which Boston University researchers
demonstrated that “field of injury” molecular changes that enable lung cancer to be detected in the main lung airway with
Percepta can also be detected in the nose. We look forward to sharing more on our efforts here as we move through the year.
When Veracyte was formed 10 years ago, we had a vision of transforming the diagnosis of thyroid cancer and lung cancer
with genomic technology. The diagnosis of both diseases was fraught with uncertainty, which was driving procedures patients
did not need. We have realized this vision in thyroid cancer and believe we are now on the cusp of duplicating it in lung cancer.
The opportunities for lung cancer are even bigger, given that too few patients get diagnosed before it is too late. Over the next
decade, we intend to change that! We also plan to play a key role in transforming the patient experience in one of the hardest
diseases to diagnosis—IPF. I want to thank you for your continued support of our mission. We are answering important clinical
questions and improving patient care – without the need for invasive procedures and look forward to the coming year and what
lies ahead.
Sincerely,

Bonnie H. Anderson
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer
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PART I
ITEM 1.

BUSINESS

This report contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995.
When used in this report, the words "expects," "anticipates," "intends," "estimates," "plans," "believes," "continuing," "ongoing,"
and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements. These are statements that relate to future events and
include, but are not limited to, the factors that may impact our financial results; our expectations regarding revenue; our expectations
with respect to our future research and development, general and administrative and selling and marketing expenses and our
anticipated uses of our funds; our beliefs with respect to the optimization of our processes for the analysis of RNA samples; our
belief in the importance of maintaining libraries of clinical evidence; our expectations regarding capital expenditures; our anticipated
cash needs and our estimates regarding our capital requirements; our need for additional financing; potential future sources of cash;
our business strategy and our ability to execute our strategy; our ability to achieve and maintain reimbursement from third-party
payers at acceptable levels and our expectations regarding the timing of reimbursement; the estimated size of the global markets for
our tests; the estimated number of patients who receive uncertain diagnoses who are candidates for our test; the attributes and
potential benefits of our tests and any future tests we may develop to patients, physicians and payers; the factors we believe drive
demand for and reimbursement of our tests; our ability to sustain or increase demand for our tests; our intent to expand into other
clinical areas; our ability to develop new tests, and the timeframes for development or commercialization; our ability to get our data
and clinical studies accepted in peer-reviewed publications; our dependence on and the terms of our agreement with TCP, and on
other strategic relationships, and the success of those relationships; our beliefs regarding our laboratory capacity; the applicability of
clinical results to actual outcomes; our expectations regarding our international expansion; the occurrence, timing, outcome or
success of clinical trials or studies; the ability of our tests to impact treatment decisions; our beliefs regarding our competitive
position; our compliance with federal, state and international regulations; the potential impact of regulation of our tests by the Food
and Drug Administration, or FDA, or other regulatory bodies; the impact of new or changing policies, regulation or legislation, or of
judicial decisions, on our business; the impact of seasonal fluctuations and economic conditions on our business; our belief that we
have taken reasonable steps to protect our intellectual property; our belief that our intellectual property will develop and maintain
our competitive position; the impact of accounting pronouncements and our critical accounting policies, judgments, estimates,
models and assumptions on our financial results; and anticipated trends and challenges in our business and the markets in which we
operate. We caution you that the foregoing list does not contain all of the forward-looking statements made in this report.
Forward-looking statements are based on our current plans and expectations and involve risks and uncertainties which could
cause actual results to differ materially. These risks and uncertainties include, but are not limited to, those risks discussed in Part I,
Item 1A of this report. These forward-looking statements speak only as of the date hereof. We expressly disclaim any obligation or
undertaking to update any forward-looking statements contained herein to reflect any change in our expectations with regard thereto
or any change in events, conditions or circumstances on which any such statement is based.
When used in this report, all references to "Veracyte," the "company," "we," "our" and "us" refer to Veracyte, Inc.
Veracyte, Afirma, Percepta, Envisia, Know by Design, the Veracyte logo and the Afirma logo are our trademarks. We also refer
to trademarks of other corporations or organizations in this report that are the property of their respective owners.
This annual report contains statistical data and estimates that we obtained from industry publications and reports. These
publications typically indicate that they have obtained their information from sources they believe to be reliable, but do not
guarantee the accuracy and completeness of their information. Some data contained in this annual report is also based on our internal
estimates. Although we have not independently verified the third-party data, we are responsible for its inclusion in the annual report
and believe it to be reasonable.
General
We are a leading genomic diagnostics company that provides trustworthy and actionable answers that fundamentally improve
patient care when current diagnostic test results are uncertain. Our products uniquely combine genomic technology, clinical science
and machine learning to provide answers that give physicians and patients a clear path forward without risky, costly surgery that is
often unnecessary.
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Our vision is to lead a transformation of diagnostics with a new genomic standard of truth, providing answers that illuminate
the pathway to health. Our goal is to drive stockholder value by improving patient outcomes and reducing the cost of healthcare.
The role of genomic information in medical practice is evolving rapidly and has affected the diagnosis of disease as well as
treatment decisions. Over the past decade, molecular diagnostic tests that analyze genomic material from tissue samples have
emerged as an important complement to evaluations performed by pathologists. Information at the molecular level enables one to
understand and identify more fully the makeup and specific subtype of disease to improve diagnosis. In many cases, the genomic
information derived from these samples can help guide treatment decisions as part of the standard of care.
While genomic and technological advances are fueling the imagination about what is possible in medicine, we remain focused
on delivering tests that change clinical decision making and improve patient outcomes.
We deploy machine learning algorithms, which leverage comprehensive ribonucleic acid, or RNA expression data, to develop
tests for the improvement of diagnostic clarity for cancer and other diseases. In our thyroid and lung indications, diagnosis can be
ambiguous in 15-70% of patients undergoing diagnostic evaluation depending on the indication. Our tests provide clarity of
diagnosis that can in turn guide treatment decisions in 40-70% of those cases, eliminating costly, risky surgeries and other
unnecessary medical procedures, improving the lives of patients and saving the healthcare system money.
Since our founding in 2008, we have commercialized three genomic classifiers that we believe are transforming diagnostics:
the next-generation Afirma Genomic Sequencing Classifier, or GSC, and its predecessor, the Afirma Gene Expression Classifier, or
GEC, for thyroid cancer; the Percepta Bronchial Genomic Classifier for lung cancer; and the Envisia Genomic Classifier for
idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis, or IPF. Collectively, we believe these three tests address a $2 billion global market opportunity.
Patients typically access our tests through their physician during the diagnostic process. All of our testing services are made
available through our clinical reference laboratories located in San Francisco, California and Austin, Texas, which are each certified
under the Clinical Laboratory Improvement Amendments of 1988, or CLIA.
The published evidence supporting our tests demonstrates the robustness of our science and clinical studies. Patients and
physicians can access our full list of publications on our website. Over 30 clinical studies covering our products have been
published, including two landmark clinical validation papers published in The New England Journal of Medicine for the Afirma and
Percepta classifiers, respectively. We continue to build upon our extensive library of clinical evidence. We also expect to continue
expanding our offerings in thyroid cancer, lung cancer and interstitial lung diseases such as IPF, as well as other indications that we
believe will benefit from our technology and approach.
We believe our focus on developing clinically useful tests that change patient care is enabling the company to set new
standards in genomic test reimbursement. Our Afirma genomic classifier is now covered by every major health plan in the United
States, covering more than 275 million people, for use in thyroid cancer diagnosis. It is available as an in-network, contracted
offering to more than 175 million people nationwide through their insurers. Our second commercial product, the Percepta classifier,
is the first genomic test to gain Medicare coverage for improved lung cancer screening and diagnosis, making it a covered benefit
for more than 60 million people.
Company Background
We were incorporated in Delaware as Calderome, Inc. in August 2006. Calderome operated as an incubator until early 2008.
We changed our name to Veracyte, Inc. in March 2008. Our principal executive offices are located at 6000 Shoreline Court,
Suite 300, South San Francisco, California 94080 and our telephone number is (650) 243-6300. Our website address is
www.veracyte.com. Our website and the information contained therein or connected thereto are not intended to be incorporated into
this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
We make available free of charge on our website our annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current
reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those reports as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file or furnish such
materials to the Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC. The reports are also available at www.sec.gov.
Fourth Quarter and Full-Year 2017 Financial Results
For the three- and twelve-month periods ended December 31, 2017, compared to the prior year:
•

Revenue was $19.6 million and $72.0 million, respectively, an increase of 7% and 11%;
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•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Genomic Volume was 7,153 and 26,026 reported tests, respectively, an increase of 13% and 12%;
Gross Margin was 60% and 61%, respectively, a decline of 4% and flat to prior year;
Operating Expenses, Excluding Cost of Revenue, were $17.9 million and $70.3 million, respectively, an increase of 16%
and 3%;
Net Loss and Comprehensive Loss was ($8.4) million and ($31.0) million, respectively, an increase of 92% and decrease of
1%;
Basic and Diluted Net Loss Per Common Share was ($0.24) and ($0.91), respectively, an increase of 71% and decrease of
17%;
Cash Burn(1) was $6.1 million and $25.2 million, respectively, an increase of 31% and improvement of 22%; and
Cash and Cash Equivalents was $33.9 million at December 31, 2017.

(1) Cash burn is a financial measure that is not calculated in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United
States, or U.S. GAAP. See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations-Fourth
Quarter and Full-Year 2017 Financial Results” in Part II. Item 7 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for information regarding cash
burn and a reconciliation of cash burn to net cash used in operating activities.
2017 and Recent Business Highlights
Commercial Expansion:
•
•

•

•

In January 2018, achieved the milestone of 100,000 Afirma tests performed to date, with an estimated 40,000 unnecessary
thyroid surgeries saved, penetrating the market by an estimated 35%.
Launched the next-generation Afirma Genomic Sequencing Classifier on our RNA sequencing platform, further improving
the test’s performance and expanding our comprehensive biorepository of genomic content to fuel future product
innovation.
Announced upcoming launch of the Afirma Xpression Atlas platform, providing physicians the most comprehensive
genomic data available in a single assay to further inform surgery and treatment decisions for patients with suspected
thyroid cancer.
During the year, structured and significantly expanded our multi-product sales team by over 40% during the year, in
preparation for driving Percepta growth in 2018.

Reimbursement Progress:
•

•
•

•

•

Expanded the number of covered lives for Afirma by 70 million during 2017, bringing the total number of patients covered
for the genomic test through their health insurers to over 275 million, including nearly 120 million Blues plan members, as
of December 31, 2017.
Expanded the number of contracted lives for Afirma by nearly 20 million during 2017, making the test an in-network
covered benefit for over 175 million people, including nearly 45 million Blues plan members, as of December 31, 2017.
Gained final Medicare coverage for Percepta through the MolDX program in May 2017, making it the first genomic test to
be covered for use in lung cancer screening and diagnosis. The test is now available as a covered benefit for the nearly 60
million Medicare enrollees nationwide.
Achieved Medicare pricing stability and transparency for Afirma through the Protecting Access to Medicare Act of 2014
(PAMA) implementation in January 2018, resulting in an increased reimbursement rate of approximately $3,600 per test
from approximately $3,200 per test.
Completed the package of clinical evidence needed to target Medicare coverage for the Envisia Genomic Classifier in
2018.

Evidence Development:
•

•

•

Afirma - Presented 14 Afirma abstracts at four medical conferences, including four clinical utility studies
demonstrating the long-term durability of a benign genomic test result during up to six years of follow-up and seven
studies showing the enhanced Afirma GSC’s ability to identify significantly more benign thyroid nodules than the
original Afirma test.
Percepta - Presented three studies at major medical meetings demonstrating the clinical utility of the Percepta
classifier and published a study in the Journal of Thoracic Oncology demonstrating the genomic test’s costeffectiveness.
Envisia - Presented five abstracts at leading pulmonology meetings and published three studies demonstrating the
clinical validity, clinical utility and/or analytical verification of the Envisia classifier.
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Our Products
We strive to develop and commercialize products that become the standard of care. Since our founding in 2008 we have
commercialized three products:
Afirma Thyroid FNA Analysis - The centerpiece of our Afirma solution is the next-generation Afirma GSC and its predecessor,
the Afirma GEC that is used to identify patients with benign thyroid nodules among those with indeterminate cytopathology
results in order to preserve the thyroid. The Afirma classifier was developed using machine learning that is based on ensemble
methods in which multiple algorithms - each playing its own role - are used to interpret massive amounts of RNA sequencing
genomic data and obtain a better predictive performance than any single algorithm on its own. The Afirma product is the first
of its kind to market, and we believe the market leader.
Percepta Bronchial Genomic Classifier - The 23-gene Percepta classifier improves lung cancer screening and diagnosis by
increasing the diagnostic performance of bronchoscopies and identifying patients with lung nodules who are at low risk of
cancer, without the need for more invasive procedures. The test leverages the field of injury concept and analyzes genomic
changes that occur in the epithelial cells lining the airways of current or former smokers to assess a patient’s risk of having
lung cancer, without the need to test the often-hard-to-reach nodule directly. The Percepta classifier is the first product of its
kind to be available commercially and the first to obtain Medicare coverage for the improved screening and diagnosis of lung
cancer.
Envisia Genomic Classifier - The Envisia classifier is designed to improve physicians’ ability to differentiate IPF, from other
interstitial lung diseases, or ILD, without the need for invasive and potentially risky surgery. The Envisia classifier uses
machine learning coupled with powerful, deep RNA sequencing to detect the presence or absence of usual interstitial
pneumonia, or UIP, a classic diagnostic pattern whose presence is essential for the diagnosis of IPF. The Envisia classifier is
the first product of its kind to market and we are in the process of securing Medicare coverage for the test.
Our Pipeline
We believe we have a rich pipeline to sustain long-term growth. We characterize the stages of a product’s development as
progressing from discovery to development, to commercialization, to Medicare coverage and, finally, to private insurance coverage.
The following pipeline describes internally developed products, product extensions and new indications. We also continue to
evaluate acquisitions of intellectual property and corporate acquisitions that we believe answer clinically meaningful questions to
enable better patient outcomes.
Endocrinology
•

Afirma Xpression Atlas - We are developing the Afirma Xpression Atlas, an extension to our current Afirma product,
which will provide physicians with significant amounts of information about genomic mutational and fusion variants that
have been associated with thyroid cancer. Having this information may help inform physicians’ treatment decisions.

•

Risk of Recurrence - We are in the development phase for a risk of recurrence classifier, which may help inform treatment
and ongoing surveillance of thyroid cancer once it is diagnosed.

Pulmonology
•

Expanded Indications for the Percepta Classifier - We are evaluating enhancements to our product, which we envision
would allow us to expand the intended use population for our test.

•

Nasal Classifier - We are in the discovery phase for a nasal test, based on our proprietary “field of injury” technology,
which would potentially allow us to develop a less invasive test for early detection of lung cancer.

•

Rx Response - We are in the discovery phase for a test that could help guide treatment decisions for IPF patients based
upon their genomic profile.

Market Opportunity
We believe diagnostic uncertainty is a critical healthcare issue that leads to hundreds of thousands of unnecessary surgeries,
delayed or potentially harmful treatments and billions of wasted healthcare dollars each year. We believe that our three commercial
4

tests address a $2 billion global market opportunity and that our markets are expanding due to increased screening or other market
factors.
Thyroid Market Opportunity for Our Afirma Solution
Each year in the United States, we estimate that among the 525,000 patients who undergo a fine needle aspiration, or FNA,
biopsy, 15 to 30 percent of results are inconclusive, or indeterminate, meaning not clearly benign or malignant. Historically, most of
these patients were directed to thyroid surgery for a more definitive diagnosis. Following surgery, however, 70 to 80 percent of cases
proved to be benign, meaning the surgery was unnecessary. We believe our Afirma GSC classifies approximately 70% of benign
cases on which it is used as benign, thereby potentially allowing the avoidance of an estimated 100,000 surgeries annually.
We believe the addressable market opportunity for our Afirma solution is approximately $800 million globally, $500 million in
the United States and $300 million internationally. We believe that we have penetrated approximately 35% of the United States
thyroid FNA market for the Afirma GEC. We currently do not have meaningful operations or sales outside the United States.
Lung Cancer Market Opportunity for Our Percepta Classifier
Lung cancer is often difficult to diagnose without invasive, risky and costly surgeries. Approximately 225,000 people are
diagnosed with lung cancer each year in the U.S. and nearly 160,000 people die annually from lung cancer. We estimate that
approximately 1.8 to 2.0 million lung nodules are identified in patients in the United States each year and that doctors perform
approximately 350,000 bronchoscopies on these patients. A bronchoscopy is a non-surgical procedure that is often used to evaluate
patients with potentially cancerous lung nodules, but produces inconclusive results in up to 70% of cases. We estimate that the
number of bronchoscopies performed would potentially increase - in lieu of invasive procedures - if physicians had more confidence
in bronchoscopy’s ability to provide clear results. Currently, we estimate that approximately 140,000 patients undergoing
bronchoscopy have inconclusive results and could potentially benefit from our test. We believe our Percepta product can improve
the diagnostic performance of bronchoscopy and classify approximately 44% of these patients as low risk or very low risk for lung
cancer, saving approximately 60,000 patients from potentially having to undergo diagnostic surgeries.
We believe the addressable market opportunity for our Percepta product is approximately $425 million to $525 million in the
United States and over $200 million in Europe. We anticipate the market will expand significantly over the coming years as lung
cancer screening programs are implemented in the United States and physicians embrace bronchoscopy as a standard, less-invasive
diagnostic modality for evaluating lung nodules and lesions.
In May 2017, we obtained positive Medicare coverage for Percepta through the MolDX program, administered by the
Medicare Administrative Contractor, or MAC, Palmetto GBA, making it the first genomic test to be covered for use in lung cancer
screening and diagnosis. The effect of these coverage decisions is that the test is available to nearly 60 million Medicare enrollees.
Following Medicare coverage, in 2017 we began expanding commercialization of the Percepta classifier.
IPF Market Opportunity for Our Envisia Classifier
Each year in the United States and Europe, up to 200,000 patients are suspected of having an ILD, including IPF, which is
among the most common and deadly of these lung-scarring diseases. IPF is notoriously difficult to diagnose, often leading to
treatment delays, repeated misdiagnoses, patient distress and added healthcare expense. Physicians routinely use high-resolution
computed tomography imaging, or HRCT, to identify UIP, the pattern whose presence is essential to IPF diagnosis. This approach,
however, frequently provides inconclusive results, leading many patients to require surgery to secure a more definitive diagnosis
using surgical histopathology. These surgeries are risky and expensive, and many patients are too frail to undergo the procedure. Of
the approximate 200,000 patients evaluated for ILD annually, we estimate that approximately 75%, or 150,000 patients receive an
uncertain diagnosis and are candidates for our Envisia test.
We believe the addressable market opportunity for our Envisia product is approximately $300 million to $350 million in the
United States and over $200 million in Europe. We believe we have developed the evidence to support Medicare coverage of the
Envisia classifier, after which we will begin ramping commercialization of the test.
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Scientific Background
In the past, clinicians made diagnoses from biopsy samples by looking at them under a microscope. Technology has advanced
far beyond this, and scientists now have the ability to decipher genomic patterns that reside in the DNA and RNA of the biopsies we
test. Ultimately, we search for patterns that tell us whether or not the biopsy contains the disease in question. We do this by using a
whole-genome approach. This means we look at all of the human genes, including their expression patterns and their variants and
mutations, rather than just looking at a few selected genes that we think may be important. This complex information requires
computer-based algorithms to make sense of the patterns. This comprehensive measurement of the human genome allows us to
detect signals from genes we may not have previously suspected to be involved in disease.
We use machine learning computer-based algorithms to match genomic patterns with clinical truth, or the true diagnosis. For
example, when we train an algorithm on RNA sequencing data, we teach it to associate a set of expression patterns with disease and
a different set of patterns with lack of disease. When algorithms are trained on enough examples with clinical truth, they learn to find
that pattern in samples they have never encountered, thus allowing the algorithm to predict disease in a clinical setting.
Our core products are built around algorithms that either rule-in or rule-out disease. Due to the complex, sometimes rare,
subtypes of various diseases like cancer, we develop and train our machine learning algorithms using a diverse set of patient samples
so that they are equipped to recognize patterns across the whole spectrum of conditions that may be encountered in the clinic.
Our process uses commercially available reagents and instruments with our own proprietary process and protocols, which
results in RNA extraction from the range of biopsies used in our clinical development studies and our commercial laboratory tests.
Technology
Our technology approach is comprised of a number of key attributes:
Core Expertise in Broad-based Genomic Analysis - Our team of bioinformatics and computational scientists possess extensive
knowledge of both existing computational methods as well as the capacity to develop proprietary methods as needed for
algorithm design. We demonstrated our ability to utilize large amounts of genomic data with machine learning algorithms in
the development of the Afirma GEC on microarrays. We have extended this capability substantially by accessing genomic
features through deep RNA sequencing. This allows us to use a combination of expression analysis as well as mutations and
variants to build our sophisticated machine learning algorithms, all on the same platform.
Platform-Agnostic Approach - We are not reliant on any one technology platform to measure genomic signals; in fact, we may
take advantage of a multitude of genomic methodologies to develop future tests. When we developed the Afirma GEC in 2008,
microarray technologies were a cost-effective discovery technology compared to other approaches that were nascent at the
time. More recently, the rapid cost reductions achieved in next generation sequencing platforms have allowed us to pursue our
whole genome approach to biomarker discovery using a range of genomic features obtained through both DNA and RNA
sequencing. From this vast array of sequence data, our algorithms select those genomic signals that inform on the disease in
question, in the relevant biopsy sample. We continue to evaluate potential opportunities to use new genomic discoveries and
technologies to further improve patient care.
Proprietary Capabilities in Analyzing Small, Heterogeneous Cytology Samples - We have developed proprietary technology,
intellectual property and know-how for optimized methods for extraction and analysis of nanogram quantities of RNA from
small biopsy samples. Our focus is on redefining clinical truth, using patient samples obtained through less-invasive
techniques, thereby increasing access to our technology by a larger patient population. While others can extract RNA from
these small biopsies, we believe our process is optimized and scaled for high-throughput clinical testing and large-scale
clinical development studies, such as those involving high-density microarrays and next-generation sequencing.
Precision and Reproducibility - We have in place standard operating procedures governing reagents, materials, instruments and
controls and extensive experience from numerous verification studies performed for our tests. We apply the same high-quality
control methods that were developed for our reagents and processes, along with our proprietary software for automation,
sample tracking, data quality control and statistical analysis, to our development process.
Studies Validating Test Performance and Clinical Utility
In 2010, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention published the “ACCE” model as a paradigm for establishing evidence
to confirm the safety and effectiveness of molecular diagnostic tests. ACCE derives its name from the main criteria for evaluating
such tests, including analytic validity, clinical validity and clinical utility. This model has been adopted by most technology
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assessment groups, professional societies and payers. We fully embrace this paradigm of evidence development and we strive to
provide the highest level of scientific evidence to support our test claims.
We believe that developing an extensive library of rigorous clinical evidence to support our tests is critical to driving inclusion
in clinical guidelines, securing reimbursement and gaining physician adoption. We make our published research, abstracts from
medical conferences and other product information available on our website at www.veracyte.com. Our website and the information
contained therein or connected thereto are not intended to be incorporated into this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Our Afirma product is supported by more than 20 published scientific studies, including a prospective, multicenter clinical
validation study published in The New England Journal of Medicine, which suggested that the test can significantly reduce the
number of unnecessary surgeries. The Afirma product is recommended in leading practice guidelines and is covered for over 275
million lives in the United States, including through Medicare and all major commercial insurance plans in the United States.
Our Percepta test is supported by six published scientific studies, including data published in The New England Journal of
Medicine, which demonstrate the test’s accuracy in identifying patients who are at low risk of cancer following inconclusive results
from bronchoscopy. These patients may then be monitored with CT scans in lieu of undergoing surgery - a frequent next step at this
juncture of the clinical pathway. A clinical utility study published in the journal CHEST suggested that use of the test may reduce
unnecessary surgeries by 50 percent in the target patient population.
We continue to build our library of clinical evidence to support our Envisia product. Our test is supported by one clinical
validation study with a second validation (manuscript) in process, one analytical validation study, and two clinical utility studies that
demonstrate the unmet clinical need and potential utility of the test when used by subspecialty physicians.
Commercial Operations
Our commercial infrastructure, including our sales, marketing, managed care, and customer care functions, is critical to our
ongoing success. We have built a strong domestic sales, marketing and reimbursement capability that interacts directly with users of
our products, as well as payers and other stakeholders involved in the diagnostic workup of a patient.
Our sales team is structured to sell all of our products; we do not maintain a separate sales force for each product. Currently,
our sales force is comprised of our Product Specialists, who are accountable for select geographic territories; Pulmonary Product
Specialists, who maintain and grow our relationships with key regional institutions; Account Managers, who manage existing client
relationships; and Medical Science Specialists, who focus on addressing medical and clinical education in the field.
In conjunction with the termination of our U.S. co-promotion agreement with Genzyme Corporation in September 2016, we
continued to hire additional sales people in 2017 and, as of December 31, 2017, we had approximately 70 sales team members. In
2018, we expect to continue to hire sales people to support our commercial efforts.
To date, substantially all of our revenue has been derived from customers we serve in the United States. Through December
31, 2017, we derived most of our revenue from our Afirma solution, including cytopathology services and the Afirma assays.
We also offer Afirma in markets outside the United States through third-party promotion agreements and distribution
agreements. We do not expect meaningful revenue from international sales in the near future.
Our marketing team includes product managers responsible for the development and execution of strategies for each of our
products, to establish our products as standard of care and support their adoption and usage. Strategies include driving awareness for
our tests among ordering clinicians, incorporating our tests into clinical protocols, building on existing accounts to increase adoption
and providing tools and tactical support to the sales team.
Industry trade shows or events provide us with an opportunity to make important product announcements, communicate
directly with our clients and partners and to interact with key opinion leaders who impact our business. We typically attend a number
of select industry conferences, including the Annual Meeting of the American Thyroid Association, or ATA; the Annual Scientific
and Clinical Congress of the American Association of Clinical Endocrinologists, or AACE; the Endocrine Society’s Annual
Meeting, or ENDO; the American Thoracic Society’s International Conference, or ATS; the American College of Chest Physician’s
CHEST Annual Meeting and the Pulmonary Fibrosis Foundation’s bi-annual PFF Summit.
Laboratory Operations
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We perform all of our genomic testing in our CLIA-certified laboratory in South San Francisco, California. We perform slide
preparation and staining for cytopathology on fine needle aspiration, or FNA, samples in our CLIA certified laboratory in Austin,
Texas. Our South San Francisco facility is responsible for quality assurance oversight, licensing and regulatory compliance and
maintenance for both of our laboratories to ensure data integrity and consistent, validated processes.
We receive samples for testing directly from the following sources:
FNAs for Afirma Genomic Testing Only - Institutions and other clients, such as laboratories, that perform their own
cytopathology may send us FNA samples from indeterminate results to perform Afirma genomic testing. We receive over 60%
of our Afirma test volume from this source and it is the fastest-growing segment of our business.
FNAs for Cytopathology and Reflexed Afirma Genomic Testing - We receive FNA samples from ordering physicians for
cytopathology assessment and if results are indeterminate, Afirma genomic testing is to be performed. We partner with Thyroid
Cytopathology Partners, or TCP, to perform the cytopathology review.
Bronchoscopy Samples for Percepta Classifier - Institutions and laboratories that perform their own cytopathology may send
us samples collected during the bronchoscopy procedure and order genomic testing with the Percepta classifier when
bronchoscopy results are inconclusive.
In 2016, we moved into a state-of-the-art laboratory space that we built out in South San Francisco, California. We believe that
we have sufficient laboratory capacity to accommodate volume growth for our existing products and products in our pipeline.
We rely on TCP to provide professional cytopathology diagnoses on thyroid FNA samples pursuant to a pathology services
agreement. TCP has the exclusive right to provide the cytopathology diagnoses on FNA samples that are referred to us at a fixed
price per test. TCP can terminate the agreement upon our failure to pay any amounts due under the contract, and either we or TCP
can terminate the agreement upon the insolvency of the other party, breach of the agreement by the other party, termination or breach
of the service terms or the suspension or termination of the necessary regulatory licenses and approvals needed to perform the FNA
diagnoses. TCP is co-located in a portion of our facilities in Austin, Texas and reimburses us for a portion of our actual out-of-pocket
rental and related operating expense costs. We amended and restated our agreement with TCP in October 2017 and the agreement is
effective until October 31, 2022 and thereafter automatically renews every year unless either party provides notice of intent not to
renew at least twelve months prior to the end of the then-current term.
Our quality assurance function oversees the quality of our laboratories as well as the quality systems used in research and
development, client services, billing operations and sales and marketing. We have an established quality management system
compliant with federal and state regulations and standards that we believe achieves excellence in operations across the entire
business. We continuously monitor and strive to improve our quality program and believe our implementation of these processes has
supported our achievement of product performance, customer satisfaction and retention and a philosophy of continuous
improvement.
Reimbursement Strategy
We employ a multi-pronged strategy designed to achieve broad coverage and reimbursement for our tests:
•

Compile a Growing Library of Peer-reviewed Studies that Demonstrate the Test Is Effective - To date, several peerreviewed articles and review papers have been published and have helped support our efforts aimed at widespread
adoption and reimbursement of our genomic tests. In each disease area we pursue, we intend to conduct studies in order to
develop robust library of evidence.

•

Meet the Evidence Standards Necessary to Be Consistent with Leading Clinical Guidelines - We believe inclusion in
leading clinical practice guidelines plays an important role in payers' coverage decisions. For example, the data published
on Afirma to date is consistent with the recommendations of the widely-recognized American Thyroid Association and
National Comprehensive Cancer Network clinical practice guidelines.

•

Execute an Internal Managed Care and Claims Adjudication Function as Part of Our Core Business Operations - We
believe that obtaining adequate and widespread reimbursement is a critical factor in our long-term success. We employ a
team of in-house claims processing and reimbursement specialists who work with payers, physician practices and patients
to obtain maximum reimbursement.
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•

Collaborate with Network of Key Opinion Leaders - Key opinion leaders are able to impact clinical practice by publishing
research and determining whether new tests should be integrated into practice guidelines. We collaborate with key opinion
leaders early in the development process to ensure our clinical studies are designed and executed in a way that clearly
demonstrates the benefits of our tests to patients, physicians and payers. Ongoing studies to support real world experience
with our tests are also a key component of our efforts to collaborate with physician thought leaders.

•

Established Payer Relationships and In-network Contracts - We believe that positive engagement with payers leads to
coverage decisions and facilitates our efforts on coverage and contract decisions for subsequent tests.

Coverage, Coding and Reimbursement
Revenue from our Afirma tests comes from several sources, including commercial third-party payers, such as insurance
companies and health maintenance organizations, government payers, such as Medicare and Medicaid, and patients. We believe that
reimbursement for our lung products will be derived from similar sources, but with a greater proportion coming from Medicare due
to the older age of the target patient population.
We received Medicare coverage for our Afirma classifier in 2012 through the MolDX program, administered by the MAC,
Palmetto GBA. The Medicare rate for Afirma has remained approximately $3,200 through 2017. PAMA required Medicare to base
Clinical Laboratory Fee Schedule, or CLFS, payment rates on the volume-weighted median of private payer rates. In the first quarter
of 2017, we reported to the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services, or CMS, private payer rates and volumes for our tests based
on final payments from the first two quarters of 2016. In November 2017, CMS finalized CLFS payment rates based on these data,
resulting in an increase in the CLFS payment rate for Afirma from $3,220 to $3,600 effective January 1, 2018 through December 31,
2020. We submit claims to payers directly for the Afirma GEC, and its next generation Afirma GSC, using a unique American
Medical Association Current Procedural Terminology code, or CPT code 81545.
To date, a high percentage of FNA samples received are accessioned for cytopathology, for which we bill both the technical
and professional component using established CPT codes.
In May 2017, a Local Coverage Determination went into effect for our Percepta classifier through the MolDX program. A
payment rate for the test was also established through MolDX. We plan to bill payers directly for the Percepta classifier using an
“unlisted” CPT code until we obtain a specific code for the test. We have submitted the dossier of clinical evidence needed to obtain
Medicare coverage for the Envisia Genomic Classifier through the MolDX technical assessment process.
State Medicaid programs typically make their own decisions with respect to coverage for our tests, as do private payers. We
rely on a small number of third-party payers for a significant portion of our revenue, the loss of one or more of which would have a
negative effect on our business. For the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively, revenue was represented by
the indicated percent for each payer:
•
•

Medicare accounted for 26%, 27% and 26% of our revenue; and
UnitedHealthcare accounted for 14%, 12% and 14% of our revenue.

Competition
We believe the principal competitive factors in the markets we target with our tests include:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

the ability of the test to answer the appropriate clinical question at the right point in the clinical pathway;
the quality and strength of clinical validation and utility data;
confidence in diagnostic results backed by analytical verification data;
the extent of reimbursement and in-network payer contracts;
inclusion in practice guidelines;
cost-effectiveness; and
ease of use.

We believe we compete favorably on the factors described above with our Afirma solution and are positioning ourselves to
compete effectively on these factors with our Percepta and Envisia classifiers.
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Our principal competition for the Afirma solution comes from traditional methods used by physicians to diagnose thyroid
cancer. Physicians in the United States have historically recommended that patients with indeterminate diagnoses from
cytopathology results be considered for surgery to remove all or part of the thyroid to rule out cancer. This practice has been the
standard of care in the United States, as well as in many international markets, for many years, and we continue to educate
physicians about the benefits of our test in order to change clinical practice.
We also face competition from companies and academic institutions that use next generation sequencing technology or other
methods to measure mutational markers such as BRAF and KRAS, along with numerous other mutations. These organizations
include Interpace Diagnostics Group, Inc., CBLPath, Inc./University of Pittsburgh Medical Center, Rosetta Genomics Ltd., and
others who are developing new products or technologies that may compete with our tests. In the future, we may also face
competition from companies developing new products or technologies.
With the Percepta and Envisia tests, we believe our primary competition will similarly come from traditional methods used by
physicians to diagnose the related diseases. For the Percepta test, we expect competition from companies focused on lung cancer
such as Integrated Diagnostics, Inc., Oncocyte Corporation and Oncimmune Holdings PLC. We also anticipate facing potential
competition from companies offering or developing approaches for assessing malignancy risk in patients with lung nodules using
alternative samples, such as blood, urine or sputum. However, such "liquid biopsies" are often used earlier in the diagnostic
paradigm - for instance, to screen for cancer - or to gauge risk of recurrence or response to treatment.
In general, we also face competition from commercial laboratories, such as Laboratory Corporation of America Holdings,
Quest Diagnostics Incorporated and Sonic Healthcare USA with strong infrastructure to support the commercialization of diagnostic
services. We face potential competition from companies such as Illumina, Inc. and Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc., both of which have
entered the clinical diagnostics market. Other potential competitors include companies that develop diagnostic products, such as
Roche Diagnostics, a division of Roche Holding Ltd, Siemens AG and Qiagen N.V.
Competitors may develop their own versions of our solution in countries in which we do not have patents or where our
intellectual property rights are not recognized and compete with us in those countries, including encouraging the use of their solution
by physicians in other countries.
Many of our potential competitors have widespread brand recognition and substantially greater financial, technical and
research and development resources and selling and marketing capabilities than we do. Others may develop products with prices
lower than ours, which could be viewed by physicians and payers as functionally equivalent to our solution, or offer solutions at
prices designed to promote market penetration, which could force us to lower the list price of our solutions and affect our ability to
achieve profitability. If we are unable to change clinical practice in a meaningful way or compete successfully against current and
future competitors, we may be unable to increase market acceptance and sales of our products, which could prevent us from
increasing our revenue or achieving profitability and could cause the market price of our common stock to decline. As we add new
tests and services, we will face many of these same competitive risks for these new tests.
Regulation
Clinical Laboratory Improvement Amendments of 1988, or CLIA
As a clinical reference laboratory, we are required to hold certain federal, state and local licenses, certifications and permits to
conduct our business. We are subject to CLIA, a federal law that regulates clinical laboratories that test specimens derived from
humans for the purpose of providing information for the diagnosis, prevention or treatment of disease. Under CLIA, which is
administered by CMS, we are required to hold a certificate applicable to the type of laboratory examinations we perform and to
comply with standards covering personnel qualifications, facilities administration, quality systems, inspections, and proficiency
testing.
We have current certificates under CLIA to perform testing at each of our locations. To renew our CLIA certificates, we are
subject to survey and inspection every two years to assess compliance with program standards. The regulatory and compliance
standards applicable to the testing we perform may change over time, and any such changes could have a material effect on our
business.
If one of our clinical reference laboratories is out of compliance with CLIA requirements, we may be subject to sanctions such
as suspension, limitation or revocation of our CLIA certificate, as well as directed plan of correction, state on-site monitoring, civil
money penalties, civil injunctive suit or criminal penalties. We must maintain CLIA compliance and certification to sell our tests and
be eligible to bill for diagnostic services provided to Medicare beneficiaries. If we were to be found out of compliance with CLIA
requirements and subjected to sanctions, our business could be harmed.
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State Laboratory Licensing
California Laboratory Licensing
In addition to federal certification requirements of laboratories under CLIA, licensure is required and maintained for our South
San Francisco clinical reference laboratory under California law. Such laws establish standards for the day-to-day operation of a
clinical reference laboratory, including the training and skills required of personnel and quality control. In addition, California laws
mandate proficiency testing, which involves testing of specimens that have been specifically prepared for the laboratory.
If our clinical reference laboratory is out of compliance with California standards, the California Department of Public Health,
or CDPH, may suspend, restrict or revoke our license to operate our clinical reference laboratory, assess substantial civil money
penalties, or impose specific corrective action plans. Any such actions could materially affect our business. We maintain a current
license in good standing with CDPH. However, we cannot provide assurance that CDPH will at all times in the future find us to be
in compliance with all such laws.
New York Laboratory Licensing
Our clinical reference laboratories are required to be licensed by New York, under New York laws and regulations before we
receive specimens from New York State. The license establishes standards for:
quality management systems;
qualifications, responsibilities, and training;
facility design and resource management;
pre-analytic, analytic (including validation and quality control), and post-analytic systems; and
quality assessments and improvements.
New York law also mandates proficiency testing for laboratories licensed under New York state law, regardless of whether such
laboratories are located in New York. If a laboratory is out of compliance with New York statutory or regulatory standards, the New
York State Department of Health, or NYSDOH, may suspend, limit, revoke or annul the laboratory's New York license, censure the
holder of the license or assess civil money penalties. Statutory or regulatory noncompliance may result in a laboratory's operator
being found guilty of a misdemeanor under New York law. NYSDOH also must approve the laboratory developed tests, or LDT,
before the test is offered in New York; approval has been received for the Afirma GEC and the Percepta classifier. Should we be
found out of compliance with New York laboratory standards of practice, we could be subject to such sanctions, which could harm
our business. We maintain a current license in good standing with NYSDOH for our South San Francisco and Austin laboratories.
We cannot provide assurance that the NYSDOH will at all times find us to be in compliance with applicable laws.
Other States' Laboratory Licensing
In addition to New York and California, other states require licensing of out-of-state laboratories under certain circumstances.
Pennsylvania, Maryland and Rhode Island require licenses to test specimens from patients in those states and Florida requires a
license to receive specimens from a clinical laboratory in that state. We have obtained licenses from states where we believe we are
required to be licensed, and believe we are in compliance with applicable licensing laws.
From time to time, we may become aware of other states that require out-of-state laboratories to obtain licensure in order to
accept specimens from the state, and it is possible that other states do have such requirements or will have such requirements in the
future. If we identify any other state with such requirements or if we are contacted by any other state advising us of such
requirements, we intend to comply with such requirements.
United States Regulation of Laboratory Testing
Food and Drug Administration: Diagnostic Kits
Diagnostic kits, including collection systems, that are sold and distributed through interstate commerce are regulated as
medical devices by the FDA. Devices subject to FDA regulation must undergo premarket review prior to commercialization unless
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the device is of a type exempted from such review. In addition, manufacturers of medical devices must comply with various
regulatory requirements under the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, or FDC Act, and implementing regulations promulgated
under that Act. Entities that fail to comply with FDA requirements may be subject to issuance of notice of observations, untitled or
warning letters, and can be liable for criminal or civil penalties, such as recalls, import detentions, seizures, or injunctions, including
orders to cease manufacturing.
The FDC Act classifies medical devices into one of three categories based on the risks associated with the device and the level
of control necessary to provide reasonable assurance of safety and effectiveness. Class I devices are deemed to be low risk and are
subject to the fewest regulatory controls. Most Class I devices are exempt from FDA premarket notification requirements. For
Class II devices, the FDA generally requires the submission of a premarket notification, or 510(k) showing that the device is
substantially equivalent to a legally marketed device, before FDA will clear the device for marketing. Class III devices are
considered high risk devices and are subject to the highest level of regulatory control to provide reasonable assurance of the device's
safety and effectiveness. Class III devices require the submission and FDA approval of a premarket application, or PMA, before they
can be marketed.
Generally, establishments that manufacture or distribute devices, including manufacturers, repackagers and relabelers,
specification developers, and initial importers, are required to register and list their device products with the FDA.
After a device is cleared or approved for marketing, numerous regulatory requirements apply. These include: good
manufacturing practice for medical devices as set out in the Quality System Regulation, or QSR, labeling regulations, restrictions on
promotion and advertising, the Medical Device Reporting, or MDR, regulation (which requires that manufacturers report to the
FDA), and the Reports of Corrections and Removals regulation (which requires manufacturers to report certain recalls and field
actions to the FDA).
The FDA has issued a regulation outlining specific requirements for "specimen transport and storage containers." "Specimen
transport and storage containers" are medical devices "intended to contain biological specimens, body waste, or body exudate during
storage and transport" so that the specimen can be destroyed or used effectively for diagnostic examination. A specimen transport
and storage container that is not labeled or otherwise represented as sterile, is classified as a Class I exempt device, which means
that the device is exempt from premarket notification and the QSR, except for recordkeeping and complaint handling requirements.
These 510(k) exempt devices are also subject to MDR requirements, the reporting of corrections and removals, and establishment
registration and product listing. Our facility is registered with the FDA as a specification developer, which means that we can sell the
collection system under our own name and outline the specifications used to make the collection system, but a third party assembles
the collection system for us. The containers we provide for collection and transport of Afirma GEC or GSC and Percepta samples
from a physician to our clinical reference laboratory are listed as Class I devices with the FDA under the specimen transport and
storage container regulatory product classification. We also plan to list our sample collection containers for Envisia samples with the
FDA as Class I devices. If the FDA were to determine that our sample collection containers are not Class I devices, we would be
required to file 510(k) applications and obtain FDA clearance to manufacture and market the containers, which could be time
consuming and expensive.
The FDA enforces the requirements described above by various means, including inspection and market surveillance. If the
FDA finds a violation, it can institute a wide variety of enforcement actions, ranging from an Untitled Letter or Warning Letter to
more severe sanctions such as:
fines, injunctions, and civil penalties;
recall or seizure of products;
operating restrictions, partial suspension or total shutdown of production; and
criminal prosecution.
Federal Oversight of Laboratory Developed Tests and Research Use Only Products
Clinical laboratory tests like our proprietary genomic tests are regulated under CLIA, as administered by CMS, as well as by
applicable state laws. Clinical laboratory tests that are developed and validated by a laboratory are referred to as laboratory
developed tests, or LDTs, by the FDA. Currently, FDA believes these tests meet the definition of a device under the FDA Act;
however, the FDA is currently exercising enforcement discretion for LDTs, meaning that FDA is generally not requiring clinical
laboratories performing a LDT to comply with FDA regulations, although reagents, instruments, software or components provided
by third parties and used to perform LDTs may be subject to FDA regulation. We believe that the Afirma, Percepta and Envisia
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classifiers are LDTs for which FDA is currently exercising its enforcement discretion. In October 2014, the FDA published a draft
guidance document proposing a framework for the regulation of LDTs. In November 2016, the FDA announced that it would not
finalize guidance and would instead work with the new Administration, Congress and stakeholders on an updated framework. In
January 2017, the FDA issued a discussion paper on LDTs in which it synthesized stakeholder feedback and outlined a substantially
revised "possible approach" to the oversight of LDTs, which did not represent a formal position of the FDA, and is not enforceable.
FDA’s enforcement discretion policy is expected to remain in place unless and until FDA announces and implements a different
approach to the regulation of LDTs.
Some of the materials we use for our tests and that we may use for future tests are intended and labeled for research use only,
or RUO, or investigational use only, or IUO. An RUO product cannot be used for any human clinical purpose and must be labeled
"For Research Use Only. Not for use in diagnostic procedures." RUOs are a separate regulatory category and include in vitro
diagnostic devices that are in the laboratory research phase of development. They are therefore not subject to most FDA regulatory
requirements so long as they are properly labeled and used in accordance with such labeling. RUOs cannot be marketed with any
claims that the device is safe, effective, or has diagnostic utility, or is intended for human clinical diagnostic or prognostic use. In
November 2013, the FDA issued final guidance titled “Distribution of In-Vitro Diagnostic Products Labeled for Research Use Only
or Investigational Use Only” in which FDA stated that the manufacturer’s objective intent for an RUO or IUO product’s intended
use will be determined by examining the totality of circumstances, including advertising, instructions for clinical interpretation,
presentations that describe clinical use, and specialized technical support, surrounding the distribution of the product in question.
We cannot predict the ultimate form or impact of any such RUO/IUO, LDT or other guidance and the potential effect on our
solutions or materials used to perform our diagnostic services. While we qualify all materials used in our diagnostic services
according to CLIA regulations, we cannot be certain that the FDA might not promulgate rules or issue guidance documents that
could affect our ability to purchase materials necessary for the performance of our diagnostic services. Should any of the reagents
obtained by us from vendors and used in conducting our diagnostic services be affected by future regulatory actions, our business
could be adversely affected by those actions, including increasing the cost of service or delaying, limiting or prohibiting the
purchase of reagents necessary to perform the service.
We cannot provide any assurance that FDA regulation, including premarket review, will not be required in the future for our
diagnostic services, whether through additional guidance or regulations issued by the FDA, new enforcement policies adopted by the
FDA or new legislation enacted by Congress. Legislative proposals addressing oversight of LDTs were introduced in recent years,
and we expect that new legislative proposals will be introduced from time to time. It is possible that legislation could be enacted into
law or regulations or guidance could be issued by the FDA which may result in new or increased regulatory requirements for us to
continue to offer our tests or to develop and introduce new tests.
If premarket review, including approval, is required, our business could be negatively affected until such review is completed
and clearance to market or approval is obtained, and the FDA could require that we stop selling our tests pending premarket
clearance or approval. If our tests are allowed to remain on the market but there is uncertainty about the legal status of our services,
if we are required by the FDA to label them investigational, or if labeling claims the FDA allows us to make are limited, order levels
may decline and reimbursement may be adversely affected. The regulatory process may involve, among other things, successfully
completing additional clinical studies and submitting a premarket notification or filing a PMA with the FDA. If premarket
notification or approval is required by the FDA, there can be no assurance that our tests will be cleared or approved on a timely
basis, if at all, nor can there be any assurance that approved labeling claims or labeling claims subject to cleared indications for use
will be consistent with our current claims or adequate to support continued adoption of and reimbursement for our solutions.
Ongoing compliance with FDA regulations would increase the cost of conducting our business, and subject us to heightened
requirements of the FDA and penalties for failure to comply with these requirements. We may also decide voluntarily to pursue FDA
premarket review of our tests to obtain marketing clearance or approval if we determine that doing so would be appropriate.
Privacy and Fraud and Abuse Compliance
Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act
Under the federal Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, or HIPAA, the Department of Health and
Human Services, or HHS, has issued regulations to protect the privacy and security of protected health information used or disclosed
by health care providers, such as us. HIPAA also regulates standardization of data content, codes and formats used in health care
transactions and standardization of identifiers for health plans and providers. In 2009, Congress amended HIPAA through the Health
Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act, or HITECH. The implementing regulations of HIPAA, as amended
by HITECH, were last modified in 2013 and resulted in significant changes to the privacy, security, breach notification, and
enforcement requirements with which we must comply. Among these changes, covered entities are now vicariously liable for
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violations of HIPAA resulting from acts or omissions of their business associates where the business associate is an agent of the
covered entity and was acting within the scope of its agency, regardless of whether the covered entity and business associate entered
into a business associate agreement in compliance with HIPAA. Penalties for violations of HIPAA regulations include civil and
criminal penalties.
We have developed and implemented policies and procedures designed to comply with HIPAA’s privacy, security, and breach
notification requirements. We may not use or disclose protected health information in any form, including electronic, written, or oral,
in a manner that is not permitted under HIPAA, and we are required to implement security measures to ensure the confidentiality,
integrity, and availability of the electronic protected health information that we create, receive, maintain, or transmit. While we have
some flexibility in determining which security safeguards are reasonable and appropriate to implement for our operations, it
nonetheless requires significant effort and expense to ensure continuing compliance with the HIPAA security rule. We are also
required to comply with the administrative simplification standards under HIPAA when we conduct the electronic transactions
regulated by HIPAA, including by using standard code sets and formats and standardized identifiers for health plans and providers.
The requirements under HIPAA and its implementing regulations may change periodically and could have an effect on our business
operations if compliance becomes substantially costlier than under current requirements.
In addition to federal privacy regulations, there are a number of state laws governing confidentiality of health information that
are applicable to our business. New laws governing privacy may be adopted in the future from time to time. We have taken steps to
comply with health information privacy requirements to which we are aware that we are subject. However, we can provide no
assurance that we are or will remain in compliance with diverse privacy requirements in all of the jurisdictions in which we do
business. Failure to comply with privacy requirements could result in civil or criminal penalties, which could have a materially
adverse effect on our business.
Corporate Practice of Medicine
Numerous states, including California and Texas, have enacted laws prohibiting corporations such as us from practicing
medicine and employing or engaging physicians to practice medicine. These laws are designed to prevent interference in the medical
decision-making process by anyone who is not a licensed physician. This prohibition is generally referred to as the prohibition
against the corporate practice of medicine. Violation of this prohibition may result in civil or criminal fines, as well as sanctions
imposed against us or the professional through licensing proceedings. The pathologists who review and classify thyroid FNA
cytopathology results for Afirma are employed by Thyroid Cytopathology Partners, a Texas professional association, pursuant to
services agreement between us and TCP. Pursuant to the agreement, we pay TCP a monthly fee on a per FNA basis, and TCP
manages and supervises the pathologists who perform the cytopathology services as a component of the Afirma solution.
Federal and State Physician Self-Referral Prohibitions
We are subject to the federal physician self-referral prohibitions, commonly known as the Stark Law, and to similar restrictions
under the self-referral prohibitions of certain states in which we operate, including California's Physician Ownership and Referral
Act, or PORA. Together these restrictions generally prohibit us from billing a patient or any governmental or private payer for any
diagnostic services when the physician ordering the service, or any member of such physician's immediate family, has an investment
interest in or compensation arrangement with us, unless the arrangement meets an exception to the prohibition.
Both the Stark Law and PORA contain an exception for compensation paid to a physician for personal services rendered by the
physician meeting certain contractual requirements. We have compensation arrangements with a number of physicians for personal
services, such as speaking engagements and consulting activities. We have structured these arrangements with terms intended to
comply with the requirements of the personal services exception to Stark and PORA.
However, we cannot be certain that regulators would find these arrangements to be in compliance with Stark, PORA or similar
state laws. We would be required to refund any payments we receive pursuant to a referral prohibited by these laws to the patient, the
payer or the Medicare program, as applicable.
Sanctions for a violation of the Stark Law include the following:
•
•
•
•
•

denial of payment for the services provided in violation of the prohibition;
refunds of amounts collected by an entity in violation of the Stark Law;
a civil penalty of up to $15,000 for each service arising out of the prohibited referral;
possible exclusion from federal healthcare programs, including Medicare and Medicaid; and
a civil penalty of up to $100,000 against parties that enter into a scheme to circumvent the Stark Law's prohibition.
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These prohibitions apply regardless of the reasons for the financial relationship and the referral. No finding of intent to violate
the Stark Law is required for a violation. In addition, knowing violations of the Stark Law may also serve as the basis for liability
under the Federal False Claims Act which prohibits knowingly presenting, or causing to be presented, a false, fictitious, or
fraudulent claim for payment to the U.S. Government.
Further, a violation of PORA is a misdemeanor and could result in civil penalties and criminal fines. Finally, other states have
self-referral restrictions with which we have to comply that differ from those imposed by federal and California law. While we have
attempted to comply with the Stark Law, PORA and similar laws of other states, it is possible that some of our financial
arrangements with physicians could be subject to regulatory scrutiny at some point in the future, and we cannot provide assurance
that we will be found to be in compliance with these laws following any such regulatory review.
Federal and State Anti-Kickback Laws
The federal Anti-kickback Law makes it a felony for a person or entity, including a laboratory, to knowingly and willfully offer,
pay, solicit or receive remuneration, directly or indirectly, in order to induce business that is reimbursable under any federal health
care program. A violation of the Anti-kickback Law may result in imprisonment for up to five years and fines of up to $250,000 in
the case of individuals and $500,000 in the case of organizations. Convictions under the Anti-kickback Law result in mandatory
exclusion from federal health care programs for a minimum of five years. In addition, HHS has the authority to impose civil
assessments and fines and to exclude health care providers and others engaged in prohibited activities from Medicare, Medicaid and
other federal health care programs. Actions which violate the Anti-kickback Law also incur liability under the Federal False Claims
Act, which prohibits knowingly presenting, or causing to be presented, a false, fictitious, or fraudulent claim for payment to the U.S.
Government.
Although the Anti-kickback Law applies only to federal health care programs, a number of states, including California, have
passed statutes substantially similar to the Anti-kickback Law pursuant to which similar types of prohibitions are made applicable to
all other health plans and third- party payers. California's fee-splitting and Anti-kickback statute, Business and Professions Code
Section 650, and its Medi-Cal Anti-kickback statute, Welfare and Institutions Code Section 14107.2, have been interpreted by the
California Attorney General and California courts in substantially the same way as HHS and the courts have interpreted the Antikickback Law. A violation of Section 650 is punishable by imprisonment and fines of up to $50,000. A violation of Section 14107.2
is punishable by imprisonment and fines of up to $10,000.
Federal and state law enforcement authorities scrutinize arrangements between health care providers and potential referral
sources to ensure that the arrangements are not designed as a mechanism to induce patient care referrals or induce the purchase or
prescribing of particular products or services. The law enforcement authorities, the courts and Congress have also demonstrated a
willingness to look behind the formalities of a transaction to determine the underlying purpose of payments between health care
providers and actual or potential referral sources. Generally, courts have taken a broad interpretation of the scope of the Antikickback Law, holding that the statute may be violated if merely one purpose of a payment arrangement is to induce referrals or
purchases.
The federal Anti-kickback Law includes statutory exceptions, and provides for a number of safe harbors. If an arrangement
meets the provisions of a safe harbor, it is deemed not to violate the Anti-kickback Law. An arrangement must fully comply with
each element of an applicable safe harbor in order to qualify for protection. Many state anti-kickback statutes have analogous
exceptions or safe harbors to those of the federal Anti-kickback Law. These state anti-kickback statutes have generally been
interpreted consistently with the Anti-kickback Law.
Among the safe harbors that may be relevant to us is the discount safe harbor. The discount safe harbor potentially applies to
discounts provided by providers and suppliers, including laboratories, to physicians or institutions. If the terms of the discount safe
harbor are met, the discounts will not be considered prohibited remuneration under the Anti-kickback Law. California does not have
a discount safe harbor. However, as noted above, Section 650 has generally been interpreted consistent with the Anti-kickback Law.
The personal services safe harbor to the Anti-kickback Law provides that remuneration paid to a referral source for personal
services will not violate the Anti-kickback Law provided all of the elements of that safe harbor are met. One element is that if the
agreement is intended to provide for the services of the physician on a periodic, sporadic or part-time basis, rather than on a full-time
basis for the term of the agreement, the agreement specifies exactly the schedule of such intervals, their precise length, and the exact
charge for such intervals. Our personal services arrangements with some physicians may not meet the specific requirement of this
safe harbor that the agreement specify exactly the schedule of the intervals of time to be spent on the services because the nature of
the services, such as speaking engagements, does not lend itself to exact scheduling and therefore meeting this element of the
personal services safe harbor is impractical. Failure to meet the terms of the safe harbor does not render an arrangement illegal.
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Rather, the government may evaluate such arrangements on a case-by-case basis under the language of the statute, taking into
account all facts and circumstances.
While we believe that we are in compliance with the Anti-kickback Law, Section 650, and Section 14107.2, there can be no
assurance that our relationships with physicians, academic institutions and other customers will not be subject to investigation or
challenge under such laws. If imposed for any reason, sanctions under the Anti-kickback Law, Section 650, or Section 14107.2 could
have a negative effect on our business.
Other Federal and State Fraud and Abuse Laws
In addition to the requirements discussed above, several other health care fraud and abuse laws could have an effect on our
business. For example, provisions of the Social Security Act permit Medicare and Medicaid to exclude an entity that charges the
federal health care programs substantially in excess of its usual charges for its services. The terms "usual charge" and "substantially
in excess" are ambiguous and subject to varying interpretations, though the Department of Health and Human Services’ Office of the
Inspector General has provided some guidance on the topic.
Further, the federal False Claims Act prohibits a person from knowingly submitting a claim, making a false record or statement
in order to secure payment or retaining an overpayment by the federal government. In addition to actions initiated by the government
itself, the statute authorizes actions to be brought on behalf of the federal government by a private party having knowledge of the
alleged fraud. Because the complaint is initially filed under seal, the action may be pending for some time before the defendant is
even aware of the action. If the government is ultimately successful in obtaining redress in the matter or if the plaintiff succeeds in
obtaining redress without the government's involvement, then the plaintiff will receive a percentage of the recovery. Finally, the
Social Security Act includes its own provisions that prohibit the filing of false claims or submitting false statements in order to
obtain payment. Violation of these provisions may result in up to treble damages, substantial civil penalties, fines, imprisonment or
combination of the above, and possible exclusion from Medicare or Medicaid programs. California has an analogous state false
claims act applicable to all payers, as do many other states; however, we may not be aware of all such rules and statutes and cannot
provide assurance that we will be in compliance with all such laws and regulations.
In general, in recent years U.S. Attorneys’ Offices have increased scrutiny of the healthcare industry, as have Congress, the
Department of Justice, the Department of Health and Human Services’ Office of the Inspector General and the Department of
Defense. These bodies have all issued subpoenas and other requests for information to conduct investigations of, and commenced
civil and criminal litigation against, healthcare companies based on financial arrangements with health care providers, regulatory
compliance, product promotional practices and documentation, and coding and billing practices. Whistleblowers have filed
numerous qui tam lawsuits against healthcare companies under the federal and state False Claims Acts in recent years, in part
because the whistleblower can receive a portion of the government’s recovery under such suits.
In addition, under PAMA, laboratories are required to report to CMS the private payer payment rates and test volumes paid by
private payers based on final payments made during a specific “data collection period.” This data reporting requirement is triennial
for most clinical diagnostic laboratory tests (annual for advanced diagnostic laboratory tests, or ADLTs), with the first data reporting
period occurring in 2017 for final payments made in January through June 2016. When reporting data under PAMA, the President,
CEO, or CFO of a reporting entity, or an individual who has been delegated authority to sign for, and who reports directly to, such
an officer, must sign the certification statement and be responsible for assuring that the data provided are accurate, complete, and
truthful, and meets all the required reporting parameters. Failure to report or misrepresentation or omission in reporting can result in
civil penalties of up to $10,000 per day for each violation and other penalties. We believe we are in compliance with the PAMA
reporting requirements, but there can be no assurance that our reporting practices will not be scrutinized under the PAMA
regulations.
International
Many countries in which we may offer any of our tests in the future have anti-kickback regulations prohibiting providers from
offering, paying, soliciting or receiving remuneration, directly or indirectly, in order to induce business that is reimbursable under
any national health care program. In situations involving physicians employed by state-funded institutions or national health care
agencies, violation of the local anti-kickback law may also constitute a violation of the United States Foreign Corrupt Practices Act,
or FCPA.
The FCPA prohibits any U.S. individual, business entity or employee of a U.S. business entity to offer or provide, directly or
through a third party, including any potential distributors we may rely on in certain markets, anything of value to a foreign
government official with corrupt intent to influence an award or continuation of business or to gain an unfair advantage, whether or
not such conduct violates local laws. In addition, it is illegal for a company that reports to the SEC to have false or inaccurate books
16

or records or to fail to maintain a system of internal accounting controls. We will also be required to maintain accurate information
and control over sales and distributors' activities that may fall within the purview of the FCPA, its books and records provisions and
its anti-bribery provisions.
The standard of intent and knowledge in the Anti-Bribery cases is minimal-intent and knowledge are usually inferred from that
fact that bribery took place. The accounting provisions do not require intent. Violations of the FCPA's anti-bribery provisions for
corporations and other business entities are subject to a fine of up to $2 million and officers, directors, stockholders, employees, and
agents are subject to a fine of up to $100,000 and imprisonment for up to five years. Other countries, including the United Kingdom
and other OECD Anti-Bribery Convention members, have similar anti-corruption regulations, such as the United Kingdom Antibribery Act.
When marketing our tests outside of the United States, we may be subject to foreign regulatory requirements governing human
clinical testing, prohibitions on the import of tissue necessary for us to perform our tests or restrictions on the export of tissue
imposed by countries outside of the United States or the import of tissue into the United States, and marketing approval. These
requirements vary by jurisdiction, differ from those in the United States and may in some cases require us to perform additional preclinical or clinical testing. In many countries outside of the United States, coverage, pricing and reimbursement approvals are also
required.
Patents and Proprietary Technology
In order to remain competitive, we must develop and maintain protection of the proprietary aspects of our technologies. To that
end, we rely on a combination of patents, copyrights and trademarks, as well as contracts, such as confidentiality, invention
assignment and licensing agreements. We also rely upon trade secret laws to protect unpatented know-how and continuing
technological innovation. In addition, we have what we consider to be reasonable security measures in place to maintain
confidentiality. Our intellectual property strategy is intended to develop and maintain our competitive position.
We have fifteen issued patents that expire between 2029 and 2032 related to methods used in the Afirma diagnostic platform, in
addition to fourteen pending U.S. utility patent applications, one pending Patent Cooperation Treaty, or PCT, patent application, and
two U.S. provisional patent applications. Some of these U.S. utility patent applications have pending foreign counterparts. We also
exclusively licensed intellectual property, including rights to two issued patents that will expire between 2030 and 2032, and three
pending U.S. utility patent applications in the thyroid space that would expire between 2030 and 2033 once issued, related to
methods that are used in the Afirma diagnostic test, some of which have foreign counterparts.
In the lung diagnostic space, we have exclusively licensed intellectual property rights to thirteen pending patent applications
and eight issued patents. Patents issuing from the licensed portfolio will expire between 2024 and 2028. In addition, we own two
pending U.S. provisional applications, a pending U.S. utility patent application and pending foreign counterpart patent applications
in Australia, Canada, China, Europe, Japan, and South Korea related to our Percepta test. We also own one U.S. patent application
and one counterpart European patent application related to another lung disease, and two pending U.S. patent applications, five
patent applications abroad, and one Patent Cooperation Treaty patent application related to Envisia. Any patents granted from our
current lung cancer patent applications will expire no earlier than 2035 and those from the interstitial lung disease patent
applications will expire no earlier than 2034.
We intend to file additional patent applications in the United States and abroad to strengthen our intellectual property rights;
however, our patent applications (including the patent applications listed above) may not result in issued patents in a timely fashion
or at all, and we cannot assure investors that any patents that have issued or might issue will protect our technology. We may receive
notices of claims of potential infringement from third parties in the future.
We hold registered trademarks in the United States for "Veracyte," "Afirma," "Percepta," "Know By Design," the Afirma logo,
and the current and former Veracyte logos, and we have a pending federal trademark application for "Envisia". We also hold
registered trademarks in various jurisdictions outside of the United States.
We require all employees and technical consultants working for us to execute confidentiality agreements, which provide that
all confidential information received by them during the course of the employment, consulting or business relationship be kept
confidential, except in specified circumstances. Our agreements with our research employees provide that all inventions, discoveries
and other types of intellectual property, whether or not patentable or copyrightable, conceived by the individual while he or she is
employed by us are assigned to us. We cannot provide any assurance, however, that employees and consultants will abide by the
confidentiality or assignment terms of these agreements. Despite measures taken to protect our intellectual property, unauthorized
parties might copy aspects of our technology or obtain and use information that we regard as proprietary.
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Research and Development Expenses
Research and development expenses were $13.9 million, $15.3 million and $12.8 million for the years ended December 31,
2017, 2016, and 2015, respectively.
Employees
At December 31, 2017, we had 246 employees, of which 47 work in laboratory operations, 33 in research and development
and clinical development, 79 in selling and marketing, and 87 in general and administrative, including 57 in billing and client
services, 11 in information technology and 12 in finance. None of our employees are the subject of collective bargaining
arrangements, and our management considers its relationships with employees to be good.
Environmental Matters
Our operations require the use of hazardous materials (including biological materials) which subject us to a variety of federal,
state and local environmental and safety laws and regulations. Some of these regulations provide for strict liability, holding a party
potentially liable without regard to fault or negligence. We could be held liable for damages and fines as a result of our, or others’,
business operations should contamination of the environment or individual exposure to hazardous substances occur. We cannot
predict how changes in laws or new regulations will affect our business, operations or the cost of compliance.
Raw Materials and Suppliers
We procure reagents, equipment, chips and other materials that we use to perform our tests from sole suppliers. We also
purchase components used in our collection kits from sole-source suppliers. Some of these items are unique to these suppliers and
vendors. In addition, we utilize a sole source to assemble and distribute our sample collection kits. While we have developed
alternate sourcing strategies for these materials and vendors, we cannot be certain whether these strategies will be effective or the
alternative sources will be available when we need them. If these suppliers can no longer provide us with the materials we need to
perform the tests and for our collection kits, if the materials do not meet our quality specifications or are otherwise unusable, if we
cannot obtain acceptable substitute materials, or if we elect to change suppliers, an interruption in test processing could occur, we
may not be able to deliver patient reports and we may incur higher one-time switching costs. Any such interruption may
significantly affect our future revenue, cause us to incur higher costs, and harm our customer relationships and reputation. In
addition, in order to mitigate these risks, we maintain inventories of these supplies at higher levels than would be the case if multiple
sources of supply were available. If our test volume decreases or we switch suppliers, we may hold excess inventory with expiration
dates that occur before use which would adversely affect our losses and cash flow position. As we introduce any new test, we may
experience supply issues as we ramp test volume.
Legal Proceedings
From time to time, we may be party to lawsuits in the ordinary course of business. We are currently not a party to any material
legal proceedings.
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ITEM 1A.

RISK FACTORS

Risks Related to Our Business
We are an emerging growth company with a history of losses, and we expect to incur net losses for the foreseeable
future and may never achieve or sustain profitability.
We have incurred net losses since our inception. For the year ended December 31, 2017, we had a net loss of $31.0 million
and as of December 31, 2017, we had an accumulated deficit of $211.1 million. We expect to incur additional losses in the future,
and we may never achieve revenue sufficient to offset our expenses. Over the next couple of years, we expect to continue to devote
substantially all of our resources to increase adoption of, and reimbursement for our Afirma tests, Percepta, our lung cancer test
which we launched in April 2015, Envisia, our test for idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis, or IPF, which we launched in October 2016,
and the development of additional tests. We may never achieve or sustain profitability, and our failure to achieve and sustain
profitability in the future could cause the market price of our common stock to decline.
Our financial results currently depend mainly on sales of our Afirma tests, and we will need to generate sufficient
revenue from this and other diagnostic solutions to grow our business.
Most of our revenue to date has been derived from the sale of our Afirma tests, which are used in the diagnosis of thyroid
cancer. Over the next few years, we expect to continue to derive a substantial portion of our revenue from sales of our Afirma tests.
In the third quarter of 2017, we began recognizing revenue from the sale of our Percepta test, used in the diagnosis of lung cancer.
However, revenue from Percepta has not been significant to date. We also launched our Envisia test to help improve the diagnosis of
interstitial lung disease, specifically IPF, in October 2016, but have not recognized revenue from Envisia to-date. Once genomic tests
are clinically validated and commercially available for patient testing, we must continue to develop and publish evidence that our
tests are informing clinical decisions in order for them to receive positive coverage decisions by payers. Without coverage policies,
our tests may not be reimbursed and we will not be able to recognize revenue. We cannot guarantee that tests we commercialize will
gain and maintain positive coverage decisions and therefore, we may never realize revenue from tests we commercialize. In
addition, we are in various stages of research and development for other diagnostic solutions that we may offer, but there can be no
assurance that we will be able to identify other diseases that can be effectively addressed or, if we are able to identify such diseases,
whether or when we will be able to successfully commercialize solutions for these diseases and obtain the evidence and coverage
decisions from payers. If we are unable to increase sales and expand reimbursement for our Afirma and Percepta tests, or
successfully obtain coverage and reimbursement for our Envisia test or develop and commercialize other solutions, our revenue and
our ability to achieve and sustain profitability would be impaired, and the market price of our common stock could decline.
If we are not able to successfully transition to our next-generation Afirma GSC, our business, operating results and
competitive position could be harmed.
We are in the process of transitioning our customers to our next-generation Afirma Genomic Sequencing Classifier, or GSC,
that uses a new technology platform for the Afirma genomic classifier testing. There are risks associated with this transition that
include, but are not limited to, operational implementation, reimbursement, and customer adoption risks. If we are unable to
effectively transition to the new platform, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely effected and
our reputation and competitive position could be harmed.
We depend on a few payers for a significant portion of our revenue and if one or more significant payers stops
providing reimbursement or decreases the amount of reimbursement for our tests, our revenue could decline.
Revenue for tests performed on patients covered by Medicare and UnitedHealthcare was 26% and 14%, respectively, of our
revenue for the year ended December 31, 2017, compared with 27% and 12%, respectively, for the year ended December 31, 2016.
The percentage of our revenue derived from significant payers is expected to fluctuate from period to period as our revenue
fluctuates, as additional payers provide reimbursement for our tests or if one or more payers were to stop reimbursing for our tests or
change their reimbursed amounts. Effective January 2012, Palmetto GBA, the regional Medicare Administrative Contractor, or
MAC, that handled claims processing for Medicare services over our jurisdiction at that time, issued coverage and payment
determinations for the Afirma Gene Expression Classifier, or GEC. Afirma GSC is now covered by Noridian Healthcare Solutions,
the current MAC for our jurisdiction, through the Molecular Diagnostics Services Program, or MolDX program, administered by
Palmetto GBA, under a Local Coverage Determination, or LCD.
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Noridian Healthcare Solutions issued an LCD for Percepta effective as of May 2017. This coverage policy requires us to
maintain a Certification and Training Registry program and make Percepta available only to patients through physicians who
participate in this program. Failure by Veracyte or physicians to comply with the requirements of the Certification and Training
Registry program could lead to loss of Medicare coverage for Percepta, which could have an adverse effect on our revenue.
We have submitted the dossier of clinical evidence needed to obtain Medicare coverage for the Envisia Genomic Classifier
through the MolDX technical assessment process, but there can be no assurances that Envisia will obtain Medicare coverage in 2018
or in subsequent years.
On a five-year rotational basis, Medicare requests bids for its regional MAC services. Any future changes in the MAC
processing or coding for Medicare claims for the Afirma classifier or Percepta could result in a change in the coverage or
reimbursement rates for such products, or the loss of coverage, and could also result in increased difficulties in obtaining and
maintaining coverage for the Envisia classifier.
On March 1, 2015, an American Medical Association Current Procedural Terminology code, or CPT code, 81545 for the
Afirma GEC was issued. On January 1, 2018, the Medicare Clinical Laboratory Fee Schedule payment rate for the Afirma classifier
increased from $3,220 to $3,600. This rate is based on the volume-weighted median of private payer rates based on final payments
made between January 1 and June 30, 2016, which we reported to CMS in 2017 as required under the Protecting Access to Medicare
Act of 2014, or PAMA. This payment rate will be effective through December 31, 2020. There can be no assurance that the rate
will not decrease in the future following the next reporting period under PAMA.
We submit claims to Medicare for Percepta using an unlisted code and were paid at the rate of $3,220 in 2017 under the
MolDX program. A specific CPT code assigned to Percepta may be required to go through the national payment determination
process, and there can be no assurance that the Medicare payment rate the test receives through this process will not be lower than
the current payment rate for Percepta. There can also be no assurance that the Medicare payment rate for Percepta will not be
reduced when it is set based on volume-weighted median of private payer rates after the next reporting period under PAMA.
If there is a decrease in the Medicare payment rate for our tests, our revenue from Medicare will decrease and the payment
rates for some of our commercial payers may also decrease if they tie their allowable rates to the Medicare rate. These changes
could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
Although we have entered into contracts with certain third-party payers that establish in-network allowable rates of
reimbursement for our Afirma tests, payers may suspend or discontinue reimbursement at any time, may require or increase copayments from patients, or may reduce the reimbursement rates paid to us. Reductions in private payer amounts could decrease the
Medicare payment rates for our tests under PAMA. Any such actions could have a negative effect on our revenue.
If payers do not provide reimbursement, rescind or modify their reimbursement policies, delay payments for our tests,
recoup past payments, or if we are unable to successfully negotiate additional reimbursement contracts, our commercial success
could be compromised.
Physicians might not order our tests unless payers reimburse a substantial portion of the test price. There is significant
uncertainty concerning third-party reimbursement of any test incorporating new technology, including our tests. Reimbursement by a
payer may depend on a number of factors, including a payer’s determination that these tests are:
•

not experimental or investigational;

•

pre-authorized and appropriate for the specific patient;

•

cost-effective;

•

supported by peer-reviewed publications; and

•

included in clinical practice guidelines.

Since each payer makes its own decision as to whether to establish a coverage policy or enter into a contract to reimburse
our tests, seeking these approvals is a time-consuming and costly process.
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We do not have a contracted rate of reimbursement with many payers for the Afirma or Percepta tests, and we do not have
any contracted reimbursement with any payers with respect to the Envisia test. Without a contracted rate for reimbursement, our
claims are often denied upon submission, and we must appeal the claims. The appeals process is time consuming and expensive, and
may not result in payment. In cases where there is no contracted rate for reimbursement, there is typically a greater patient coinsurance or co-payment requirement which may result in further delay or decreased likelihood of collection. Payers may attempt to
recoup prior payments after review, sometimes after significant time has passed, which would impact future revenue.
We expect to continue to focus substantial resources on increasing adoption, coverage and reimbursement for the Afirma
classifiers, the Percepta classifier and the Envisia classifier as well as any other future tests we may develop. We believe it will take
several years to achieve coverage and contracted reimbursement with a majority of third-party payers. However, we cannot predict
whether, under what circumstances, or at what payment levels payers will reimburse for our tests. Also, payer consolidation is
underway and creates uncertainty as to whether coverage and contracts with existing payers will remain in effect. Finally, if there is
a decrease in the Medicare payment rate for our tests, the payment rates for some of our commercial payers may also decrease if
they tie their allowable rates to the Medicare rate. Reductions in private payer amounts could decrease the Medicare payment rates
for our tests under PAMA. Our failure to establish broad adoption of and reimbursement for our tests, or our inability to maintain
existing reimbursement from payers, will negatively impact our ability to generate revenue and achieve profitability, as well as our
future prospects and our business.
We may experience limits on our revenue if physicians decide not to order our tests.
If we are unable to create or maintain demand for our tests in sufficient volume, we may not become profitable. To generate
demand, we will need to continue to educate physicians about the benefits and cost-effectiveness of our tests through published
papers, presentations at scientific conferences, marketing campaigns and one-on-one education by our sales force. In addition, our
ability to obtain and maintain adequate reimbursement from third-party payers will be critical to generating revenue.
The Afirma genomic classifier is included in most physician practice guidelines in the United States for the assessment of
patients with thyroid nodules. However, historical practice recommended a full or partial thyroidectomy in cases where
cytopathology results were indeterminate to confirm a diagnosis. Our lung products are not yet integrated into practice guidelines
and physicians may be reluctant to order tests that are not recommended in these guidelines. Because our diagnostic services are
performed by our certified laboratory under the Clinical Laboratory Improvement Amendments of 1988, or CLIA, rather than by the
local laboratory or pathology practice, pathologists may be reluctant to support our testing services as well. Guidelines that include
our classifiers currently may subsequently be revised to recommend another testing protocol, and these changes may result in
physicians deciding not to use our tests. Lack of guideline inclusion could limit the adoption of our tests and our ability to generate
revenue and achieve profitability. To the extent international markets have existing practices and standards of care that are different
than those in the United States, we may face challenges with the adoption of our tests in international markets.
We may experience limits on our revenue if patients decide not to use our tests.
Some patients may decide not to use our tests because of price, all or part of which may be payable directly by the patient if
the patient’s insurer denies reimbursement in full or in part. There is a growing trend among insurers to shift more of the cost of
healthcare to patients in the form of higher co-payments or premiums, and this trend is accelerating which puts patients in the
position of having to pay more for our tests. We expect to continue to see pressure from payers to limit the utilization of tests,
generally, and we believe more payers are deploying costs containment tactics, such as pre-authorization and employing laboratory
benefit managers to reduce utilization rates. Implementation of provisions of the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, as
amended by the Health Care and Education Affordability Reconciliation Act, collectively the ACA, has also resulted in increases in
premiums and reductions in coverage for some patients. In addition, Congressional efforts to repeal the ACA could result in an
increase in uninsured patients. These events may result in patients delaying or forgoing medical checkups or treatment due to their
inability to pay for our tests, which could have an adverse effect on our revenue.
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Due to how we recognize revenue, our quarterly operating results are likely to fluctuate.
For tests performed where we have an agreed upon reimbursement rate or we are able to reasonably estimate the amount
that will ultimately be realized at the time delivery of a patient report is complete, such as in the case of Medicare and certain other
payers, we recognize the related revenue upon delivery of the patient report to the prescribing physician based on the amount we
expect to ultimately realize. We determine the amount we expect to ultimately realize based on payer reimbursement history,
contracts, and coverage. In the first period in which revenue is accrued for a particular payer, a one-time increase in revenue
generally occurs. Upon ultimate collection, the amount received where reimbursement was estimated is compared to previous
estimates and the amount accrued is adjusted accordingly. In situations where we cannot reasonably estimate the amount that will
ultimately be collected, we recognize revenue on the cash basis. We cannot be certain as to when we will receive payment for our
diagnostic tests, and we must appeal negative payment decisions, which delays collections. Should judgments underlying estimated
reimbursement change, or were incorrect at the time we accrued such revenue, our financial results could be negatively impacted in
future quarters. As a result, comparing our operating results on a period-to-period basis may not be meaningful. You should not rely
on our past results as an indication of our future performance. In addition, these fluctuations in revenue may make it difficult for us,
for research analysts and for investors to accurately forecast our revenue and operating results. If our revenue or operating results fall
below expectations, the price of our common stock would likely decline.
We rely on sole suppliers for some of the reagents, equipment, chips and other materials used to perform our tests,
and we may not be able to find replacements or transition to alternative suppliers.
We rely on sole suppliers for critical supply of reagents, equipment, chips and other materials that we use to perform our
tests. We also purchase components used in our collection kits from sole-source suppliers. Some of these items are unique to these
suppliers and vendors. In addition, we utilize a sole source to assemble and distribute our sample collection kits. While we have
developed alternate sourcing strategies for these materials and vendors, we cannot be certain whether these strategies will be
effective or the alternative sources will be available when we need them. If these suppliers can no longer provide us with the
materials we need to perform the tests and for our collection kits, if the materials do not meet our quality specifications or are
otherwise unusable, if we cannot obtain acceptable substitute materials, or if we elect to change suppliers, an interruption in test
processing could occur, we may not be able to deliver patient reports and we may incur higher one-time switching costs. Any such
interruption may significantly affect our future revenue, cause us to incur higher costs, and harm our customer relationships and
reputation. In addition, in order to mitigate these risks, we maintain inventories of these supplies at higher levels than would be the
case if multiple sources of supply were available. If our test volume decreases or we switch suppliers, we may hold excess inventory
with expiration dates that occur before use which would adversely affect our losses and cash flow position. As we introduce any new
test, we may experience supply issues as we ramp test volume.
We depend on a specialized cytopathology practice to perform the cytopathology component of our Afirma test, and
our ability to perform our diagnostic solution would be harmed if we were required to secure a replacement.
We rely on TCP to provide cytopathology professional diagnoses on thyroid fine needle aspiration, or FNA, samples
pursuant to a pathology services agreement. Pursuant to this agreement, TCP has the exclusive right to provide the cytopathology
diagnoses on FNA samples at a fixed price per test. We have also agreed to allow TCP to co-locate in a portion of our facilities in
Austin, Texas. Our agreement with TCP is effective through October 31, 2022, and thereafter automatically renews every year unless
either party provides notice of intent not to renew at least 12 months prior to the end of the then-current term.
If TCP were not able to support our current test volume or future increases in test volume or to provide the quality of
services we require, or if we were unable to agree on commercial terms and our relationship with TCP were to terminate, our
business would be harmed until we were able to secure the services of another cytopathology provider. There can be no assurance
that we would be successful in finding a replacement that would be able to conduct cytopathology diagnoses at the same volume or
with the same high-quality results as TCP. Locating another suitable cytopathology provider could be time consuming and would
result in delays in processing Afirma tests until a replacement was fully integrated with our test processing operations.
We may be unable to manage our future growth effectively, which could make it difficult to execute our business
strategy.
In addition to the need to scale our testing capacity, future growth, including our transition to a multi-product company with
international operations, will impose significant added responsibilities on management, including the need to identify, recruit, train
and integrate additional employees with the necessary skills to support the growing complexities of our business. Rapid and
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significant growth may place strain on our administrative, financial and operational infrastructure. Our ability to manage our
business and growth will require us to continue to improve our operational, financial and management controls, reporting systems
and procedures. We have implemented an internally-developed data warehouse, which is critical to our ability to track our diagnostic
services and patient reports delivered to physicians, as well as to support our financial reporting systems. The time and resources
required to optimize these systems is uncertain, and failure to complete optimization in a timely and efficient manner could
adversely affect our operations. If we are unable to manage our growth effectively, it may be difficult for us to execute our business
strategy and our business could be harmed.
If we are unable to support demand for our commercial tests, our business could suffer.
As demand for our tests grows, we will need to continue to scale our testing capacity and processing technology, expand
customer service, billing and systems processes and enhance our internal quality assurance program. We will also need additional
certified laboratory scientists and other scientific and technical personnel to process higher volumes of our tests. We cannot assure
you that any increases in scale, related improvements and quality assurance will be successfully implemented or that appropriate
personnel will be available. Failure to implement necessary procedures, transition to new processes or hire the necessary personnel
could result in higher costs of processing tests, quality control issues or inability to meet demand. There can be no assurance that we
will be able to perform our testing on a timely basis at a level consistent with demand, or that our efforts to scale our operations will
not negatively affect the quality of test results. If we encounter difficulty meeting market demand or quality standards, our reputation
could be harmed and our future prospects and our business could suffer.
Changes in healthcare policy, including legislation reforming the U.S. healthcare system, may have a material
adverse effect on our financial condition and operations.
The ACA, enacted in March 2010, made changes that significantly affected the pharmaceutical and medical device
industries and clinical laboratories. Effective January 1, 2013, the ACA included a 2.3% excise tax on the sale of certain medical
devices sold outside of the retail setting. Although a moratorium has been imposed on this excise tax for 2016 through 2019, the
excise tax is scheduled to be restored in 2020.
Other significant measures contained in the ACA include, for example, coordination and promotion of research on
comparative clinical effectiveness of different technologies and procedures, initiatives to revise Medicare payment methodologies,
such as bundling of payments across the continuum of care by providers and physicians, and initiatives to promote quality indicators
in payment methodologies. The ACA also includes significant new fraud and abuse measures, including required disclosures of
financial arrangements with physician customers, lower thresholds for violations and increasing potential penalties for such
violations. In addition, the ACA establishes an Independent Payment Advisory Board, or IPAB, to reduce the per capita rate of
growth in Medicare spending. The IPAB has broad discretion to propose policies to reduce expenditures, which may have a negative
effect on payment rates for services. The IPAB proposals could have affected payments for clinical laboratory services beginning in
2016 and may affect those for hospital services beginning in 2020. We are monitoring the effect of the ACA to determine the trends
and changes that may be necessitated by the legislation, any of which may potentially affect our business.
In the beginning of 2017, the U.S. Congress and the Administration took actions to repeal the ACA and indicated an intent
to replace it with another act and efforts to repeal or amend the ACA are ongoing. We cannot predict if, or when, the ACA will be
repealed or amended, and cannot predict the impact that an amendment or repeal of the ACA will have on our business.
In addition to the ACA, various healthcare reform proposals have also periodically emerged from federal and state
governments. For example, in February 2012, Congress passed the Middle Class Tax Relief and Job Creation Act of 2012, which in
part reset the clinical laboratory payment rates on the Medicare Clinical Laboratory Fee Schedule, or CLFS, by 2% in 2013. In
addition, under the Budget Control Act of 2011, which is effective for dates of service on or after April 1, 2013, Medicare payments,
including payments to clinical laboratories, are subject to a reduction of 2% due to the automatic expense reductions (sequester) until
fiscal year 2024. Reductions resulting from the Congressional sequester are applied to total claims payment made; however, they do
not currently result in a rebasing of the negotiated or established Medicare or Medicaid reimbursement rates.
State legislation on reimbursement applies to Medicaid reimbursement and managed Medicaid reimbursement rates within
that state. Some states have passed or proposed legislation that would revise reimbursement methodology for clinical laboratory
payment rates under those Medicaid programs. For example, effective July 2015, California’s Department of Health Care Services
implemented a new rate methodology for clinical laboratories and laboratory services. This methodology involves the use of a range
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of rates that fell between zero and 80% of the calculated California Medicare rate and the calculation of a weighted average (based
on units billed) of such rates.
We cannot predict whether future healthcare initiatives will be implemented at the federal or state level or in countries
outside of the United States in which we may do business, or the effect any future legislation or regulation will have on us. The taxes
imposed by the new federal legislation, cost reduction measures and the expansion in the role of the U.S. government in the
healthcare industry may result in decreased revenue, lower reimbursement by payers for our tests or reduced medical procedure
volumes, all of which may adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, sales of our tests
outside the United States subject our business to foreign regulatory requirements and cost-reduction measures, which may also
change over time.
Ongoing calls for deficit reduction at the federal government level and reforms to programs such as the Medicare program
to pay for such reductions may affect the pharmaceutical, medical device and clinical laboratory industries. Currently, clinical
laboratory services are excluded from the Medicare Part B co-insurance and co-payment as preventative services. Any requirement
for clinical laboratories to collect co-payments from patients may increase our costs and reduce the amount ultimately collected.
CMS bundles payments for clinical laboratory diagnostic tests together with other services performed during hospital
outpatient visits under the Hospital Outpatient Prospective Payment System. CMS currently maintains an exemption for molecular
pathology tests from this bundling provision. It is possible that this exemption could be removed by CMS in future rule making,
which might result in lower reimbursement for tests performed in this setting.
PAMA includes a substantial new payment system for clinical laboratory tests under the CLFS. Under PAMA, laboratories
that receive the majority of their Medicare revenues from payments made under the CLFS and the Physician Fee Schedule would
report on triennial bases (or annually for advanced diagnostic laboratory tests, or ADLTs), private payer rates and volumes for their
tests with specific CPT codes based final payments made during a set data collection period (the first of which was January 1
through June 30, 2016). We believe that PAMA and its implementing regulations are generally favorable to us. We reported to CMS
the data required under PAMA before the March 31, 2017 deadline. The new payment rate for the Afirma genomic classifier based
on the volume-weighted median of private payer rates took effect January 1, 2018, increasing from $3,220 to $3,600 through
December 31, 2020. There can be no assurance that the payment rate for Afirma will not decrease in the future or that the payment
rates for Percepta or Envisia will not be adversely affected by the PAMA law and regulations.
We believe our Afirma genomic classifier as well as our Percepta and Envisia classifiers would be considered ADLTs under
PAMA. The initial payment rate (for a period not to exceed nine months) under PAMA for a new ADLT (an ADLT for which
payment has not been made under the CLFS prior to January 1, 2018) will be set at the “actual list charge” for the test as reported by
the laboratory. Insofar as the actual list charge substantially exceeds private payer rates (by more than 30%), CMS will have the
ability to recoup excess payments made during the initial nine-month payment period. We can determine whether to seek ADLT
status for our tests, but there can be no assurance that our tests will be designated ADLTs or that the payment rates for our tests will
not be adversely affected by such designation.
There have also been recent and substantial changes to the payment structure for physicians, including those passed as part
of the Medicare Access and CHIP Reauthorization Act of 2015, or MACRA, which was signed into law on April 16, 2015. MACRA
created the Merit-Based Incentive Payment System which, beginning in 2019, more closely aligns physician payments with
composite performance on performance metrics similar to three existing incentive programs (i.e., the Physician Quality Reporting
System, the Value-based modifier program and the Electronic Health Record Meaningful Use program) and incentivizes physicians
to enroll in alternative payment methods. At this time, we do not know whether these changes to the physician payment systems will
have any impact on orders or payments for our tests.
In December 2016, Congress passed the 21st Century Cures Act, which, among other things, revised the process for LCDs.
CMS and the MACs are in the process of implementing these revisions and we cannot predict whether these revisions will delay
coverage for our test products, which could have a material negative impact on revenue.
Because of Medicare billing rules, we may not receive reimbursement for all tests provided to Medicare patients.
Under previous Medicare billing rules, hospitals were required to bill for our tests when performed on Medicare
beneficiaries who were hospital outpatients at the time of tissue specimen collection when these tests were ordered less than 14 days
following the date of the patient's discharge.
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Effective January 1, 2018, CMS revised its billing rules to allow the performing laboratory to bill Medicare directly for
molecular pathology tests performed on specimens collected from hospital outpatients, even when those tests are ordered less than
14 days after the date of discharge. Our Afirma, Percepta, and Envisia classifiers should be covered by this policy. Accordingly, we
would no longer bill hospitals for these tests when we perform them on specimens collected from hospital outpatients.
This change does not apply to tests performed on specimens collected from hospital inpatients. We will continue to bill
hospitals for tests performed on specimens collected from hospital inpatients when the test was ordered less than 14 days after the
date of discharge. While we believe the impact of these revisions are favorable to us, we cannot predict with certainty the impact on
our business. CMS may change this regulatory policy in the future, which could negatively impact our business.
If the FDA were to begin regulating our tests, we could incur substantial costs and delays associated with trying to
obtain premarket clearance or approval.
Clinical laboratory tests have long been subject to comprehensive regulations under CLIA, as well as by applicable state
laws. Most laboratory developed tests, or LDTs, are not currently subject to regulation under the FDA's enforcement discretion
policy, although reagents, instruments, software or components provided by third parties and used to perform LDTs may be subject
to regulation. While the FDA maintains its authority to regulate LDTs, it has chosen to exercise its enforcement discretion not to
enforce the premarket review and other applicable medical device requirements for LDTs. We believe that the Afirma, Percepta and
Envisia classifiers are LDTs that fall under the FDA's enforcement discretion policy. In October 2014, the FDA issued draft
guidance, entitled "Framework for Regulatory Oversight of LDTs," proposing a risk-based framework of oversight and a phased-in
enforcement of premarket review requirements for most LDTs. In 2016, the FDA announced that it would not be finalizing the
guidance.
In January 2017, the FDA issued a "Discussion Paper on Laboratory Developed Tests" following input it received from
multiple stakeholders who had commented on its 2014 draft guidance. The FDA specifically states in its Discussion Paper that the
proposals contained in the document do not represent a final version of the LDT draft guidance documents and are only designed to
provide a possible approach to spark further dialogue. The suggested LDT framework could grandfather many types of LDTs
without requiring new premarket review or quality management requirements. It also suggests a four-year phased implementation of
the premarket review requirements for some types of tests.
In March 2017, a draft bill titled "The Diagnostics Accuracy and Innovation Act" was released for discussion. The bill
proposes a risk-based approach to regulate LDTs and creates a new in vitro clinical test category, which includes LDTs, and a
regulatory structure under the FDA. As proposed, the bill grandfathers existing tests and gives companies five years to augment test
development pipelines to ensure new tests have the data necessary for FDA approval. We cannot predict whether this draft bill will
become legislation and cannot quantify the effect of this draft bill on our business.
If the FDA were to require us to seek clearance or approval for our existing tests or any of our future products for clinical
use, we may not be able to obtain such approvals on a timely basis, or at all. While we believe our current tests would likely qualify
for the “grandfathered” tests treatment, there can be no assurance of what the FDA might ultimately require if it issued final
guidance. If premarket reviews were required, our business could be negatively impacted if we were required to stop selling our
products pending their clearance or approval. In addition, the launch of any new products that we develop could be delayed by the
implementation of future FDA guidance. The cost of complying with premarket review requirements, including obtaining clinical
data, could be significant. In addition, future regulation by the FDA could subject our business to further regulatory risks and costs.
Failure to comply with applicable regulatory requirements of the FDA could result in enforcement action, including receiving
untitled or warning letters, fines, injunctions, or civil or criminal penalties. Any such enforcement action would have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and operations. In addition, our sample collection containers are listed as Class I
devices with the FDA. If the FDA were to determine that they are not Class I devices, we would be required to file 510(k)
applications and obtain FDA clearance to use the containers, which could be time consuming and expensive.
Some of the materials we use for our tests and that we may use for future tests are labeled for research use only, or RUO, or
investigational use only, or IUO. In November 2013, the FDA finalized guidance regarding the sale and use of products labeled RUO
or IUO. Among other things, the guidance advises that the FDA continues to be concerned about distribution of research or
investigational-use only products intended for clinical diagnostic use and that the manufacturer’s objective intent for the product’s
intended use will be determined by examining the totality of circumstances, including advertising, instructions for clinical
interpretation, presentations that describe clinical use, and specialized technical support, surrounding the distribution of the product
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in question. The FDA has advised that if evidence demonstrates that a product is inappropriately labeled for research or
investigational-use only, the device would be considered misbranded and adulterated within the meaning of the Federal Food, Drug
and Cosmetic Act. Some of the reagents, instruments, software or components obtained by us from suppliers for use in our products
are currently labeled as RUO or IUO. If the FDA were to determine that any of these reagents, instruments, software or components
are improperly labeled RUO or IUO and undertake enforcement actions, some of our suppliers might cease selling these reagents,
instruments, software or components to us, and any failure to obtain an acceptable substitute could significantly and adversely affect
our business, financial condition and results of operations, including increasing the cost of testing or delaying, limiting or prohibiting
the purchase of reagents, instruments, software or components necessary to perform testing.
If we are unable to compete successfully, we may be unable to increase or sustain our revenue or achieve
profitability.
Our principal competition for our tests comes from traditional methods used by physicians to diagnose and manage patient
care decisions. For example, with our Afirma genomic classifier, practice guidelines in the United States have historically
recommended that patients with indeterminate diagnoses from cytopathology results be considered for surgery to remove all or part
of the thyroid to rule out cancer. This practice has been the standard of care in the United States for many years, and we need to
continue to educate physicians about the benefits of the Afirma genomic classifier to change clinical practice.
We also face competition from companies and academic institutions that use next generation sequencing technology or
other methods to measure mutational markers such as BRAF and KRAS, along with numerous other mutations. These organizations
include Interpace Diagnostics Group, Inc., CBLPath, Inc./University of Pittsburgh Medical Center, Rosetta Genomics Ltd., and
others who are developing new products or technologies that may compete with our tests. In the future, we may also face
competition from companies developing new products or technologies.
With the Percepta and Envisia tests, we believe our primary competition will similarly come from traditional methods used
by physicians to diagnose the related diseases. For the Percepta test, we expect competition from companies focused on lung cancer
such as Integrated Diagnostics, Inc., Oncocyte Corporation and Oncimmune. We also anticipate facing potential competition from
companies offering or developing approaches for assessing malignancy risk in patients with lung nodules using alternative samples,
such as blood, urine or sputum. However, such “liquid biopsies” are often used earlier in the diagnostic paradigm — for instance, to
screen for cancer — or to gauge risk of recurrence or response to treatment.
In general, we also face competition from commercial laboratories, such as Laboratory Corporation of America Holdings
and Sonic Healthcare USA, with strong infrastructure to support the commercialization of diagnostic services. We face potential
competition from companies such as Illumina, Inc. and Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc., both of which have entered the clinical
diagnostics market. Other potential competitors include companies that develop diagnostic products, such as Roche Diagnostics, a
division of Roche Holding Ltd, Siemens AG and Qiagen N.V.
In addition, competitors may develop their own versions of our solutions in countries we may seek to enter where we do not
have patents or where our intellectual property rights are not recognized and compete with us in those countries, including
encouraging the use of their solutions by physicians in other countries.
To compete successfully, we must be able to demonstrate, among other things, that our diagnostic test results are accurate
and cost effective, and we must secure a meaningful level of reimbursement for our products.
Many of our potential competitors have widespread brand recognition and substantially greater financial, technical and
research and development resources, and selling and marketing capabilities than we do. Others may develop products with prices
lower than ours that could be viewed by physicians and payers as functionally equivalent to our solutions, or offer solutions at prices
designed to promote market penetration, which could force us to lower the list price of our solutions and affect our ability to achieve
profitability. If we are unable to change clinical practice in a meaningful way or compete successfully against current and future
competitors, we may be unable to increase market acceptance and sales of our products, which could prevent us from increasing our
revenue or achieving profitability and could cause the market price of our common stock to decline. As we add new tests and
services, we will face many of these same competitive risks for these new tests.
The loss of members of our senior management team or our inability to attract and retain key personnel could
adversely affect our business.
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Our success depends largely on the skills, experience and performance of key members of our executive management team
and others in key management positions. The efforts of each of these persons together will be critical to us as we continue to develop
our technologies and test processes and focus on our growth. If we were to lose one or more of these key employees, we may
experience difficulties in competing effectively, developing our technologies and implementing our business strategy.
In addition, our research and development programs and commercial laboratory operations depend on our ability to attract
and retain highly skilled scientists. We may not be able to attract or retain qualified scientists and technicians in the future due to the
intense competition for qualified personnel among life science businesses, particularly in the San Francisco Bay Area. Our success in
the development and commercialization of advanced diagnostics requires a significant medical and clinical staff to conduct studies
and educate physicians and payers on the merits of our tests in order to achieve adoption and reimbursement. We are in a highly
competitive industry to attract and retain this talent. As a public company located in the San Francisco Bay Area, we also face
intense competition for highly skilled finance and accounting personnel. If we are unable to attract and retain finance and accounting
personnel experienced in public company financial reporting, we risk being unable to close our books and file our public documents
on a timely basis. Additionally, our success depends on our ability to attract and retain qualified sales people. We recently
significantly expanded our sales force as we transitioned out of our Genzyme Corporation co-promotion agreement in the United
States. There can be no assurance that we will be successful in maintaining and growing our business. Additionally, as we increase
our sales channels for new tests we commercialize, including the Percepta and Envisia tests, we may have difficulties recruiting and
training additional sales personnel or retaining qualified salespeople, which could cause a delay or decline in the rate of adoption of
our tests. Finally, our business requires specialized capabilities in reimbursement, billing, and other areas and there may be a
shortage of qualified individuals. If we are not able to attract and retain the necessary personnel to accomplish our business
objectives, we may experience constraints that could adversely affect our ability to support our research and development, clinical
laboratory, sales and reimbursement, billing and finance efforts. All of our employees are at will, which means that either we or the
employee may terminate their employment at any time. We do not carry key man insurance for any of our employees.
Billing for our diagnostic tests is complex, and we must dedicate substantial time and resources to the billing
process to be paid.
Billing for clinical laboratory testing services is complex, time-consuming and expensive. Depending on the billing
arrangement and applicable law, we bill various payers, including Medicare, insurance companies and patients, all of which have
different billing requirements. We generally bill third-party payers for our diagnostic tests and pursue reimbursement on a case-bycase basis where pricing contracts are not in place. To the extent laws or contracts require us to bill patient co-payments or coinsurance, we must also comply with these requirements. We may also face increased risk in our collection efforts, including
potential write-offs of doubtful accounts and long collection cycles, which could adversely affect our business, results of operations
and financial condition.
Several factors make the billing process complex, including:
•

differences between the list price for our tests and the reimbursement rates of payers;

•

compliance with complex federal and state regulations related to billing Medicare;

•

risk of government audits related to billing Medicare;

•

disputes among payers as to which party is responsible for payment;

• differences in coverage and in information and billing requirements among payers, including the need for
prior authorization and/or advanced notification;
•

the effect of patient co-payments or co-insurance;

•

changes to billing codes used for our tests;

•

incorrect or missing billing information; and

•

the resources required to manage the billing and claims appeals process.
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We use standard industry billing codes, known as CPT codes, to bill for cytopathology. In addition, we use the CPT code
81545 to bill for our Afirma classifier. CPT codes do not exist for our other proprietary molecular diagnostic tests. Therefore, until
such time that we are assigned and are able to use a designated CPT code specific to Percepta and Envisia, we use “unlisted” codes
for claim submissions. These codes can change over time. When codes change, there is a risk of an error being made in the claim
adjudication process. These errors can occur with claims submission, third-party transmission or in the processing of the claim by
the payer. Claim adjudication errors may result in a delay in payment processing or a reduction in the amount of the payment
received. Coding changes, therefore, may have an adverse effect on our revenues. Even when we receive a designated CPT code
specific to our tests, such as the 81545 code for the Afirma GEC that became effective January 1, 2016, there can be no assurance
that payers will recognize these codes in a timely manner or that the process of transitioning to such a code and updating their billing
systems and ours will not result in errors, delays in payments and a related increase in accounts receivable balances.
As we introduce new tests, we will need to add new codes to our billing process as well as our financial reporting systems.
Failure or delays in effecting these changes in external billing and internal systems and processes could negatively affect our
collection rates, revenue and cost of collecting.
Additionally, our billing activities require us to implement compliance procedures and oversight, train and monitor our
employees, challenge coverage and payment denials, assist patients in appealing claims, and undertake internal audits to evaluate
compliance with applicable laws and regulations as well as internal compliance policies and procedures. Payers also conduct
external audits to evaluate payments, which add further complexity to the billing process. If the payer makes an overpayment
determination, there is a risk that we may be required to return some portion of prior payments we have received. These billing
complexities, and the related uncertainty in obtaining payment for our tests, could negatively affect our revenue and cash flow, our
ability to achieve profitability, and the consistency and comparability of our results of operations.
We rely on a third-party provider to transmit claims to payers, and any delay in transmitting claims could have an
adverse effect on our revenue.
While we manage the overall processing of claims, we rely on a third-party provider to transmit the actual claims to payers
based on the specific payer billing format. We have previously experienced delays in claims processing when our third-party
provider made changes to its invoicing system, and again when it did not submit claims to payers within the timeframe we require.
Additionally, coding for diagnostic tests may change, and such changes may cause short-term billing errors that may take significant
time to resolve. If claims are not submitted to payers on a timely basis or are erroneously submitted, or if we are required to switch
to a different provider to handle claim submissions, we may experience delays in our ability to process these claims and receipt of
payments from payers, or possibly denial of claims for lack of timely submission, which would have an adverse effect on our
revenue and our business.
Our future success will depend in part on our ability to successfully transition from our relationship with Genzyme
to co-promote Afirma in the United States.
We sell Afirma in the United States through our internal sales team and, until recently, also through a co-promotion
agreement with Genzyme Corporation, which we terminated effective September 9, 2016. In connection with the transition, we have
hired additional sales personnel to sell our Afirma tests. If we are unsuccessful in transitioning the sales and marketing of the Afirma
test from Genzyme solely to our internal sales and marketing personnel, we may experience declining test volumes and associated
declines in revenue. We may not be able to market or sell the Afirma test effectively enough to maintain or increase demand for the
test, or without significant additional sales and marketing efforts and expense. Our failure to do so successfully without the benefit
of Genzyme’s efforts could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
If our internal sales force is less successful than anticipated, our business expansion plans could suffer and our ability
to generate revenues could be diminished. In addition, we have limited history selling our molecular diagnostics tests on a direct
basis and our limited history makes forecasting difficult.
If our internal sales force is not successful, or new additions to our sales team fail to gain traction among our customers, we
may not be able to increase market awareness and sales of our molecular diagnostic tests. If we fail to establish our molecular
diagnostic tests in the marketplace, it could have a negative effect on our ability to sell subsequent molecular diagnostic tests and
hinder the desired expansion of our business. We have growing, however limited, historical experience forecasting the direct sales of
our molecular diagnostics products. Our ability to produce test volumes that meet customer demand is dependent upon our ability to
forecast accurately and plan production capacities accordingly.
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Developing new products involves a lengthy and complex process, and we may not be able to commercialize on a
timely basis, or at all, other products we are developing.
We continually seek to develop enhancements to our current test offerings and additional diagnostic solutions that requires
us to devote considerable resources to research and development. There can be no assurance that we will be able to identify other
diseases that can be effectively addressed with our molecular cytology platform. In addition, if we identify such diseases, we may
not be able to develop products with the diagnostic accuracy necessary to be clinically useful and commercially successful. We may
face challenges obtaining sufficient numbers of samples to validate a genomic signature for a molecular diagnostic product. We still
must complete studies that meet the clinical evidence required to obtain reimbursement, which studies are currently underway.
In order to develop and commercialize diagnostic tests, we need to:
•

expend significant funds to conduct substantial research and development;

•

conduct successful analytical and clinical studies;

•

scale our laboratory processes to accommodate new tests; and

•

build the commercial infrastructure to market and sell new products.

Our product development process involves a high degree of risk and may take several years. Our product development
efforts may fail for many reasons, including:
•

failure to identify a genomic signature in biomarker discovery;

• inability to secure sufficient numbers of samples at an acceptable cost and on an acceptable timeframe to
conduct analytical and clinical studies; or
•

failure of clinical validation studies to support the effectiveness of the test.

Typically, few research and development projects result in commercial products, and success in early clinical studies often
is not replicated in later studies. At any point, we may abandon development of a product candidate or we may be required to expend
considerable resources repeating clinical studies, which would adversely affect the timing for generating potential revenue from a
new product and our ability to invest in other products in our pipeline. If a clinical validation study fails to demonstrate the
prospectively-defined endpoints of the study or if we fail to sufficiently demonstrate analytical validity, we might choose to abandon
the development of the product, which could harm our business. In addition, competitors may develop and commercialize competing
products or technologies faster than us or at a lower cost.
If we cannot enter into new clinical study collaborations, our product development and subsequent
commercialization could be delayed.
In the past, we have entered into clinical study collaborations, and our success in the future depends in part on our ability to
enter into additional collaborations with highly regarded institutions. This can be difficult due to internal and external constraints
placed on these organizations. Some organizations may limit the number of collaborations they have with any one company so as to
not be perceived as biased or conflicted. Organizations may also have insufficient administrative and related infrastructure to enable
collaboration with many companies at once, which can extend the time it takes to develop, negotiate and implement a collaboration.
Moreover, it may take longer to obtain the samples we need which could delay our trials, publications, and product launches and
reimbursement. Additionally, organizations often insist on retaining the rights to publish the clinical data resulting from the
collaboration. The publication of clinical data in peer-reviewed journals is a crucial step in commercializing and obtaining
reimbursement for our diagnostic tests, and our inability to control when and if results are published may delay or limit our ability to
derive sufficient revenue from them.
If we are unable to develop products to keep pace with rapid technological, medical and scientific change, our
operating results and competitive position could be harmed.
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In recent years, there have been numerous advances in technologies relating to diagnostics, particularly diagnostics that are
based on genomic information. These advances require us to continuously develop our technology and to work to develop new
solutions to keep pace with evolving standards of care. Our solutions could become obsolete unless we continually innovate and
expand our product offerings to include new clinical applications. If we are unable to develop new products or to demonstrate the
applicability of our products for other diseases, our sales could decline and our competitive position could be harmed.
We may acquire businesses or assets, form joint ventures or make investments in other companies or technologies
that could harm our operating results, dilute our stockholders’ ownership, increase our debt or cause us to incur significant
expense.
We acquired Allegro Diagnostics Corp. in September 2014, and we may pursue additional acquisitions of complementary
businesses or assets, as well as technology licensing arrangements as part of our business strategy. We also may pursue strategic
alliances that leverage our core technology and industry experience to expand our offerings or distribution, or make investments in
other companies. To date, we have limited experience with respect to acquisitions and the formation of strategic alliances and joint
ventures. We may not be able to integrate acquisitions successfully into our existing business, and we could assume unknown or
contingent liabilities. In addition, we may not realize the expected benefits of an acquisition or investment. Any acquisitions made
by us also could result in significant write-offs or the incurrence of debt and contingent liabilities, any of which could harm our
operating results. Integration of acquired companies or businesses we may acquire in the future also may require management
resources that otherwise would be available for ongoing development of our existing business. We may not identify or complete
these transactions in a timely manner, on a cost-effective basis, or at all, and we may not realize the anticipated benefits of any
acquisition, technology license, strategic alliance, joint venture or investment.
To finance any acquisitions or investments, we may choose to issue shares of our stock as consideration, which would
dilute the ownership of our stockholders. If the price of our common stock is low or volatile, we may not be able to acquire other
companies for stock. Alternatively, it may be necessary for us to raise additional funds for these activities through public or private
financings. Additional funds may not be available on terms that are favorable to us, or at all. If these funds are raised through the sale
of equity or convertible debt securities, dilution to our stockholders could result. Our current loan and security agreement with
Silicon Valley Bank, or loan and security agreement, contains covenants that could limit our ability to sell debt securities or obtain
additional debt financing arrangements, which could affect our ability to finance acquisitions or investments other than through the
issuance of stock.
Our credit facility provides our lenders with first-priority liens against substantially all of our assets, excluding our
intellectual property, and contains financial covenants and other restrictions on our actions, which could limit our operational
flexibility and otherwise adversely affect our financial condition.
In November 2017, we entered into the loan and security agreement with Silicon Valley Bank and terminated our prior
credit agreement with Visium Healthcare Partners, LP. Our loan and security agreement restricts our ability to, among other
things, incur liens, make investments, incur indebtedness, merge with or acquire other entities, dispose of assets, make dividends or
other distributions to holders of its equity interests, engage in any new line of business, or enter into certain transactions with
affiliates, in each case subject to certain exceptions.
Our loan and security agreement requires us to achieve certain revenue levels tested quarterly on a trailing twelve-month
basis. However, failure to maintain the revenue levels will not be considered a default if we maintain liquidity of at least $40.0
million. Our ability to comply with these and other covenants is dependent upon a number of factors, some of which are beyond our
control.
Our failure to comply with the financial covenants, or the occurrence of other events specified in our loan and security
agreement, could result in an event of default under the loan and security agreement, which would give our lenders the right to
terminate their commitments to provide additional loans under the loan and security agreement and to declare all borrowings
outstanding, together with accrued and unpaid interest and fees, to be immediately due and payable. In addition, we have granted our
lenders first-priority liens against all of our assets, excluding our intellectual property, as collateral. Failure to comply with the
covenants or other restrictions in the loan and security agreement could result in a default. If the debt under our loan and security
agreement was to be accelerated, we may not have sufficient cash on hand or be able to sell sufficient collateral to repay it, which
would have an immediate adverse effect on our business and operating results. This could potentially cause us to cease operations
and result in a complete loss of your investment in our common stock.
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If we fail to comply with federal and state licensing requirements, we could lose the ability to perform our tests or
experience disruptions to our business.
We are subject to CLIA, a federal law that regulates clinical laboratories that perform testing on specimens derived from
humans for the purpose of providing information for the diagnosis, prevention or treatment of disease. CLIA regulations mandate
specific personal qualifications, facilities administration, quality systems, inspections, and proficiency testing. CLIA certification is
also required for us to be eligible to bill state and federal healthcare programs, as well as many private third-party payers. To renew
these certifications, we are subject to survey and inspection every two years. Moreover, CLIA inspectors may make random
inspections of our clinical reference laboratories.
We are also required to maintain state licenses to conduct testing in our laboratories. California, New York, Texas, among
other states’ laws, require that we maintain a license and comply with state regulation as a clinical laboratory. Other states may have
similar requirements or may adopt similar requirements in the future. In addition, both of our clinical laboratories are required to be
licensed on a test-specific basis by New York State. We have received approval for the Afirma and Percepta tests. We will be
required to obtain approval for other tests we may offer in the future. If we were to lose our CLIA certificate or California license for
our South San Francisco laboratory, whether as a result of revocation, suspension or limitation, we would no longer be able to
perform our molecular tests, which would eliminate our primary source of revenue and harm our business. If we were to lose our
CLIA certificate for our Austin laboratory, we would need to move the receipt and storage of FNAs, as well as the slide preparation
for cytopathology, to South San Francisco, which could result in a delay in processing tests during that transition and increased costs.
If we were to lose our licenses issued by New York or by other states where we are required to hold licenses, we would not be able to
test specimens from those states. New tests we may develop may be subject to new approvals by regulatory bodies such as New
York State, and we may not be able to offer our new tests until such approvals are received.
Complying with numerous statutes and regulations pertaining to our business is an expensive and time-consuming
process, and any failure to comply could result in substantial penalties.
Our operations are subject to other extensive federal, state, local, and foreign laws and regulations, all of which are subject
to change. These laws and regulations currently include, among others:
• the Federal Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, or HIPAA, which established
comprehensive federal standards with respect to the privacy and security of protected health information and
requirements for the use of certain standardized electronic transactions, and amendments made in 2013 to HIPAA
under the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act, or HITECH, which strengthen and
expand HIPAA privacy and security compliance requirements, increase penalties for violators, extend enforcement
authority to state attorneys general, and impose requirements for breach notification;
•

Medicare billing and payment regulations applicable to clinical laboratories;

• the Federal Anti-kickback Statute (and state equivalents), which prohibits knowingly and willfully
offering, paying, soliciting, or receiving remuneration, directly or indirectly, in exchange for or to induce either the
referral of an individual, or the furnishing, arranging for, or recommending of an item or service that is reimbursable,
in whole or in part, by a federal healthcare program;
• the Federal Stark physician self-referral law (and state equivalents), which prohibits a physician from
making a referral for certain designated health services covered by the Medicare program, including laboratory and
pathology services, if the physician or an immediate family member has a financial relationship with the entity
providing the designated health services, unless the financial relationship falls within an applicable exception to the
prohibition;
• the Federal Civil Monetary Penalties Law, which prohibits, among other things, the offering or transfer
of remuneration to a Medicare or state health care program beneficiary if the person knows or should know it is likely
to influence the beneficiary’s selection of a particular provider, practitioner, or supplier of services reimbursable by
Medicare or a state health care program, unless an exception applies;
• the Federal False Claims Act, which imposes liability on any person or entity who knowingly presents, or
causes to be presented, a false, fictitious, or fraudulent claim for payment to the federal government;
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• other federal and state fraud and abuse laws, such as anti-kickback laws, prohibitions on self-referral,
fee-splitting restrictions, prohibitions on the provision of products at no or discounted cost to induce physician or
patient adoption, and false claims acts, which may extend to services reimbursable by any third-party payer, including
private insurers;
• the prohibition on reassignment of Medicare claims, which, subject to certain exceptions, precludes the
reassignment of Medicare claims to any other party;
• the Protecting Access to Medicare Act of 2014, which requires us to report private payer rates and test
volumes for specific CPT codes on a triennial basis and imposes penalties for failures to report, omissions, or
misrepresentations;
• the rules regarding billing for diagnostic tests reimbursable by the Medicare program, which prohibit a
physician or other supplier from marking up the price of the technical component or professional component of a
diagnostic test ordered by the physician or other supplier and supervised or performed by a physician who does not
“share a practice” with the billing physician or supplier;
• state laws that prohibit other specified practices related to billing such as billing physicians for testing
that they order, waiving co-insurance, co-payments, deductibles, and other amounts owed by patients, and billing a
state Medicaid program at a price that is higher than what is charged to other payers;
•
activities;

the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, and other similar laws, which apply to our international

• unclaimed property (escheat) laws and regulations, which may require us to turn over to governmental
authorities the property of others held by us that has been unclaimed for a specified period of time; and
•

enforcing our intellectual property rights.

We have adopted policies and procedures designed to comply with applicable laws and regulations. In the ordinary course
of our business, we conduct internal reviews of our compliance with these laws. Our compliance with some of these laws and
regulations is also subject to governmental review. The growth of our business and sales organization and our expansion outside of
the United States may increase the potential of violating these laws or our internal policies and procedures. We believe that we are in
material compliance with all statutory and regulatory requirements, but there is a risk that one or more government agencies could
take a contrary position.
In recent years U.S. Attorneys’ Offices have increased scrutiny of the healthcare industry, as have Congress, the Department
of Justice, the Department of Health and Human Services’ Office of the Inspector General and the Department of Defense. These
bodies have all issued subpoenas and other requests for information to conduct investigations of, and commenced civil and criminal
litigation against, healthcare companies based on financial arrangements with health care providers, regulatory compliance, product
promotional practices and documentation, and coding and billing practices. Whistleblowers have filed numerous qui tam lawsuits
against healthcare companies under the federal and state False Claims Acts in recent years, in part because the whistleblower can
receive a portion of the government’s recovery under such suits.
These laws and regulations are complex and are subject to interpretation by the courts and by government agencies. If one
or more such agencies alleges that we may be in violation of any of these requirements, regardless of the outcome, it could damage
our reputation and adversely affect important business relationships with third parties, including managed care organizations and
other commercial third-party payers. Any action brought against us for violation of these or other laws or regulations, even if we
successfully defend against it, could cause us to incur significant legal expenses and divert our management’s attention from the
operation of our business. If our operations are found to be in violation of any of these laws and regulations, we may be subject to
any applicable penalty associated with the violation, including civil and criminal penalties, damages and fines, we could be required
to refund payments received by us, and we could be required to curtail or cease our operations. Any of the foregoing consequences
could seriously harm our business and our financial results.
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If we use hazardous materials in a manner that causes contamination or injury, we could be liable for resulting
damages.
We are subject to federal, state and local laws, rules and regulations governing the use, discharge, storage, handling and
disposal of biological material, chemicals and waste. We cannot eliminate the risk of accidental contamination or injury to
employees or third parties from the use, storage, handling or disposal of these materials. In the event of contamination or injury, we
could be held liable for any resulting damages, remediation costs and any related penalties or fines, and any liability could exceed
our resources or any applicable insurance coverage we may have. The cost of compliance with these laws and regulations may
become significant, and our failure to comply may result in substantial fines or other consequences, and either could negatively
affect our operating results.
International expansion of our business exposes us to business, regulatory, political, operational, financial and
economic risks associated with doing business outside of the United States.
Our business strategy includes international expansion in select countries, and may include developing and maintaining
physician outreach and education capabilities outside of the United States, establishing agreements with laboratories, and expanding
our relationships with international payers. Doing business internationally involves a number of risks, including:
• multiple, conflicting and changing laws and regulations such as tax laws, privacy laws, export and import
restrictions, employment laws, regulatory requirements and other governmental approvals, permits and licenses;
•
countries;

failure by us to obtain regulatory approvals where required for the use of our solutions in various

• complexities associated with managing multiple payer reimbursement regimes, government payers or
patient self-pay systems;
• logistics and regulations associated with shipping tissue samples, including infrastructure conditions and
transportation delays;
• challenges associated with establishing laboratory partners, including proper sample collection
techniques, inventory management, sample logistics, billing and promotional activities;
•

limits on our ability to penetrate international markets if we are not able to process tests locally;

• financial risks, such as longer payment cycles, difficulty in collecting from payers, the effect of local and
regional financial crises, and exposure to foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations;
• natural disasters, political and economic instability, including wars, terrorism, and political unrest,
outbreak of disease, boycotts, curtailment of trade and other business restrictions; and
• regulatory and compliance risks that relate to maintaining accurate information and control over
activities that may fall within the purview of the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, including both its books and
records provisions and its anti-bribery provisions.
Any of these factors could significantly harm our future international expansion and operations and, consequently, our
revenue and results of operations.
If we are sued for product liability or errors and omissions liability, we could face substantial liabilities that exceed
our resources.
The marketing, sale and use of our current or future tests could lead to product liability claims if someone were to allege
that the tests failed to perform as they were designed. We may also be subject to liability for errors in the results we provide to
physicians or for a misunderstanding of, or inappropriate reliance upon, the information we provide. Our Afirma classifiers are
performed on FNA samples that are diagnosed as indeterminate by standard cytopathology review. We report results as benign or
suspicious to the prescribing physician. Under certain circumstances, we might report a result as benign that later proves to have
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been malignant. This could be the result of the physician having poor nodule sampling in collecting the FNA, performing the FNA
on a different nodule than the one that is malignant or failure of the classifier to perform as intended. We may also be subject to
similar types of claims related to our Percepta and Envisia tests, as well as tests we may develop in the future. A product liability or
errors and omissions liability claim could result in substantial damages and be costly and time consuming for us to defend. Although
we maintain product liability and errors and omissions insurance, we cannot assure you that our insurance would fully protect us
from the financial impact of defending against these types of claims or any judgments, fines or settlement costs arising out of any
such claims. Any product liability or errors and omissions liability claim brought against us, with or without merit, could increase
our insurance rates or prevent us from securing insurance coverage in the future. Additionally, any product liability lawsuit could
cause injury to our reputation or cause us to suspend sales of our products and solutions. The occurrence of any of these events could
have an adverse effect on our business and results of operations.
If a catastrophe strikes either of our laboratories or if either of our laboratories becomes inoperable for any other
reason, we will be unable to perform our testing services and our business will be harmed.
We perform all of the Afirma, Percepta and Envisia genomic classifier testing at our laboratory in South San Francisco,
California, near major earthquake faults known for seismic activity. Our laboratory in Austin, Texas accepts and stores substantially
all Afirma FNA samples pending transfer to our California laboratory for genomic test processing. The laboratories and equipment
we use to perform our tests would be costly to replace and could require substantial lead time to replace and qualify for use if they
became inoperable. Either of our facilities may be harmed or rendered inoperable by natural or man-made disasters, including
earthquakes, flooding and power outages, which may render it difficult or impossible for us to perform our testing services for some
period of time or to receive and store samples. The inability to perform our tests for even a short period of time may result in the loss
of customers or harm our reputation, and we may be unable to regain those customers in the future. Although we maintain insurance
for damage to our property and the disruption of our business, this insurance may not be sufficient to cover all of our potential losses
and may not continue to be available to us on acceptable terms, if at all.
Our inability to raise additional capital on acceptable terms in the future may limit our ability to develop and
commercialize new solutions and technologies and expand our operations.
We expect continued capital expenditures and operating losses over the next few years as we expand our infrastructure,
commercial operations and research and development activities. We may seek to raise additional capital through equity offerings,
debt financings, collaborations or licensing arrangements. Additional funding may not be available to us on acceptable terms, or at
all. If we raise funds by issuing equity securities, dilution to our stockholders could result. Any equity securities issued also may
provide for rights, preferences or privileges senior to those of holders of our common stock. The terms of debt securities issued or
borrowings could impose significant restrictions on our operations. The incurrence of additional indebtedness or the issuance of
certain equity securities could result in increased fixed payment obligations and could also result in restrictive covenants, such as
limitations on our ability to incur additional debt or issue additional equity, limitations on our ability to acquire or license intellectual
property rights, and other operating restrictions that could adversely affect our ability to conduct our business. Our current loan and
security agreement imposes restrictions on our operations, increases our fixed payment obligations, and has restrictive covenants. In
addition, the issuance of additional equity securities by us, or the possibility of such issuance, may cause the market price of our
common stock to decline. In the event that we enter into collaborations or licensing arrangements to raise capital, we may be
required to accept unfavorable terms. These agreements may require that we relinquish or license to a third-party on unfavorable
terms our rights to technologies or product candidates that we otherwise would seek to develop or commercialize ourselves, or
reserve certain opportunities for future potential arrangements when we might be able to achieve more favorable terms. If we are not
able to secure additional funding when needed, we may have to delay, reduce the scope of or eliminate one or more research and
development programs or selling and marketing initiatives. In addition, we may have to work with a partner on one or more of our
products or development programs, which could lower the economic value of those programs to our company.
Security breaches, loss of data and other disruptions to us or our third-party service providers could compromise
sensitive information related to our business or prevent us from accessing critical information and expose us to liability,
which could adversely affect our business and our reputation.
In the ordinary course of our business, we and our third-party service providers collect and store sensitive data, including
legally protected health information, personally identifiable information about our patients, credit card information, intellectual
property, and our proprietary business and financial information. We manage and maintain our applications and data utilizing a
combination of on-site systems, managed data center systems and cloud-based data center systems. We face a number of risks
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related to our protection of, and our service providers’ protection of, this critical information, including loss of access, inappropriate
disclosure and inappropriate access, as well as risks associated with our ability to identify and audit such events.
The secure processing, storage, maintenance and transmission of this critical information is vital to our operations and
business strategy, and we devote significant resources to protecting such information. Although we take measures to protect sensitive
information from unauthorized access or disclosure, our information technology and infrastructure may be vulnerable to attacks by
hackers or viruses or otherwise breached due to employee error, malfeasance or other activities. While we are not aware of any such
attack or breach, if such event would occur and cause interruptions in our operations, our networks would be compromised and the
information we store on those networks could be accessed by unauthorized parties, publicly disclosed, lost or stolen. Any such
access, disclosure or other loss of information could result in legal claims or proceedings, liability under federal, state, and
international laws that protect the privacy of personal information, such as HIPAA, and regulatory penalties. Unauthorized access,
loss or dissemination could also disrupt our operations, including our ability to process tests, provide test results, bill payers or
patients, process claims and appeals, provide customer assistance services, conduct research and development activities, collect,
process and prepare company financial information, provide information about our tests and other patient and physician education
and outreach efforts through our website, manage the administrative aspects of our business and damage our reputation, any of
which could adversely affect our business.
In addition, the interpretation and application of consumer, health-related and data protection laws in the United States,
Europe and elsewhere are often uncertain, contradictory and in flux. It is possible that these laws may be interpreted and applied in a
manner that is inconsistent with our practices. If so, this could result in government-imposed fines or orders requiring that we change
our practices, which could adversely affect our business. In addition, in October 2015, the European Court of Justice invalidated a
safe-harbor agreement between the United States and European Union member-states, which addressed how U.S. companies handle
personal information of European customers. On May 4, 2016, the European Commission published a new Regulation and a new
Directive regarding personal data privacy. The Regulation went into force on May 24, 2016 and shall apply beginning May 25,
2018. The Directive went into force on May 5, 2016 and EU member states must transpose it into their national law by May 6,
2018. As a result, we may need to modify the way we treat such information. Complying with these various laws could cause us to
incur substantial costs or require us to change our business practices, systems and compliance procedures in a manner adverse to our
business.
If we cannot license rights to use technologies on reasonable terms, we may not be able to commercialize new
products in the future.
In the future, we may license third-party technology to develop or commercialize new products. In return for the use of a
third-party’s technology, we may agree to pay the licensor royalties based on sales of our solutions. Royalties are a component of
cost of revenue and affect the margins on our solutions. We may also need to negotiate licenses to patents and patent applications
after introducing a commercial product. Our business may suffer if we are unable to enter into the necessary licenses on acceptable
terms, or at all, if any necessary licenses are subsequently terminated, if the licensors fail to abide by the terms of the license or fail
to prevent infringement by third parties, or if the licensed patents or other rights are found to be invalid or unenforceable.
If we are unable to protect our intellectual property effectively, our business would be harmed.
We rely on patent protection as well as trademark, copyright, trade secret and other intellectual property rights protection
and contractual restrictions to protect our proprietary technologies, all of which provide limited protection and may not adequately
protect our rights or permit us to gain or keep any competitive advantage. If we fail to protect our intellectual property, third parties
may be able to compete more effectively against us and we may incur substantial litigation costs in our attempts to recover or restrict
use of our intellectual property.
We apply for and in-license patents covering our products and technologies and uses thereof, as we deem appropriate,
however we may fail to apply for patents on important products and technologies in a timely fashion or at all, or we may fail to
apply for patents in potentially relevant jurisdictions. We have fifteen issued patents that expire between 2029 and 2032 related to
methods used in the Afirma diagnostic platform, in addition to fourteen pending U.S. utility patent applications, one pending Patent
Cooperation Treaty, or PCT, patent application and two U.S. provisional patent applications. Some of these U.S. utility patent
applications have pending foreign counterparts. We also exclusively licensed intellectual property, including rights to four issued
patents that will expire between 2030 and 2032, and three pending U.S. utility patent applications in the thyroid space that would
expire between 2030 and 2033 once issued, related to methods that are used in the Afirma diagnostic test, some of which have
foreign counterparts. In the lung diagnostic space, we have exclusively licensed intellectual property rights to thirteen pending patent
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applications and eight issued patents. Patents issuing from the licensed portfolio will expire between 2024 and 2028. In addition, we
own two pending U.S. provisional applications, a pending U.S. utility patent application and pending foreign counterpart patent
applications in Australia, Canada, China, Europe, Japan, and South Korea related to our Percepta test. We also own one U.S. patent
application and one counterpart European patent application related to another lung disease, and two pending U.S. patent
applications, five patent applications abroad, and one PCT patent application related to Envisia. Any patents granted from our
current lung cancer patent applications will expire no earlier than 2035 and those from the interstitial lung disease patent applications
will expire no earlier than 2034. It is possible that none of our pending patent applications will result in issued patents in a timely
fashion or at all, and even if patents are granted, they may not provide a basis for intellectual property protection of commercially
viable products, may not provide us with any competitive advantages, or may be challenged and invalidated by third parties. It is
possible that others will design around our current or future patented technologies. We may not be successful in defending any
challenges made against our patents or patent applications. Any successful third-party challenge to our patents could result in the
unenforceability or invalidity of such patents and increased competition to our business. The outcome of patent litigation can be
uncertain and any attempt by us to enforce our patent rights against others may not be successful, or, if successful, may take
substantial time and result in substantial cost, and may divert our efforts and attention from other aspects of our business.
The patent positions of life sciences companies can be highly uncertain and involve complex legal and factual questions for
which important legal principles remain unresolved. No consistent policy regarding the breadth of claims allowed in such
companies’ patents has emerged to date in the United States or elsewhere. Courts frequently render opinions in the biotechnology
field that may affect the patentability of certain inventions or discoveries, including opinions that may affect the patentability of
methods for analyzing or comparing nucleic acids.
In particular, the patent positions of companies engaged in the development and commercialization of genomic diagnostic
tests are particularly uncertain. Various courts, including the U.S. Supreme Court, have rendered decisions that affect the scope of
patentability of certain inventions or discoveries relating to certain diagnostic tests and related methods. These decisions state,
among other things, that patent claims that recite laws of nature (for example, the relationship between blood levels of certain
metabolites and the likelihood that a dosage of a specific drug will be ineffective or cause harm) are not themselves patentable. What
constitutes a law of nature is uncertain, and it is possible that certain aspects of genomic diagnostics tests would be considered
natural laws. Accordingly, the evolving case law in the United States may adversely affect our ability to obtain patents and may
facilitate third-party challenges to any owned and licensed patents.
The laws of some foreign countries do not protect intellectual property rights to the same extent as the laws of the United
States, and we may encounter difficulties protecting and defending such rights in foreign jurisdictions. The legal systems of many
other countries do not favor the enforcement of patents and other intellectual property protection, particularly those relating to
biotechnology, which could make it difficult for us to stop the infringement of our patents in such countries. Proceedings to enforce
our patent rights in foreign jurisdictions could result in substantial cost and divert our efforts and attention from other aspects of our
business.
Changes in either the patent laws or in interpretations of patent laws in the United States or other countries may diminish
the value of our intellectual property. We cannot predict the breadth of claims that may be allowed or enforced in our patents or in
third-party patents. We may not develop additional proprietary products, methods and technologies that are patentable.
In addition to pursuing patents on our technology, we take steps to protect our intellectual property and proprietary
technology by entering into agreements, including confidentiality agreements, non-disclosure agreements and intellectual property
assignment agreements, with our employees, consultants, academic institutions, corporate partners and, when needed, our advisors.
Such agreements may not be enforceable or may not provide meaningful protection for our trade secrets or other proprietary
information in the event of unauthorized use or disclosure or other breaches of the agreements, and we may not be able to prevent
such unauthorized disclosure. If we are required to assert our rights against such party, it could result in significant cost and
distraction.
Monitoring unauthorized disclosure is difficult, and we do not know whether the steps we have taken to prevent such
disclosure are, or will be, adequate. If we were to enforce a claim that a third-party had illegally obtained and was using our trade
secrets, it would be expensive and time consuming, and the outcome would be unpredictable. In addition, courts outside the United
States may be less willing to protect trade secrets.
We may also be subject to claims that our employees have inadvertently or otherwise used or disclosed trade secrets or
other proprietary information of their former employers, or to claims that we have improperly used or obtained such trade secrets.
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Litigation may be necessary to defend against these claims. If we fail in defending such claims, in addition to paying monetary
damages, we may lose valuable intellectual property rights and face increased competition to our business. A loss of key research
personnel work product could hamper or prevent our ability to commercialize potential products, which could harm our business.
Even if we are successful in defending against these claims, litigation could result in substantial costs and be a distraction to
management.
Further, competitors could attempt to replicate some or all of the competitive advantages we derive from our development
efforts, willfully infringe our intellectual property rights, design around our protected technology or develop their own competitive
technologies that fall outside of our intellectual property rights. Others may independently develop similar or alternative products
and technologies or replicate any of our products and technologies. If our intellectual property does not adequately protect us against
competitors’ products and methods, our competitive position could be adversely affected, as could our business.
We have not registered certain of our trademarks in all of our potential markets. If we apply to register these trademarks,
our applications may not be allowed for registration in a timely fashion or at all, and our registered trademarks may not be
maintained or enforced. In addition, opposition or cancellation proceedings may be filed against our trademark applications and
registrations, and our trademarks may not survive such proceedings. If we do not secure registrations for our trademarks, we may
encounter more difficulty in enforcing them against third parties than we otherwise would.
To the extent our intellectual property offers inadequate protection, or is found to be invalid or unenforceable, we would be
exposed to a greater risk of direct competition. If our intellectual property does not provide adequate coverage of our competitors’
products, our competitive position could be adversely affected, as could our business. Both the patent application process and the
process of managing patent disputes can be time consuming and expensive.
We may be involved in litigation related to intellectual property, which could be time-intensive and costly and may
adversely affect our business, operating results or financial condition.
We may receive notices of claims of direct or indirect infringement or misappropriation or misuse of other parties’
proprietary rights from time to time. Some of these claims may lead to litigation. We cannot assure you that we will prevail in such
actions, or that other actions alleging misappropriation or misuse by us of third-party trade secrets, infringement by us of third-party
patents and trademarks or other rights, or the validity of our patents, trademarks or other rights, will not be asserted or prosecuted
against us.
We might not have been the first to make the inventions covered by each of our pending patent applications and we might
not have been the first to file patent applications for these inventions. To determine the priority of these inventions, we may have to
participate in interference proceedings, derivation proceedings, or other post-grant proceedings declared by the U.S. Patent and
Trademark Office that could result in substantial cost to us. No assurance can be given that other patent applications will not have
priority over our patent applications. In addition, recent changes to the patent laws of the United States allow for various post-grant
opposition proceedings that have not been extensively tested, and their outcome is therefore uncertain. Furthermore, if third parties
bring these proceedings against our patents, we could experience significant costs and management distraction.
Litigation may be necessary for us to enforce our patent and proprietary rights or to determine the scope, coverage and
validity of the proprietary rights of others. The outcome of any litigation or other proceeding is inherently uncertain and might not be
favorable to us, and we might not be able to obtain licenses to technology that we require on acceptable terms or at all. Further, we
could encounter delays in product introductions, or interruptions in product sales, as we develop alternative methods or products. In
addition, if we resort to legal proceedings to enforce our intellectual property rights or to determine the validity, scope and coverage
of the intellectual property or other proprietary rights of others, the proceedings could be burdensome and expensive, even if we
were to prevail. Any litigation that may be necessary in the future could result in substantial costs and diversion of resources and
could have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results or financial condition.
As we move into new markets and applications for our products, incumbent participants in such markets may assert their
patents and other proprietary rights against us as a means of slowing our entry into such markets or as a means to extract substantial
license and royalty payments from us. Our competitors and others may now and, in the future, have significantly larger and more
mature patent portfolios than we currently have. In addition, future litigation may involve patent holding companies or other adverse
patent owners who have no relevant product revenue and against whom our own patents may provide little or no deterrence or
protection. Therefore, our commercial success may depend in part on our non-infringement of the patents or proprietary rights of
third parties. Numerous significant intellectual property issues have been litigated, and will likely continue to be litigated, between
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existing and new participants in our existing and targeted markets and competitors may assert that our products infringe their
intellectual property rights as part of a business strategy to impede our successful entry into or growth in those markets. Third parties
may assert that we are employing their proprietary technology without authorization. In addition, our competitors and others may
have patents or may in the future obtain patents and claim that making, having made, using, selling, offering to sell or importing our
products infringes these patents. We could incur substantial costs and divert the attention of our management and technical personnel
in defending against any of these claims. Parties making claims against us may be able to obtain injunctive or other relief, which
could block our ability to develop, commercialize and sell products, and could result in the award of substantial damages against us.
In the event of a successful claim of infringement against us, we may be required to pay damages and ongoing royalties, and obtain
one or more licenses from third parties, or be prohibited from selling certain products. We may not be able to obtain these licenses
on acceptable terms, if at all. We could incur substantial costs related to royalty payments for licenses obtained from third parties,
which could negatively affect our financial results. In addition, we could encounter delays in product introductions while we attempt
to develop alternative methods or products to avoid infringing third-party patents or proprietary rights. Defense of any lawsuit or
failure to obtain any of these licenses could prevent us from commercializing products, and the prohibition of sale of any of our
products could materially affect our business and our ability to gain market acceptance for our products.
Furthermore, because of the substantial amount of discovery required in connection with intellectual property litigation,
there is a risk that some of our confidential information could be compromised by disclosure during this type of litigation. In
addition, during the course of this kind of litigation, there could be public announcements of the results of hearings, motions or other
interim proceedings or developments. If securities analysts or investors perceive these results to be negative, it could have a
substantial adverse effect on the price of our common stock.
In addition, our agreements with some of our customers, suppliers or other entities with whom we do business require us to
defend or indemnify these parties to the extent they become involved in infringement claims, including the types of claims described
above. We could also voluntarily agree to defend or indemnify third parties in instances where we are not obligated to do so if we
determine it would be important to our business relationships. If we are required or agree to defend or indemnify third parties in
connection with any infringement claims, we could incur significant costs and expenses that could adversely affect our business,
operating results, or financial condition.
Our ability to use our net operating loss carryforwards may be limited and may result in increased future tax
liability to us.
We have incurred net losses since our inception and may never achieve profitability. As of our fiscal year ended December
31, 2017, we had U.S. federal and state net operating losses, or NOLs, of approximately $196.1 million and $91.8 million,
respectively. The federal and state NOL carryforwards will begin to expire, if not utilized, beginning in 2028. These NOL
carryforwards could expire unused and be unavailable to offset future income tax liabilities. Under the newly enacted federal income
tax law, federal NOLs incurred in tax years beginning after December 31, 2017 may be carried forward indefinitely, but the
deductibility of such federal NOLs is limited. It is uncertain if and to what extent various states will conform to the newly enacted
federal tax law.
To the extent that we continue to generate taxable losses, unused losses will carry forward to offset future taxable income, if
any, until such unused losses expire. We may be limited in the portion of NOL carryforwards that we can use in the future to offset
taxable income for U.S. federal and state income tax purposes, and federal tax credits to offset federal tax liabilities. Sections 382
and 383 of Internal Revenue Code limit the use of NOLs and tax credits after a cumulative change in corporate ownership of more
than 50% occurs within a three-year period. The limitation could prevent a corporation from using some or all its NOL and tax
credits before they expire within their normal 20-year lifespan, as it places a formula limit of how much NOL and tax credits a loss
corporation can use in a tax year. In the event we have undergone an ownership change under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue
Code, if we earn net taxable income, our ability to use our pre-change NOL carryforwards to offset U.S. federal taxable income may
become subject to limitations, which could potentially result in increased future tax liability to us.
Comprehensive tax reform bills could adversely affect our business and financial condition.
The U.S. government has recently enacted comprehensive tax legislation that includes significant changes to the taxation of
business entities. These changes include, among others, (i) a permanent reduction to the corporate income tax rate, (ii) a partial
limitation on the deductibility of business interest expense, (iii) a shift of the U.S. taxation of multinational corporations from a tax
on worldwide income to a territorial system (along with certain rules designed to prevent erosion of the U.S. income tax base) and
(iv) a one-time tax on accumulated offshore earnings held in cash and illiquid assets, with the latter taxed at a lower rate.
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Notwithstanding the reduction in the corporate income tax rate, the overall impact of this tax reform is uncertain, and our
business and financial condition could be adversely affected. In addition, it is uncertain if and to what extent various states will
conform to the newly enacted federal tax law.
If our goodwill or intangible assets become impaired, we may be required to record a significant charge to earnings.
We review our goodwill and intangible assets for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying
value may not be recoverable, such as declines in stock price, market capitalization, or cash flows and slower growth rates in our
industry. Goodwill is required to be tested for impairment at least annually. If we are required to record a significant charge in our
financial statements during the period in which any impairment of our goodwill or intangible assets is determined, that would
negatively affect our operating results.
Changes in financial accounting standards or practices may cause adverse, unexpected financial reporting fluctuations
and affect our reported operating results.
U.S. GAAP, is subject to interpretation by the Financial Accounting Standards Board, the Securities and Exchange
Commission, or the SEC, and various bodies formed to promulgate and interpret appropriate accounting principles. A change in
accounting standards or practices can have a significant effect on our reported results and may even affect our reporting of
transactions completed before the change is effective. New accounting pronouncements and varying interpretations of accounting
pronouncements have occurred and may occur in the future. Changes to existing rules or the questioning of current practices may
adversely affect our reported financial results or the way we conduct our business.
For example, the FASB and the International Accounting Standards Board are working to converge certain accounting
principles and facilitate more comparable financial reporting between companies that are required to follow U.S. GAAP and those
that are required to follow International Financial Reporting Standards, or IFRS. In connection with these initiatives, the FASB
issued new accounting standards for revenue recognition that replace most existing revenue recognition guidance. We have
completed our assessment of the new accounting standards for revenue recognition and believe that the adoption of this new
standard will not have a material impact on our financial reporting position or results of operations. The impact of the convergence
of U.S. GAAP and IFRS, if any, on our financial statements is uncertain and may not be known until additional rules are proposed
and adopted, which may or may not occur.
Our financial statements are subject to change and if our estimates or judgments relating to our critical accounting
policies prove to be incorrect, our operating results could be adversely affected.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the amounts reported in our financial statements and related notes. We base our estimates on historical
experience and on various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances, as provided in the section
titled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in this Annual Report on Form 10K. The results of these estimates form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets, liabilities, and equity, and
the amount of revenue and expenses that are not readily apparent from other sources. Critical accounting policies and estimates used
in preparing our financial statements include those related to revenue recognition, finite-lived intangible assets, goodwill, and stockbased compensation expense. Our operating results may be adversely affected if our assumptions change or if actual circumstances
differ from those in our assumptions, which could cause our operating results to fall below the expectations of securities analysts and
investors, resulting in a decline in the price of our common stock.
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Risks Related to Being a Public Company
We will continue to incur increased costs and demands on management as a result of compliance with laws and regulations
applicable to public companies, which could harm our operating results.
As a public company, we will continue to incur significant legal, accounting, consulting and other expenses that we did not
incur as a private company, including costs associated with public company reporting requirements. In addition, the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002 and the Dodd-Frank Act of 2010, as well as rules implemented by the SEC, and The Nasdaq Stock Market, impose a
number of requirements on public companies, including with respect to corporate governance practices. Our management and other
personnel will need to devote a substantial amount of time to these compliance and disclosure obligations. Moreover, these rules and
regulations have and will continue to increase our legal, accounting and financial compliance costs and make some activities more
complex, time-consuming and costly. We also expect that it will continue to be expensive for us to maintain director and officer
liability insurance.
If we are unable to implement and maintain effective internal control over financial reporting, investors may lose
confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our reported financial information and the market price of our common
stock may be negatively affected.
As a public company, we are required to maintain internal control over financial reporting and to report any material
weaknesses in such internal control. Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 requires that we evaluate and determine the
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting and provide a management report on our internal controls on an annual
basis. If we have material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting, we may not detect errors on a timely basis and
our financial statements may be materially misstated. We have only recently compiled the systems, processes and documentation
necessary to comply with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. We will need to maintain and enhance these processes and
controls as we grow, and we will require additional management and staff resources to do so. Additionally, even if we conclude our
internal controls are effective for a given period, we may in the future identify one or more material weaknesses in our internal
controls, in which case our management will be unable to conclude that our internal control over financial reporting is effective.
Moreover, when we are no longer an emerging growth company, our independent registered public accounting firm will be required
to issue an attestation report on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. Even if our management concludes
that our internal control over financial reporting is effective, our independent registered public accounting firm may conclude that
there are material weaknesses with respect to our internal controls or the level at which our internal controls are documented,
designed, implemented or reviewed.
If we are unable to conclude that our internal control over financial reporting is effective, or when we are no longer an
emerging growth company, if our auditors were to express an adverse opinion on the effectiveness of our internal control over
financial reporting because we had one or more material weaknesses, investors could lose confidence in the accuracy and
completeness of our financial disclosures, which could cause the price of our common stock to decline. Irrespective of compliance
with Section 404, any failure of our internal control over financial reporting could have a material adverse effect on our reported
operating results and harm our reputation. Internal control deficiencies could also result in a restatement of our financial results.
We are an emerging growth company and may elect to comply with reduced public company reporting requirements
applicable to emerging growth companies, which could make our common stock less attractive to investors.
We are an emerging growth company, as defined under the Securities Act of 1933, or the Securities Act. We will remain an
emerging growth company until December 31, 2018. As an emerging growth company, we may choose to take advantage of
exemptions from various reporting requirements applicable to certain other public companies, including not being required to
comply with the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, reduced disclosure obligations
regarding executive compensation in our periodic reports and proxy statements, and exemptions from the requirement of holding a
nonbinding advisory vote on executive compensation and obtaining stockholder approval of any golden parachute payments not
previously approved by our stockholders. However, we previously irrevocably elected not to avail ourselves of this exemption from
new or revised accounting standards and, therefore, will be subject to the same new or revised accounting standards as other public
companies that are not emerging growth companies. If some investors find our common stock less attractive as a result of any
choices to reduce future disclosure we may make, there may be a less active trading market for our common stock and our stock
price may be more volatile.
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Risks Related to Our Common Stock
Our stock price may be volatile, and you may not be able to sell shares of our common stock at or above the price you paid.
The trading price of our common stock is likely to continue to be highly volatile and could be subject to wide fluctuations
in response to various factors, some of which are beyond our control. These factors include:
•

actual or anticipated variations in our and our competitors’ results of operations;

•

announcements by us or our competitors of new products, commercial relationships or capital commitments;

•

changes in reimbursement by current or potential payers, including governmental payers;

•

issuance of new securities analysts’ reports or changed recommendations for our stock;

•

fluctuations in our revenue, due in part to the way in which we recognize revenue;

•

actual or anticipated changes in regulatory oversight of our products;

•

developments or disputes concerning our intellectual property or other proprietary rights;

•

commencement of, or our involvement in, litigation;

•

announced or completed acquisitions of businesses or technologies by us or our competitors;

•

any major change in our management; and

•

general economic conditions and slow or negative growth of our markets.

In addition, the stock market in general, and the market for stock of life sciences companies and other emerging growth
companies in particular, has experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations that have often been unrelated or disproportionate to
the operating performance of those companies. Broad market and industry factors may seriously affect the market price of our
common stock, regardless of our actual operating performance. These fluctuations may be even more pronounced if the trading
volume of our stock remains low. In addition, in the past, following periods of volatility in the overall market and the market price of
a particular company’s securities, securities class action litigation has often been instituted against these companies. This litigation,
if instituted against us, could result in substantial costs and a diversion of our management’s attention and resources.
If securities or industry analysts issue an adverse opinion regarding our stock or do not publish research or reports about
our company, our stock price and trading volume could decline.
The trading market for our common stock will depend in part on the research and reports that equity research analysts
publish about us, our business and our competitors. We do not control these analysts or the content and opinions or financial models
included in their reports. Securities analysts may elect not to provide research coverage of our company, and such lack of research
coverage may adversely affect the market price of our common stock. The price of our common stock could also decline if one or
more equity research analysts downgrade our common stock or if those analysts issue other unfavorable commentary or cease
publishing reports about us or our business. If one or more equity research analysts cease coverage of our company, we could lose
visibility in the market, which in turn could cause our stock price to decline.
Insiders have substantial control over us and will be able to influence corporate matters.
As of February 23, 2018, directors and executive officers and their affiliates beneficially owned, in the aggregate, 14% of
our outstanding capital stock. As a result, these stockholders will be able to exercise significant influence over all matters requiring
stockholder approval, including the election of directors and approval of significant corporate transactions, such as a merger or other
sale of our company or its assets. This concentration of ownership could limit stockholders’ ability to influence corporate matters
and may have the effect of delaying or preventing a third-party from acquiring control over us.
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Anti-takeover provisions in our charter documents and under Delaware law could discourage, delay or prevent a change in
control and may affect the trading price of our common stock.
Provisions in our restated certificate of incorporation and our amended and restated bylaws may have the effect of delaying
or preventing a change of control or changes in our management. Our restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated
bylaws include provisions that:
•

authorize our board of directors to issue, without further action by the stockholders, up to 5.0 million shares of
undesignated preferred stock;

•

require that any action to be taken by our stockholders be effected at a duly called annual or special meeting and not by
written consent;

•

specify that special meetings of our stockholders can be called only by our board of directors, our chairman of the
board, or our chief executive officer;

•

establish an advance notice procedure for stockholder approvals to be brought before an annual meeting of our
stockholders, including proposed nominations of persons for election to our board of directors;

•

establish that our board of directors is divided into three classes, Class I, Class II and Class III, with each class serving
staggered terms;

•

provide that our directors may be removed only for cause;

•

provide that vacancies on our board of directors may, except as otherwise required by law, be filled only by a majority
of directors then in office, even if less than a quorum;

•

specify that no stockholder is permitted to cumulate votes at any election of directors; and

•

require a super-majority of votes to amend certain of the above-mentioned provisions.

In addition, we are subject to the provisions of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law regulating corporate
takeovers. Section 203 generally prohibits us from engaging in a business combination with an interested stockholder subject to
certain exceptions.
We have never paid dividends on our capital stock, and we do not anticipate paying dividends in the foreseeable future.
We have never paid dividends on any of our capital stock and currently intend to retain any future earnings to fund the
growth of our business. In addition, our loan and security agreement restricts our ability to pay cash dividends on our common stock
and we may also enter into credit agreements or other borrowing arrangements in the future that will restrict our ability to declare or
pay cash dividends on our common stock. Any determination to pay dividends in the future will be at the discretion of our board of
directors and will depend on our financial condition, operating results, capital requirements, general business conditions and other
factors that our board of directors may deem relevant. As a result, capital appreciation, if any, of our common stock will be the sole
source of gain for the foreseeable future.
ITEM 1B.

UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.
ITEM 2.

PROPERTIES

On April 29, 2015, we signed a non-cancelable lease agreement for approximately 59,000 square feet to serve as our South
San Francisco, California headquarters and laboratory. The lease began in June 2015 and ends in March 2026, and contains
extension of lease term and expansion options. Certain expansion options were waived by the Company on February 8, 2017 in
exchange for consideration of $500,000. We also lease approximately 10,400 square feet of office and laboratory space in Austin,
Texas, under a lease that expires in January 2029 and includes options for expansion and early termination in 2025.
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ITEM 3.

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are not currently a party to any material legal proceedings. We may from time to time become involved in legal
proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business.
ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURE
Not applicable.
EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT
Our executive officers and their ages and positions as of February 23, 2018, are as set forth below:
Name

Age

Position

Bonnie H. Anderson

59

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Keith S. Kennedy

48

Chief Financial Officer

Christopher M. Hall

49

President and Chief Operating Officer

Bonnie H. Anderson has served as our Chief Executive Officer and as a member of our board of directors since February 2008.
From August 2013 to February 2017, she also served as our President, and in December 2016, she was appointed Chairman of our
board of directors. Prior to joining us, Ms. Anderson was an independent strategic consultant from April 2006 to January 2008,
including as a strategic consultant for us from July 2007 to January 2008. Ms. Anderson was a Vice President at Beckman
Coulter, Inc., a manufacturer of biomedical testing instrument systems, tests and supplies, from September 2000 to March 2006. She
currently serves as a director of Castle Biosciences, Inc. and as a trustee emeritus of the Keck Graduate Institute of Applied Life
Sciences. Ms. Anderson holds a B.S. in Medical Technology from Indiana University of Pennsylvania.
Keith S. Kennedy, has served as our Chief Financial Officer since December 2016. Prior to joining us, Mr. Kennedy provided
strategic counsel and consulting services from his consulting practice from September 2015 to November 2016, including advisory
services to Pennant Park Investment Advisors. From February 2012 to August 2015, Mr. Kennedy served at MCG Capital
Corporation, a commercial finance company, as President and Chief Executive Officer from April 2014 to August 2015, as Chief
Financial Officer, Chief Accounting Officer and Treasurer from May 2012 to March 2014 and as Executive Vice President and
Managing Director from February 2012 to May 2012. From May 2011 to February 2012, Mr. Kennedy served as an Executive-inResidence at Arlington Capital Partners. From October 2009 to April 2011, Mr. Kennedy pursued principal investing, including
serving as Executive-in-Residence at J.I. Kislak, Inc from March 2010 to September 2010. From October 2002 to September 2009,
Mr. Kennedy served as Managing Director at GE Capital, Inc. From September 1999 to October 2002, Mr. Kennedy worked as a
manager of transaction services at Ernst & Young LLP. Mr. Kennedy served in the U.S. Air Force from December 1992 to
December 1996. Mr. Kennedy holds a B.S. in Accounting with high distinction from Indiana University and holds an M.B.A. from
the College of William & Mary. Mr. Kennedy is a chartered financial analyst and certified public accountant.
Christopher M. Hall has served as our Chief Operating Officer since September 2014 and in February 2017, he was appointed
as our President. Mr. Hall served as our Chief Commercial Officer from March 2010 to September 2014. Prior to joining us,
Mr. Hall served as Chief Business Officer of Celera Corporation, a diagnostics company focusing on personalized disease
management, from October 2008 to February 2010. From August 2002 to February 2010, Mr. Hall served in various executive and
senior positions at Berkeley HeartLab, Inc., a cardiovascular disease management company that was acquired by Celera in October
2007, including Chief Clinical Operations Officer and Vice President of Marketing. Mr. Hall holds a B.A. in Economics and Political
Science from DePauw University and an M.B.A. from Harvard Business School.
PART II
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES
Market Information
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Our common stock commenced trading on the Nasdaq Global Market under the symbol "VCYT" on October 30, 2013. Prior to
that time, there was no public market for our common stock. The following table sets forth the high and low sales prices of our
common stock, on a per share basis, as reported by the Nasdaq Global Market, for the periods indicated:
High

Low

2017
Fourth Quarter

$

9.80 $

5.75

Third Quarter

$

8.90 $

7.50

Second Quarter

$

9.30 $

7.15

First Quarter

$

9.71 $

7.03

Fourth Quarter

$

8.45 $

5.82

Third Quarter

$

7.96 $

4.83

Second Quarter

$

5.98 $

4.81

First Quarter

$

7.31 $

4.21

2016

As of February 23, 2018, there were approximately 27 holders of record of our common stock. However, because many of our
outstanding shares are held in accounts with brokers and other institutions, we have more beneficial owners.
Dividend Policy
We have never declared or paid dividends on our common stock and do not expect to pay dividends on our common stock for
the foreseeable future. Instead, we anticipate that all of our earnings in the foreseeable future will be used for the operation and
growth of our business. Any future determination to declare dividends will be subject to the discretion of our board of directors and
will depend on various factors, including applicable laws, our results of operations, financial condition, future prospects, and any
other factors deemed relevant by our board of directors. In addition, the terms of our credit agreement restrict our ability to pay
dividends on our common stock, and we may also enter into credit agreements or other borrowing arrangements in the future that
will further restrict our ability to declare or pay dividends on our common stock.
Stock Performance Graph
The following information is not deemed to be "soliciting material" or to be "filed" with the Securities and Exchange
Commission or subject to Regulation 14A or 14C under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the "Exchange Act", or
to the liabilities of Section 18 of the Exchange Act, and will not be deemed to be incorporated by reference into any filing under the
Securities Act or the Exchange Act, except to the extent we specifically incorporate it by reference into such a filing.
The graph below shows the cumulative total stockholder return (change in stock price plus reinvested dividends) assuming the
investment of $100.00 on the date specified in each of our common stock, the Nasdaq Global Market Index, and the Nasdaq
Biotechnology Index for the period commencing on October 30, 2013 (the first day of trading of our common stock) and ending on
December 31, 2017. The comparisons in the table are required by the SEC and are not intended to forecast or be indicative of future
performance of our common stock.
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Comparison of Cumulative Total Stockholder Return
Comparison of Cumulative Total Stockholder Return

$190
$190
$170
$170
$150
$150
$130
$130
$110
$110
$90
$70
$50
$30

$90
$70
$50
$30

Veracyte
Veracyte

October 30,
2013

NASDAQ Composite
NASDAQ Composite

December 31,
2013

December 31,
2014

NASDAQ Biotech
NASDAQ Biotech

December 31,
2015

December 31,
2016

December 31,
2017

Veracyte, Inc.

$

100.00 $

109.00 $

73.00 $

54.00 $

58.00 $

49.00

Nasdaq Global Market Index

$

100.00 $

107.00 $

121.00 $

128.00 $

137.00 $

176.00

Nasdaq Biotechnology Index

$

100.00 $

111.00 $

148.00 $

165.00 $

129.00 $

157.00

ITEM 6.

SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The information set forth below should be read in conjunction with "Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations" and our audited financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this
annual report. The selected balance sheet data at December 31, 2017 and 2016 and the selected statements of operations data for
each of the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 have been derived from our audited financial statements that are
included elsewhere in this report. The selected balance sheet data at December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013 and the selected statements
of operations data for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 have been derived from our audited financial statements not
included in this report. The financial data are historical and are not necessarily indicative of results to be expected in any future
period (in thousands, except share and per share data and genomic classifiers reported):
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Year Ended December 31,
2017

2016

2015

2014

2013

Statements of Operations Data:
Revenue

$

71,953 $

65,085 $

49,503 $

38,190 $

21,884

Cost of revenue(1)

28,195

25,462

21,497

16,606

12,607

Research and development(1)

13,881

15,324

12,796

9,804

7,810

Operating expenses:

Selling and

marketing(1)

32,260

28,248

25,293

21,932

12,540

administrative(1)

23,088

23,787

22,583

18,854

12,100

Intangible asset amortization

1,067

1,067

800

—

—

98,491

93,888

82,969

67,196

45,057

(26,538)

(28,803)

(33,466)

(29,006)

(23,173)

(4,941)

(2,757)

(378)

(439)

(233)

72

General and

Total operating

expenses(1)

Loss from operations
Interest expense
Other income (expense), net

476

202

140

(2,174)

Net loss and comprehensive loss

$

(31,003) $

(31,358) $

(33,704) $

(29,373) $

(25,580)

Net loss per common share, basic and diluted

$

(0.91) $

(1.09) $

(1.30) $

(1.36) $

(6.15)

Shares used in computing net loss per common
share, basic and diluted
Other Operating Data:
Reported genomic test volume

33,925,617

28,830,472

25,994,193

21,639,374

4,158,664

26,026

23,237

19,421

14,061

9,716

_____________________________________________

(1) Includes employee stock-based compensation as follows:
Year Ended December 31,
2017

Cost of revenue

$

2016

133 $

2015

126 $

2014

100 $

2013

51 $

34

Research and development

1,495

1,322

1,178

790

250

Selling and marketing

1,899

1,594

1,326

707

169

General and administrative

3,090

3,336

2,998

2,000

794

6,617 $

6,378 $

5,602 $

3,548 $

Total stock-based compensation

$

1,247

Balance Sheets Data:
As of December 31,
2017

Cash and cash equivalents

2015

2014

2013

33,891 $

59,219 $

39,084 $

35,014 $

71,220

Working capital

41,900

62,093

33,192

26,203

61,019

Total assets

78,669

101,034

75,247

64,839

79,630

(211,087)

(180,084)

(148,726)

(115,022)

(85,649)

37,225

59,581

51,252

41,374

56,443

Accumulated deficit
Total stockholders' equity

$

2016
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS
The following discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations should be read together with the financial
statements and the related notes included in Item 8 of Part II of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. This discussion and analysis
contains certain forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results may differ materially from those
discussed below. Factors that could cause or contribute to such differences include, but are not limited to, those identified below and
those set forth under the section entitled "Risk Factors" in Item 1A, and other documents we file with the Securities and Exchange
Commission. Historical results are not necessarily indicative of future results.
Overview
We are a leading genomic diagnostics company that provides trustworthy and actionable answers that fundamentally improve
patient care when current diagnostic test results are uncertain. Our products uniquely combine genomic technology, clinical science
and machine learning to provide answers that give physicians and patients a clear path forward without the need for risky, costly
surgery that is often unnecessary.
The role of genomic information in medical practice is evolving rapidly and has affected the diagnosis of disease as well as
treatment decisions. Over the past decade, molecular diagnostic tests that analyze genomic material from tissue samples have
emerged as an important complement to evaluations performed by pathologists. Information at the molecular level enables one to
understand and identify more fully the makeup and specific subtype of disease to improve diagnosis. In many cases, the genomic
information derived from these samples can help guide treatment decisions as part of the standard of care.
We deploy machine learning algorithms, which leverage comprehensive RNA expression data, to develop tests for the
improvement of diagnostic clarity for cancer and other diseases. In our thyroid and lung indications, diagnosis can be ambiguous in
15-70% of patients undergoing diagnostic evaluation depending on the indication. Our tests provide clarity of diagnosis that can in
turn guide treatment decisions in 40-70% of those cases, eliminating costly, risky surgeries and other unnecessary medical
procedures, improving the lives of patients and saving the healthcare system money.
Since our founding in 2008, we have commercialized three genomic classifiers that we believe are transforming diagnostics:
the next-generation Afirma Genomic Sequencing Classifier, or GSC, and its predecessor, the Afirma Gene Expression Classifier, or
GEC, for thyroid cancer; the Percepta Bronchial Genomic Classifier for lung cancer; and the Envisia Genomic Classifier for
idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis, or IPF. Collectively, we believe these three tests address a $2 billion global market opportunity.
The published evidence supporting our tests demonstrates the robustness of our science and clinical studies. Patients and
physicians can access our full list of publications on our website. Over 30 clinical studies covering our products have been
published, including two landmark clinical validation papers published in The New England Journal of Medicine for the Afirma and
Percepta classifiers, respectively. We continue to build upon our extensive library of clinical evidence. We also expect to continue
expanding our offerings in thyroid cancer, lung cancer and interstitial lung diseases such as IPF, as well as other indications that we
believe will benefit from our technology and approach.
We believe our focus on developing clinically useful tests that change patient care is enabling us to set new standards in
genomic test reimbursement. Our Afirma genomic classifier is now covered by every major health plan in the United States,
covering more than 275 million people, for use in thyroid cancer diagnosis. It is available as an in-network, contracted offering to
more than 175 million people nationwide through their insurers. Our second commercial product, the Percepta classifier, is the first
genomic test to gain Medicare coverage for improved lung cancer screening and diagnosis, making it a covered benefit for more than
60 million people.
Fourth Quarter and Full-Year 2017 Financial Results
For the three- and twelve-month periods ended December 31, 2017, compared to the prior year:
Revenue was $19.6 million and $72.0 million, respectively, an increase of 7% and 11%;
• Genomic Volume was 7,153 and 26,026 reported tests, respectively, an increase of 13% and 12%;
• Gross Margin was 60% and 61%, respectively, a decline of 4% and flat to prior year;
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•
•
•
•
•

Operating Expenses, Excluding Cost of Revenue, were $17.9 million and $70.3 million, respectively, an increase of 16%
and 3%;
Net Loss and Comprehensive Loss was ($8.4) million and ($31.0) million, respectively, an increase of 92% and decrease of
1%;
Basic and Diluted Net Loss Per Common Share was ($0.24) and ($0.91), respectively, an increase of 71% and decrease of
17%;
Cash Burn was $6.1 million and $25.2 million, respectively, an increase of 31% and improvement of 22%; and
Cash and Cash Equivalents was $33.9 million at December 31, 2017.

To supplement our financial statements prepared in accordance with U. S. GAAP, we monitor and consider cash burn, which is
a non-U.S. GAAP financial measure. This non-U.S. GAAP financial measure is not based on any standardized methodology
prescribed by U.S. GAAP and is not necessarily comparable to similarly-titled measures presented by other companies. We define
cash burn as net cash used in operating activities plus net capital expenditures, such as net purchases of property and equipment. We
believe cash burn to be a liquidity measure that provides useful information to management and investors about the amount of cash
consumed by the operations of the business, including our purchases of property and equipment. A limitation of using this non-U.S.
GAAP measure is that cash burn does not represent the total change in cash and cash equivalents for the period because it excludes
cash provided by or used for other investing and financing activities. We account for this limitation by providing information about
our capital expenditures and other investing and financing activities in the statements of cash flows in our financial statements and
by presenting cash flows from investing and financing activities in our reconciliation of cash burn. In addition, it is important to note
that other companies, including companies in our industry, may not use cash burn, may calculate cash burn in a different manner
than we do or may use other financial measures to evaluate their performance, all of which could reduce the usefulness of cash burn
as a comparative measure.
Because of these limitations, cash burn should not be considered in isolation from, or as a substitute for, financial information
prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. The reconciliation of cash burn to net cash used in operating activities is provided in the
table below (in thousands of dollars):
Three Months Ended December 31,
2017
Net cash used in operating activities

$

Plus purchases of property and equipment

Year Ended December 31,

2016

(5,816)

$

2017

(4,232)

(300)

(450)

—

—

Less proceeds from the sale of property and equipment

$

2016

(23,915)

$

(1,755)

(27,982)
(4,210)

440

—

Cash burn

$

(6,116)

$

(4,682)

$

(25,230)

$

(32,192)

Net cash used in investing activities

$

(300)

$

(450)

$

(1,195)

$

(4,212)

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities

$

(1,188)

$

$

(218)

$

52,329

32,202

2017 and Recent Business Highlights
Commercial Expansion:
•
•

•

•

In January 2018, achieved the milestone of 100,000 Afirma tests performed to date, with an estimated 40,000 unnecessary
thyroid surgeries saved, penetrating the market by an estimated 35%.
Launched the next-generation Afirma Genomic Sequencing Classifier on our RNA sequencing platform, further improving
the test’s performance and expanding our comprehensive biorepository of genomic content to fuel future product
innovation.
Announced upcoming launch of the Afirma Xpression Atlas platform, providing physicians the most comprehensive
genomic data available in a single assay to further inform surgery and treatment decisions for patients with suspected
thyroid cancer.
During the year, structured and significantly expanded our multi-product sales team by over 40% during the year, in
preparation for driving Percepta growth in 2018.

Reimbursement Progress:
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•

Expanded the number of covered lives for Afirma by 70 million during 2017, bringing the total number of patients covered
for the genomic test through their health insurers to over 275 million, including nearly 120 million Blues plan members, as
of December 31, 2017.
Expanded the number of contracted lives for Afirma by nearly 20 million during 2017, making the test an in-network
covered benefit for over 175 million people, including nearly 45 million Blues plan members, as of December 31, 2017.
Gained final Medicare coverage for Percepta through the MolDX program in May 2017, making it the first genomic test to
be covered for use in lung cancer screening and diagnosis. The test is now available as a covered benefit for the nearly 60
million Medicare enrollees nationwide.
Achieved Medicare pricing stability and transparency for Afirma through the Protecting Access to Medicare Act of 2014
(PAMA) implementation in January 2018, resulting in an increased reimbursement rate of approximately $3,600 per test
from approximately $3,200 per test.
Completed the package of clinical evidence needed to target Medicare coverage for the Envisia Genomic Classifier in
2018.

•
•

•

•

Evidence Development:
•

Afirma - Presented 14 Afirma abstracts at four medical conferences, including four clinical utility studies
demonstrating the long-term durability of a benign genomic test result during up to six years of follow-up and seven
studies showing the enhanced Afirma GSC’s ability to identify significantly more benign thyroid nodules than the
original Afirma test.
Percepta - Presented three studies at major medical meetings demonstrating the clinical utility of the Percepta classifier
and published a study in the Journal of Thoracic Oncology demonstrating the genomic test’s cost-effectiveness.
Envisia - Presented five abstracts at leading pulmonology meetings and published three studies demonstrating the
clinical validity, clinical utility and/or analytical verification of the Envisia classifier.

•
•

Factors Affecting Our Performance
Reported Genomic Test Volume
Our performance depends on the number of genomic tests that we perform and report as completed in our CLIA laboratories.
Factors impacting the number of tests that we report as completed include, but are not limited to:
•
•
•
•
•
•

•

the number of samples that we receive that meet the medical indication for each test performed;
the quantity and quality of the sample received;
receipt of the necessary documentation, such as physician order and patient consent, required to perform, bill and collect
for our tests;
the patient's ability to pay or provide necessary insurance coverage for the tests performed;
the time it takes us to perform our tests and report the results;
the seasonality inherent in our business, such as the impact of work days per period, timing of industry conferences and
the timing of when patient deductibles are exceeded, which also impacts the reimbursement we receive from insurers;
and
our ability to obtain prior authorization or meet other requirements instituted by payers, benefit managers, or regulators
necessary to be paid for our tests.

We generate substantially all our revenue from genomic testing services, including the rendering of a cytopathology diagnosis
as part of the Afirma solution. We do not accrue revenue for tests performed and reported that do not meet our accrual criteria. For
the Afirma classifier, we do not accrue revenue for approximately 5%-10% of the tests that we perform and report as complete due
principally to insufficient RNA from which to render a result and tests performed for which we do not reasonably expect to be paid.
Revenue from Percepta has not been significant for the year ended December 31, 2017. For tests that we perform that do not meet
our accrual criteria, we recognize revenue upon cash receipt.
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Continued Adoption of and Reimbursement for our Products
Revenue growth depends on our ability to secure coverage decisions, achieve broader reimbursement at increased levels from
third-party payers, expand our base of prescribing physicians and increase our penetration in existing accounts. Because some payers
consider our products experimental and investigational, we may not receive payment for tests and payments we receive may not be
at acceptable levels. We expect our revenue growth will increase as more payers make a positive coverage decision and as payers
enter into contracts with us, which should enhance our accrued revenue and cash collections. To drive increased adoption of our
products, we increased our sales force over the last several years, along with increasing our marketing efforts. Our sales team is
structured to sell all of our products; we do not maintain a separate sales force for each product. If we are unable to expand the base
of prescribing physicians and penetration within these accounts at an acceptable rate, or if we are not able to execute our strategy for
increasing reimbursement, we may not be able to effectively increase our revenue. We expect to continue to see pressure from
payers to limit the utilization of tests, generally, and we believe more payers are deploying cost containment tactics, such as preauthorization and employing laboratory benefit managers to reduce utilization rates.
How We Recognize Revenue
We recognize revenue on an accrual basis when we are able to make a reasonable estimate of reimbursement at the time
delivery is complete. In the first period in which revenue is accrued for a particular payer or test, there generally is a one-time
increase in revenue. Until we have contracts with payers or can reasonably estimate the amount that will ultimately be received, we
recognize the related revenue on the cash basis. As we commercialize new products, we will need to be able to make a reasonable
estimate of the amount that will ultimately be received from each payer for each new product offering prior to being able to
recognize the related revenue on an accrual basis. Because the timing and amount of cash payments received from payers as well as
one-time increases in revenue from newly accrued payers are difficult to predict, we expect that our revenue may fluctuate
significantly in any given quarter.
As of December 31, 2017, cumulative amounts billed at list price for tests processed which were not recognized as revenue
upon delivery of a patient report because our accrual revenue recognition criteria were not met and for which we have not collected
cash or written off as uncollectible, totaled approximately $159.3 million.
As of December 31, 2016, cumulative amounts billed at list price for tests processed which were not recognized as revenue
upon delivery of a patient report because our accrual revenue recognition criteria were not met and for which we have not collected
cash or written off as uncollectible, totaled $161.2 million. Of this amount, we recognized revenue of approximately $2.5 million for
the year ended December 31, 2017, respectively, when cash was received.
Generally, cash we receive is collected within 12 months of the date the test is billed. We cannot provide any assurance as to
when, if ever, or to what extent any of these amounts will be collected. Notwithstanding our efforts to obtain payment for these tests,
payers may deny our claims, in whole or in part, and we may never receive revenue from previously performed but unpaid tests.
Revenue from these tests, if any, may not be equal to the billed amount due to a number of factors, including differences in
reimbursement rates, the amounts of patient co-payments and co-insurance, the existence of secondary payers and claims denials.
Finally, when we increase our list price, it will increase the cumulative amounts billed. In addition, payer contracts generally include
the right of offset and payers may offset payments prior to resolving disputes over tests performed.
Generally, we calculate the average Afirma genomic classifier reimbursement from all payers, whether they are on the cash or
an accrual basis, for tests that are on average a year old, since it can take a significant period of time to collect from some payers.
Except in situations where we believe the rate we reasonably expect to collect to vary due to a coverage decision, contract, more
recent reimbursement data or evidence to the contrary, we use an average of reimbursement for tests provided over four quarters as it
reduces the effects of temporary volatility and seasonal effects. Thus, the average reimbursement per Afirma genomic classifier
represents the total cash collected to date against Afirma genomic classifier tests performed during the relevant period divided by the
number of these tests performed during that same period.
The average Afirma genomic classifier reimbursement rate will change over time due to a number of factors, including medical
coverage decisions by payers, the effects of contracts signed with payers, changes in allowed amounts by payers, our ability to
successfully win appeals for payment, and our ability to collect cash payments from third-party payers and individual patients.
Historical average reimbursement is not necessarily indicative of future average reimbursement. Our average reimbursement per
GEC was approximately $2,500 for the quarter ended December 31, 2017 as compared with approximately $2,300 for the same
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period in 2016. The average quarterly reimbursement ranged from $2,300 to $2,500 in 2017 as compared to a range of $2,100 to
$2,300 in 2016.
From the fourth quarter of 2016 to the fourth quarter of 2017, we accrued between $1.7 million and $2.6 million in revenue per
quarter from providing cytopathology services associated with our Afirma solution.
We incur expense for tests in the period in which the test is conducted and recognize revenue for tests in the period in which
our revenue recognition criteria are met. Accordingly, any revenue that we recognize as a result of cash collection in respect of
previously performed but unpaid tests will favorably impact our liquidity and results of operations in future periods.
Development of Additional Products
We currently rely on sales of Afirma to generate most of our revenue. In May 2014, we commercially launched our Afirma
Malignancy Classifiers, which we believe enhances our Afirma Thyroid FNA Analysis as a comprehensive way to manage thyroid
nodule patients and serve our current base of prescribing physicians. The Malignancy Classifiers call out BRAF mutations and
Medullary Thyroid Cancer (MTC). Knowledge that a patient has a BRAF mutation or has MTC may change the extent of surgery
done and is valuable pre-operatively. We are also pursuing development or acquisition of products for additional diseases to increase
and diversify our revenue. We launched the Percepta classifier in April 2015. Additionally, in October 2016, we introduced a solution
for diagnosing interstitial lung disease, our Envisia Genomic Classifier, that will offer an alternative to surgery by developing a
genomic signature to classify samples collected through less invasive bronchoscopy techniques. We also recently commercialized
the Afirma Genomic Sequencing Classifier, or GSC, the next generation test for thyroid cancer. The Afirma GSC uniquely combines
RNA sequencing and machine learning to leverage more enriched, previously undetectable genomic information. We expect to
continue to invest heavily in research and development in order to expand the capabilities of our solutions and to develop additional
products. Our success in developing or acquiring new products will be important in our efforts to grow our business by expanding
the potential market for our products and diversifying our sources of revenue.
Timing of Our Research and Development Expenses
We deploy state-of-the-art and costly genomic technologies in our biomarker discovery experiments, and our spending on these
technologies may vary substantially from quarter to quarter. We also spend a significant amount to secure clinical samples that can
be used in discovery and product development as well as clinical validation studies. The timing of these research and development
activities is difficult to predict, as is the timing of sample acquisitions. If a substantial number of clinical samples are acquired in a
given quarter or if a high-cost experiment is conducted in one quarter versus the next, the timing of these expenses can affect our
financial results. We conduct clinical studies to validate our new products as well as on-going clinical studies to further the published
evidence to support our commercialized tests. As these studies are initiated, start-up costs for each site can be significant and
concentrated in a specific quarter. Spending on research and development, for both experiments and studies, may vary significantly
by quarter depending on the timing of these various expenses.
Impact of Genzyme Co-promotion Agreement
From January 2012 through September 9, 2016, we were party to a Co-Promotion Agreement with Genzyme to market the
Afirma solution in the United States. The agreement required that we pay a certain percentage of our cash receipts from the sale of
the Afirma solution to Genzyme, which percentage decreased over time. We received a $10.0 million upfront co-promotion fee from
Genzyme under the Co-Promotion Agreement, which we deferred and amortized over the life of the agreement until the agreement
was terminated effective September 9, 2016. The final payments totaling $4.0 million under the Agreement were made in September
2016.
Under an ex-U.S. agreement with Genzyme, we agreed to pay Genzyme 25% of net revenue from the sale of the Afirma
solution in Brazil and Singapore over a five-year period commencing January 1, 2015. Effective July 6, 2017, the agreement was
terminated and payments made under this agreement for all periods presented were not material.
Financial Overview
Revenue
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Through December 31, 2017, we have derived most of our revenue from the sale of Afirma. To date, Afirma has been delivered
primarily to physicians in the United States. We generally invoice third-party payers upon delivery of a patient report to the
prescribing physician. As such, we take the assignment of benefits and the risk of cash collection from the third-party payer and
individual patients. Third-party payers in excess of 10% of revenue and their related revenue as a percentage of total revenue were as
follows:
Year Ended December 31,
2017

2016

2015

Medicare

26%

27%

26%

UnitedHealthcare

14%

12%

14%

40%

39%

40%

For tests performed, we recognize the related revenue upon delivery of a patient report to the prescribing physician based on
the amount that we expect to ultimately receive. We determine the amount we expect to ultimately receive based on a per payer, per
contract or agreement basis. Upon ultimate collection, the amount received where reimbursement was estimated is compared to
previous estimates and the amount accrued is adjusted accordingly. In other situations, where we cannot reasonably estimate the
amount that will be ultimately received, we recognize revenue on the cash basis. Our ability to increase our revenue will depend on
our ability to penetrate the market, obtain positive coverage policies from additional third-party payers, obtain reimbursement and/or
enter into contracts with additional third-party payers for our current and new tests, and increase reimbursement rates for tests
performed. Finally, should we recognize revenue on an accrual basis and later determine the judgments underlying estimated
reimbursement change, our financial results could be negatively impacted in future quarters.
Cost of Revenue
The components of our cost of revenue are laboratory expenses, sample collection expenses, compensation expense, license
fees and royalties, depreciation and amortization, other expenses such as equipment and laboratory supplies, and allocations of
facility and information technology expenses. Costs associated with performing tests are recorded as the test is processed regardless
of whether and when revenue is recognized with respect to that test. As a result, our cost of revenue as a percentage of revenue may
vary significantly from period to period because we do not recognize all revenue in the period in which the associated costs are
incurred. We expect cost of revenue in absolute dollars to increase as the number of tests we perform increases. However, we expect
that the cost per test will decrease over time due to leveraging fixed costs, efficiencies we may gain as test volume increases and
from automation, process efficiencies and other cost reductions. As we introduce new tests, initially our cost of revenue will be high
as we expect to run suboptimal batch sizes, run quality control batches, test batches, registry samples and generally incur costs that
may suppress or reduce gross margins. This will increase disproportionately our aggregate cost of revenue until we achieve
efficiencies in processing these new tests.
Research and Development
Research and development expenses include expenses incurred to develop our technology, collect clinical samples and conduct
clinical studies to develop and support our products. These expenses consist of compensation expenses, direct research and
development expenses such as prototype materials, laboratory supplies and costs associated with setting up and conducting clinical
studies at domestic and international sites, professional fees, depreciation and amortization, other miscellaneous expenses and
allocation of facility and information technology expenses. We expense all research and development costs in the periods in which
they are incurred. We expect to incur significant research and development expenses as we continue to invest in research and
development activities related to developing additional products and evaluating various platforms. We incurred research and
development expenses in 2016 for the development and launch of Envisia and for the continued development and support of the
Afirma and Percepta tests. We incurred research and development expenses on ongoing evidence development for our Afirma,
Percepta and Envisia classifiers in 2017, and expect to continue doing so in 2018.
Selling and Marketing
Selling and marketing expenses consist of compensation expenses, direct marketing expenses, professional fees, other
expenses such as travel and communications costs and allocation of facility and information technology expenses. In addition, copromotion fees paid to Genzyme, net of amortization of the upfront fee received, are included in selling and marketing expenses
through the September 9, 2016 termination date of our U.S. co-promotion agreement. We have expanded our internal sales force and
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increased our marketing spending as we transitioned out of the Genzyme relationship, with these costs offset by the elimination of
the co-promotion fee. We have also incurred increased selling and marketing expense as a result of investments in our lung product
portfolio and believe total selling and marketing expenses will continue to increase as we launch and promote our new tests.
General and Administrative
General and administrative expenses include compensation expenses for certain executive officers and administrative, billing
and client service personnel, professional fees for legal and audit services, occupancy costs, depreciation and amortization, and other
expenses such as information technology and miscellaneous expenses offset by allocation of facility and information technology
expenses to other functions. For the year ended December 31, 2017, approximately 62% of the headcount classified as general and
administrative encompass our billing and customer care teams. We expect general and administrative expenses to continue to
increase as we build our general and administration infrastructure and to stabilize thereafter.
Intangible Asset Amortization
Intangible asset amortization began in April 2015 when we launched the Percepta test. The related finite-lived intangible asset
with a cost of $16.0 million is being amortized over 15 years, using the straight-line method.
Interest Expense
Interest expense is attributable to our borrowings under debt agreements and capital leases as well as costs associated with prepaying our prior credit agreement in November 2017.
Other Income, Net
Other income, net consists primarily of sublease rental income and interest income received from payers and from our cash
equivalents.
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
Our management's discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based on our audited financial
statements, which have been prepared in accordance with United States generally accepted accounting principles, or U.S. GAAP.
The preparation of the financial statements requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets
and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, as well as the reported
revenue generated and expenses incurred during the reporting periods. Our estimates are based on our historical experience and on
various other factors that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making
judgments about the carrying value of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ
from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions and any such differences may be material. We believe that the
accounting policies discussed below are critical to understanding our historical and future performance, as these policies relate to the
more significant areas involving management's judgments and estimates.
Revenue Recognition
We recognize revenue in accordance with the provisions of Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 954-605, Health Care
Entities — Revenue Recognition. Our revenue is generated from the provision of diagnostic services. The service is completed upon
the delivery of test results to the prescribing physician, at which time we bill for the service. We recognize revenue related to billings
for tests delivered on an accrual basis when amounts that will ultimately be realized can be reasonably estimated. The estimates of
amounts that will ultimately be realized require significant judgment by management. Until a contract has been negotiated with a
commercial payer or governmental program, our tests may or may not be covered by these entities’ existing reimbursement policies.
In addition, patients do not enter into direct agreements with us that commit them to pay any portion of the cost of the tests in the
event that their insurance declines to reimburse us. We may bill the patient directly for these amounts in the form of co-payments
and co-insurance in accordance with their insurance carrier and health plans. In the absence of contracted reimbursement coverage or
the ability to reasonably estimate the amount that will ultimately be realized for our services, revenue is recognized on the cash
basis.
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We use judgment in determining if we are able to make a reasonable estimate of what will be ultimately realized. We also use
judgment in estimating the amounts we expect to collect by payer. Our judgments will continue to evolve in the future as we
continue to gain payment experience.
Finite-lived Intangible Assets
Finite-lived intangible assets consist of intangible assets reclassified from indefinite-lived intangible assets following the
launch of Percepta in April 2015. We amortize finite-lived intangible assets using the straight-line method, over their estimated
useful life. The estimated useful life of 15 years was used for the intangible asset related to Percepta based on management's
estimate of product life, product life of other diagnostic tests and patent life. We test this finite-lived intangible asset for impairment
when events or circumstances indicate a reduction in the fair value below its carrying amount. There was no impairment recognized
during the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016, or 2015.
Goodwill
Goodwill, derived from our acquisition of Allegro Diagnostics Corp. in September 2014, is reviewed for impairment on an
annual basis or more frequently if events or circumstances indicate that it may be impaired. Our goodwill evaluation is based on both
qualitative and quantitative assessments regarding the fair value of goodwill relative to its carrying value. We have determined that
we operate in a single segment and have a single reporting unit associated with the development and commercialization of diagnostic
products. In the event we determine that it is more likely than not the carrying value of the reporting unit is higher than its fair value,
quantitative testing is performed comparing recorded values to estimated fair values. If impairment is present, the impairment loss is
measured as the excess of the recorded goodwill over its implied fair value. We perform our annual evaluation of goodwill during
the fourth quarter of each fiscal year. There was no impairment recognized during the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016, or
2015.
Stock-based Compensation
We recognize stock-based compensation expense for only those shares underlying stock options and restricted stock units that
we expect to vest on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period of the award. We estimate the fair value of stock options
using a Black-Scholes option-pricing model, which requires the input of highly subjective assumptions, including the option's
expected term and stock price volatility. In addition, judgment is also required in estimating the number of stock-based awards that
are expected to be forfeited. Forfeitures are estimated based on historical experience at the time of grant and revised, if necessary, in
subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates. The assumptions used in calculating the fair value of share-based
payment awards represent management's best estimates, but these estimates involve inherent uncertainties and the application of
management's judgment. As a result, if factors change and we use different assumptions, our stock-based compensation expense
could be materially different in the future.
Results of Operations
Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 (in thousands of dollars, except percentages)
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Year Ended December 31,
2017

Revenue

$

Change

%

2016

71,953 $

6,868

11 % $

65,085 $

Cost of revenue

28,195

2,733

11 %

25,462

Research and development

13,881

(1,443)

(9 )%

Selling and marketing

32,260

4,012

14 %

General and administrative

23,088

(699)

(3 )%

Change

15,582

%

2015

31% $

49,503

3,965

18%

21,497

15,324

2,528

20%

12,796

28,248

2,955

12%

25,293

23,787

1,204

5%

22,583

Operating expense:

Intangible asset amortization

1,067

—

—%

1,067

267

33%

800

98,491

4,603

5 %

93,888

10,919

13%

82,969

(26,538)

2,265

8 %

(28,803)

4,663

14%

(33,466)

(4,941)

(2,184)

79 %

(2,757)

(2,379)

629%

(378)

44%

140

Total operating expenses
Loss from operations
Interest expense
Other income, net
Net loss and comprehensive loss $

476

274

(31,003) $

355

Other Operating Data:
Genomic classifiers reported

26,026

136 %
1 %$

2,789

12 %

202
(31,358) $
23,237

62
2,346
3,816

7% $
20%

(33,704)
19,421

Revenue
Revenue increased $6.9 million, or 11%, for the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to 2016. Revenue recognized on
the accrual basis increased $22.2 million, or 47%, for the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to 2016, due to increased
adoption of Afirma and increases in the accrual rates for Afirma from higher historical reimbursement from payers. Commencing
from the quarter ended September 30, 2016, we had sufficient information developed to support reasonable estimates of the amount
of revenue to accrue upon test delivery for a number of payers that had been previously recognized on the cash basis and as a result,
we accrued revenue for substantially all of our test volume. The cash basis revenue, which is from unaccrued tests delivered prior to
July 1, 2016, decreased $15.3 million, or 85% for the year ended December 31, 2017 as compared to 2016.
Revenue increased $15.6 million, or 31%, for the year ended December 31, 2016 compared to 2015. Revenue recognized on
the accrual basis increased $20.1 million, or 74%, for the year ended December 31, 2016 compared to 2015, due to increased
adoption of Afirma and accruing substantially all of our test volume commencing from the quarter ended September 30, 2016. The
cash basis revenue, which is from unaccrued tests delivered prior to July 1, 2016, decreased $4.5 million, or 20% for the year ended
December 31, 2016 as compared to 2015.
Revenue recognized on the accrual basis and the cash basis for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 was as
follows (in thousands of dollars, except percentages):
Year Ended December 31,
2017

Revenue recognized on the accrual basis

$

69,274

$

Revenue recognized on the cash basis
Total

%

2016

96 % $

47,099

2,679

4%

71,953

100 % $

55

%

2015

%

72 % $

27,043

55 %

17,986

28 %

22,460

45 %

65,085

100 % $

49,503

100 %

Cost of revenue
Comparison of the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 was as follows (in thousands of dollars, except
percentages):
Year Ended December 31,
2017

Change

%

2016

Change

%

2015

Cost of revenue:
Laboratory expense

$

14,469 $

1,637

13 % $

12,832 $

1,846

17 % $

10,986

Sample collection expense

3,465

7

—%

3,458

334

11 %

3,124

Compensation expense

3,807

612

19 %

3,195

667

26 %

2,528

License fees and royalties

2,757

(13)

—%

2,770

711

35 %

2,059

666

127

24 %

539

(184)

(25 )%

723

Other expenses

1,243

308

33 %

935

110

13 %

825

Allocations

1,788

55

3 %

1,733

481

38 %

1,252

Depreciation and amortization

Total

$

28,195 $

2,733

11 % $

25,462 $

3,965

18 % $

21,497

Cost of revenue increased $2.7 million, or 11%, for the year ended December 31, 2017, compared to 2016. The increase in
laboratory costs was due to increased Afirma classifier test volume and costs associated with the next generation Afirma GSC,
partially offset by a decrease in cytopathology fees related to a decrease in FNA samples processed and lower cytopathology fees
from an amended and restated agreement with Thyroid Cytopathology Partners, or TCP, effective October 16, 2017. The increase in
compensation expense was associated with the mix shift to relatively more Afirma classifier versus cytopathology tests, as more
labor hours are incurred on Afirma classifier tests compared to cytopathology tests and at a higher average employee cost, as well as
an average laboratory headcount increase of 14%, partially offset by lower incentive compensation. The increase in depreciation and
amortization was due to higher depreciation from more assets being placed into service. The increase in other expenses was
primarily due to equipment maintenance costs and laboratory supplies.
Cost of revenue increased $4.0 million, or 18%, for the year ended December 31, 2016, compared to 2015. The increase in
laboratory costs was due to increased Afirma classifier test volume and an increase in cytopathology fees to TCP related to an
increase in FNA samples processed. The increase in sample collection costs was primarily related to increased volume of samples.
The increase in compensation expense was associated with the mix shift to relatively more Afirma classifier versus cytopathology
tests, as more labor hours are incurred on Afirma classifier tests compared to cytopathology tests and at a higher average employee
cost, as well as an average laboratory headcount increase of 19%. The increase in license fee and royalties was due higher royalties
paid to a supplier from increased Afirma classifier test volume. The decrease in depreciation and amortization was due to certain
assets becoming fully depreciated in 2016. The increase in other expenses was primarily due to consulting expenses.
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Research and development
Comparison of the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 was as follows (in thousands of dollars, except
percentages):
Year Ended December 31,
2017

Change

%

2016

Change

%

2015

Research and development
expense:
Compensation expense
Direct research and
development expense

$

7,967 $
2,657

114

1 %$

1,125

17 % $

6,728

(37 )%

4,202

796

23 %

3,406

Professional fees

940

107

13 %

833

(53)

(6 )%

886

Depreciation and amortization

447

43

11 %

404

206

104 %

198

Other expenses

587

(53)

(8 )%

640

151

31 %

489

(109)

(8 )%

303

28 %

Allocations
Total

1,283
$

13,881 $

(1,545)

7,853 $

(1,443)

(9 )% $

1,392
15,324 $

2,528

20 % $

1,089
12,796

Research and development expense decreased $1.4 million, or 9%, for the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to 2016.
The increase in compensation expense was primarily due to an 8% increase in average headcount, offset by lower incentive
compensation. The decrease in direct research and development expense was due to a lesser amount of materials purchased for
research and development experiments following the completion of several major projects. The increase in professional fees was
due to higher consulting and recruiting expenses.
Research and development expense increased $2.5 million, or 20%, for the year ended December 31, 2016 compared to 2015.
The increase in compensation expense was primarily due to an 8% increase in average headcount partially including an increase in
senior level positions, and increased accrued bonuses as a result of increased bonus targets and performance. The increase in direct
research and development expense was due to materials purchased for research and development experiments. The increase in
depreciation and amortization was due to higher depreciation from more assets being placed into service. The increase in other
expenses was due to equipment and support costs.
Selling and marketing
Comparison of the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 was as follows (in thousands of dollars, except
percentages):
Year Ended December 31,
2017

Change

%

2016

Change

%

2015

Selling and marketing expense:
Compensation expense

$

Direct marketing expense

18,146 $
5,645

Genzyme co-promotion
expense, net

3

3,749

26 % $

2,688

91 %

14,397 $
2,957

2,905
(175)

25 % $

11,492

(6 )%

3,132

(5,100)

(100 )%

5,103

(264)

(5 )%

5,367

Professional fees

2,106

1,523

261 %

583

(471)

(45 )%

1,054

Other expenses

4,526

1,069

31 %

3,457

910

36 %

2,547

Allocations
Total

1,834
$

32,260 $

83

5 %

4,012

14 % $
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1,751
28,248 $

50
2,955

3 %

1,701

12 % $

25,293

Selling and marketing expense increased $4.0 million, or 14%, for the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to 2016. The
increase in compensation expense was due to a 24% increase in average headcount mainly from increases of our sales personnel due
to the termination of the Genzyme co-promotion agreement in 2016. The increase in direct marketing expense was due to corporate
rebranding expenses, trade shows and marketing costs. The decrease in Genzyme co-promotion expense, net, reflects the termination
of the Genzyme co-promotion agreement. The increase in professional fees was due to higher consulting expenses, primarily for a
growth assessment study. The increase in other expenses was primarily due to travel and communication costs associated with the
24% increase in average headcount.
Selling and marketing expense increased $3.0 million, or 12%, for the year ended December 31, 2016 compared to 2015. The
increase in compensation expense was due to a 30% increase in average headcount mainly from increases of our sales personnel due
to the termination of the Genzyme co-promotion agreement in 2016. The decrease in Genzyme co-promotion expense, net, reflects
the termination of the Genzyme co-promotion agreement. The decrease in professional fees was due to a decline in consulting
expenses. The increase in other expenses was primarily due to travel and communication costs associated with the 30% increase in
average headcount.
General and administrative
Comparison of the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 was as follows (in thousands of dollars, except
percentages):
Year Ended December 31,
2017

General and administrative
expense:
Compensation expense

$

14,828 $

Change

%

(870)

2016

(6 )% $

15,698 $

Change

2,574

%

2015

20 % $

13,124

Professional fees

5,934

93

2 %

5,841

(1,706)

(23 )%

7,547

Occupancy costs

2,219

(251)

(10 )%

2,470

(156)

(6 )%

2,626

Depreciation and amortization

1,662

161

11 %

1,501

968

182 %

533

3,350

216

7 %

3,134

339

12 %

2,795

(4,905)

(48)

1 %

(4,857)

(815)

20 %

(4,042)

(699)

(3 )% $

Other expenses
Allocations
Total

$

23,088 $

23,787 $

1,204

5 %$

22,583

General and administrative expense decreased $699,000, or 3%, for the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to 2016.
The decrease in compensation expense was due to lower incentive compensation, partially offset by an 8% increase in average
headcount for the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to 2016. The increase in professional fees expense was mainly due to
higher legal expenses offset by lower accounting and consulting expenses. The decrease in occupancy costs was largely due to
incurring facilities expenses for the three months ended March 31, 2016 for our current South San Francisco facility, as well as our
previous space, for which the lease ended in March 2016. The increase in depreciation and amortization was due to higher
depreciation from more assets being placed into service. The increase in other expenses was due to higher conference and meeting
expenses.
General and administrative expense increased $1.2 million, or 5%, for the year ended December 31, 2016 compared to 2015.
The increase in compensation expense was primarily due to a 9% increase in average headcount in 2016 compared to 2015,
increased accrued bonuses as a result of increased bonus targets and performance, and higher employee separation costs. The
decrease in professional fees expense was mainly due to lower accounting and consulting expenses. The decrease in occupancy
expense was largely due to incurring more months of facilities expenses in 2015 for our current South San Francisco facility and our
previous space, for which the lease ended in March 2016. The increase in depreciation and amortization was due to higher
depreciation and amortization expense from our new South San Francisco facility. The increase in other expenses was due to higher
miscellaneous expenses.
Interest expense

58

Interest expense increased $2.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to 2016, primarily due to a $1.5
million prepayment penalty upon terminating our credit agreement with Visium Healthcare Partners, LP, or Visium, in November
2017, and the related write-off of unamortized debt issuance costs. Interest expense increased $2.4 million for the year ended
December 31, 2016 compared to 2015, primarily due to higher interest rates associated with the Visium credit agreement compared
to credit agreement that was in place in 2015.
Other income, net
Other income, net, increased $274,000 for the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to 2016, primarily due to higher
interest income received. Other income (expense), net, increased $62,000 for the year ended December 31, 2016 compared to 2015,
primarily due to higher interest income received.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
From inception through December 31, 2017, we have been financed primarily through net proceeds from the sale of our
equity securities and borrowings under our credit facilities. We have incurred net losses since our inception. For the years
ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, we had net losses of $31.0 million, $31.4 million and $33.7 million, respectively,
and we expect to incur additional losses in 2018 and in future years. As of December 31, 2017, we had an accumulated deficit
of $211.1 million. We may never achieve revenue sufficient to offset our expenses.
We believe our existing cash and cash equivalents of $33.9 million as of December 31, 2017 and our revenue during the
12 months following February 27, 2018 will be sufficient to meet our anticipated cash requirements for at least the 12 months
following February 27, 2018. We expect that our near- and longer-term liquidity requirements will continue to consist of costs to
run our laboratories, research and development expenses, selling and marketing expenses, general and administrative expenses,
working capital, costs to service our loan and security agreement, capital expenditures and general corporate expenses associated
with the growth of our business. However, we may also use cash to acquire or invest in complementary businesses, technologies,
services or products that would change our cash requirements. If we are not able to generate revenue to finance our cash
requirements, we will need to finance future cash needs primarily through public or private equity offerings, debt financings,
borrowings or strategic collaborations or licensing arrangements. If we raise funds by issuing equity securities, dilution to
stockholders could result. Any equity securities issued also may provide for rights, preferences or privileges senior to those of
holders of our common stock. The terms of debt securities issued or borrowings could impose significant restrictions on our
operations. The incurrence of additional indebtedness or the issuance of certain equity securities could result in increased fixed
payment obligations and could also result in restrictive covenants, such as limitations on our ability to incur additional debt or issue
additional equity, limitations on our ability to acquire or license intellectual property rights, restrictions on our cash pursuant to the
terms of our loan and security agreement and other operating restrictions that could adversely affect our ability to conduct our
business. Our current loan and security agreement imposes restrictions on our operations, increases our fixed payment obligations
and has restrictive covenants. In addition, the issuance of additional equity securities by us, or the possibility of such issuance, may
cause the market price of our common stock to decline. In the event that we enter into collaborations or licensing arrangements to
raise capital, we may be required to accept unfavorable terms. These agreements may require that we relinquish or license to a thirdparty on unfavorable terms our rights to technologies or product candidates that we otherwise would seek to develop or
commercialize ourselves, or reserve certain opportunities for future potential arrangements when we might be able to achieve more
favorable terms. If we are not able to secure additional funding when needed, we may have to delay, reduce the scope of or eliminate
one or more research and development programs or selling and marketing initiatives, or forgo potential acquisitions or investments.
In addition, we may have to work with a partner on one or more of our products or development programs, which could lower the
economic value of those programs to us.
Loan and Security Agreement
On November 3, 2017, we entered into a loan and security agreement, or the "Loan and Security Agreement", with Silicon
Valley Bank. The Loan and Security Agreement allows us to borrow up to $35.0 million, with a $25.0 million term loan (the “Term
Loan”) and a revolving line of credit of up to $10.0 million, or the "Revolving Line of Credit", subject to, with respect to the
Revolving Line of Credit, a borrowing base of 85% of eligible accounts receivable. The Term Loan was advanced upon the closing
of the Loan and Security Agreement. Borrowings under the Loan and Security Agreement mature in October 2022. The Term Loan
bears interest at a variable rate equal to (i) the thirty-day U.S. London Interbank Offer Rate, or LIBOR, plus (ii) 4.20%, with a
minimum rate of 5.43% per annum. Principal amounts outstanding under the Revolving Line of Credit bear interest at a variable
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rate equal to (i) LIBOR plus (ii) 3.50%, with a minimum rate of 4.70% per annum. We are also required to pay an annual facility fee
on the Revolving Line of Credit of $25,000.
We may prepay the outstanding principal amount under the Term Loan plus accrued and unpaid interest and, if the Term Loan
is repaid in full, a prepayment premium. The prepayment premium will equal (i) $750,000, if the prepayment is made on or before
November 3, 2018, (ii) $500,000, if the prepayment is made after November 3, 2018 and on or prior to November 3, 2019 and
(iii) $250,000, if the prepayment is made after November 3, 2019. In addition, a final payment on the Term Loan in the amount of
$1.2 million is due upon the earlier of the maturity date of the Term Loan or its payment in full.
The Loan and Security Agreement contains customary representations, warranties, and events of default such as a material
adverse change in our business, operations or financial conditions, as well as affirmative and negative covenants. The negative
covenants include, among other provisions, covenants that limit or restrict our ability to incur liens, make investments, incur
indebtedness, merge with or acquire other entities, dispose of assets, make dividends or other distributions to holders of our equity
interests, engage in any new line of business, or enter into certain transactions with affiliates, in each case subject to certain
exceptions.
The Loan and Security Agreement also requires us to comply with certain financial covenants, including achieving certain
revenue levels tested quarterly on a trailing twelve-month basis. However, failure to maintain the revenue levels will not be
considered a default if we maintain liquidity of at least $40.0 million.
Our obligations under the Loan and Security Agreement are secured by substantially all of our assets (excluding intellectual
property), subject to certain customary exceptions.
Cash Flows
The following table summarizes our cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 (in thousands of
dollars):
Years Ended December 31,

Cash used in operating activities

$

Cash used in investing activities
Cash provided by (used in) financing activities

2017

2016

2015

(23,915) $

(27,982) $

(26,965)

(1,195)

(4,212)

(6,698)

52,329

37,733

(218)

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Cash used in operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2017 was $23.9 million. The net loss of $31.0 million
includes non-cash charges of $6.6 million of stock-based compensation expense and $3.8 million of depreciation and amortization,
which includes $1.1 million of intangible asset amortization. It also includes a $1.5 million prepayment penalty for exiting our
previous credit agreement which is a financing cash flow, and the amortization and write-off of $0.5 million of debt issuance costs.
Cash used as a result of changes in operating assets and liabilities of $5.4 million was primarily due to an increase in accounts
receivable of $4.0 million, an increase in supplies inventory of $1.8 million and a decrease in accrued liabilities and deferred rent of
$1.2 million, partially offset by an increase in accounts payable of $1.7 million.
Cash used in operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2016 was $28.0 million. The net loss of $31.4 million
includes non-cash charges of $0.9 million in amortization of the deferred fee received from Genzyme, offset primarily by $6.4
million of stock-based compensation expense, $3.5 million of depreciation and amortization, which includes $1.1 million of
intangible asset amortization, $0.4 million from conversion of accrued interest to long-term debt and $0.3 million in interest and
prepayment penalty relating to the repayment of our borrowings under a prior loan arrangement. Cash used as a result of changes in
operating assets and liabilities of $6.4 million is primarily due to an increase in accounts receivable of $5.3 million and a decrease in
accounts payable of $1.4 million.
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Cash used in operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2015 was $27.0 million. The net loss of $33.7 million
includes non-cash charges of $1.9 million in amortization of the deferred fee received from Genzyme, offset primarily by
$5.6 million of stock-based compensation expense, $2.3 million of depreciation and amortization, which includes $0.8 million
intangible asset amortization following the launch of Percepta in April 2015, $0.1 million in amortization of debt discount and
issuance costs and debt balloon interest expense, and $0.1 million of bad debt expense. The increase in net operating assets of
$0.5 million was due to an increase of $0.9 million in deferred rent, accounts payable and accrued liabilities primarily from deferred
rent from the lease for our new South San Francisco facility, offset by $0.4 million from an increase in accounts receivable due to
increases in Afirma adoption and additional payers meeting our revenue recognition criteria for accrual.
Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Cash used in investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2017 was $1.2 million, mainly comprising $1.8 million for
the acquisition of property and equipment, partially offset by $0.4 million of proceeds from the sale of property and equipment.
Cash used in investing activities for year ended December 31, 2016 was $4.2 million for the acquisition of property and
equipment, primarily for the build out of office space and the laboratory for our South San Francisco facility.
Cash used in investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2015 was $6.7 million. The investing activities for the year
ended December 31, 2015 consisted of $6.2 million used for the acquisition of property and equipment, primarily for the build out of
office space and laboratory for our South San Francisco facility and $0.5 million used as collateral for an irrevocable standby letter
of credit as security for the facility.
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Cash used in financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2017 was $0.2 million, consisting of a $25.4 million
payment of the principal on the Visium credit agreement, $1.5 million payment for the prepayment premium for terminating the
Visium credit agreement and $0.3 million of capital lease payments, partially offset by $24.9 million of net proceeds from our new
loan and security agreement, $1.9 million in proceeds from the purchase of stock under our ESPP and exercise of options to
purchase our common stock.
Cash provided by financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2016 was $52.3 million. The financing activities for the
year ended December 31, 2016 consisted of $31.9 million of net proceeds from the issuance of common stock in a public offering,
$24.5 million of net proceeds from a draw-down under the Visium credit agreement and $1.2 million from the exercise of options to
purchase our common stock and purchases under the employee stock purchase plan, partially offset by the payment of $5.0 million
for the remaining principal balance and a $0.3 million of end-of-term payment and prepayment penalty related to a prior loan
agreement that we repaid on March 30, 2016.
Cash provided by financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2015 was $37.7 million, consisting of $37.3 million of
net proceeds from the sale of our common stock in a private placement and $0.7 million of cash received from the exercise of
options to purchase our common stock, offset by $0.2 million spent on deferred stock offering costs.
Contractual Obligations
The following table summarizes certain contractual obligations as of December 31, 2017 (in thousands of dollars):
Payments Due by Period
Fiscal Year
2018

Operating lease obligations

$

2,121 $

Fiscal Year
2019 to 2020

4,559 $

Fiscal Year
2021 to 2022

Fiscal Year
2023 and
Beyond

4,873 $

Total

9,384 $

20,937

Long-term debt obligations (1)

1,415

12,256

17,294

—

30,965

Supplies purchase commitments

3,011

2,186

1,913

—

7,110

317

317

—

—

634

6,864 $

19,318 $

24,080 $

9,384 $

Capital lease obligation
Total

$

(1) Debt obligations include principal, estimate of variable rate interest and end-of-term debt obligation
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59,646

In December 2016, we entered into a capital lease for equipment which expires in December 2019.
In April 2015, we signed a non-cancelable lease agreement for approximately 59,000 square feet to serve as our new
headquarters and laboratory facility in South San Francisco. The lease began in June 2015 and expires in March 2026, and contains
extension of lease term and expansion options.
In August 2017, we amended our lease of laboratory and office space in Austin, Texas which extended the expiration date to
January 2029 and includes options for expansion and early termination in 2025.
Off-balance Sheet Arrangements
We have not entered into any off-balance sheet arrangements.
JOBS Act Accounting Election
We are an emerging growth company, as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012, or the JOBS Act. Under
the JOBS Act, emerging growth companies can delay adopting new or revised accounting standards issued subsequent to the
enactment of the JOBS Act until such time as those standards apply to private companies. We have irrevocably elected not to avail
ourselves of this exemption from new or revised accounting standards and, therefore, will be subject to the same new or revised
accounting standards as other public companies that are not emerging growth companies.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board, or FASB, issued ASU 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (Topic 606), to supersede nearly all existing revenue recognition guidance under U.S. GAAP. The core principle of ASU
2014-09 is to recognize revenues when promised goods or services are transferred to customers in an amount that reflects the
consideration that is expected to be received for those goods or services. ASU 2014-09 defines a five-step process to achieve this
core principle and, in doing so, it is possible more judgment and estimates may be required within the revenue recognition process
than are required under existing U.S. GAAP. We will adopt the new revenue standard as of January 1, 2018 using the modified
retrospective method. We have completed our assessment of the five steps of this ASU and believe that the adoption of this ASU will
not result in a material cumulative catch-up adjustment under the modified retrospective method, or have a material impact on our
financial position or results of operations.
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-2, Leases. This ASU is aimed at making leasing activities more
transparent and comparable, and requires substantially all leases be recognized by lessees on their balance sheet as a right-of-use
asset and corresponding lease liability, including leases currently accounted for as operating leases. The ASU will be effective for
interim and annual periods beginning after December 15, 2018. Entities are required to use a modified retrospective approach for
leases that exist or are entered into after the beginning of the earliest comparative period in the financial statements. Full
retrospective application is prohibited and early adoption is permitted. We are currently evaluating the potential effect of this
standard on our financial statements.
In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-9, Compensation - Stock Compensation, related to the tax effects of share-based
awards. The ASU requires that all the tax effects of share-based awards be recorded through the income statement, thereby
simplifying the current guidance that requires excess tax benefits and certain excess tax deficiencies to be recorded in equity. This
ASU also permits an election for the impact of forfeitures on the recognition of expense for share-based payment awards where
forfeitures can be estimated or recognized when they occur. This ASU is effective for interim and annual periods beginning after
December 15, 2016. We adopted this ASU as of January 1, 2017 and elected to continue using its forfeiture estimation method for
share-based payment awards. This ASU was adopted prospectively and the impact of adoption on our financial statements was not
material.
In August 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-15, Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230): Classification of Certain Cash
Receipts and Cash Payments, which provides specific guidance on cash flow classification issues, including classifying debt
prepayment or debt extinguishment costs under financing activities in the statements of cash flows. The amendments in ASU 201615 are effective for interim and annual periods beginning after December 15, 2017. The ASU should be applied using a
retrospective transition method, unless it is impracticable to do so for some of the issues. In such case, the amendments for those
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issues would be applied prospectively as of the earliest date practicable. Early adoption is permitted. We adopted this ASU
retrospectively in the fourth quarter of 2017 and the impact of adoption on our financial statements was not material because prior
period debt prepayment costs were immaterial and already included under financing activities in our statements of cash flows.
In November 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-18, Statement of Cash Flows - Restricted Cash. This ASU requires that
restricted cash and restricted cash equivalents be included with cash and cash equivalents when reconciling the beginning-of-period
and end-of-period total amounts shown on the statement of cash flows. The ASU will be effective for interim and annual periods
beginning after December 15, 2017. We do not anticipate that the adoption of this ASU will have a significant impact on our
financial statements.
ITEM 7A.

QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We are exposed to market risks in the ordinary course of our business. These risks primarily relate to interest rates. We had
cash and cash equivalents of $33.9 million as of December 31, 2017 which consisted of bank deposits and money market funds.
Such interest-bearing instruments carry a degree of risk; however, a hypothetical 10% change in interest rates during any of the
periods presented would not have had a material impact on our financial statements.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
The Board of Directors and Stockholders of Veracyte, Inc.
Opinion on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of Veracyte, Inc. (the Company) as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, the related
statements of operations and comprehensive loss, stockholders' equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2017, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “financial statements”). In our opinion, the financial
statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company at December 31, 2017 and 2016, and the
results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2017, in conformity with
U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.
Basis for Opinion
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the
Company’s financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in
accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission
and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or
fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting.
As part of our audits we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no
such opinion.
Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence
regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used
and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe
that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2014.
Redwood City, California
February 27, 2018
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VERACYTE, INC.
Balance Sheets
(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)
As of December 31,
2017

2016

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents

$

33,891 $

59,219

Accounts receivable

12,716

8,756

Supplies inventory

5,324

3,475

Prepaid expenses and other current assets

1,997

2,057

—

120

53,928

73,627

Restricted cash
Total current assets
Property and equipment, net
Finite-lived intangible assets, net
Goodwill
Restricted cash
Other assets

9,688

11,480

13,067

14,133

1,057

1,057

603

603

326

Total assets

134

$

78,669 $

101,034

$

3,853 $

2,424

8,175

9,110

Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Total current liabilities
Long-term debt
Capital lease liability, net of current portion
Deferred rent, net of current portion
Total liabilities

12,028

11,534

24,938

24,918

308

599

4,170

4,402

41,444

41,453

—

—

Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders' equity:
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value; 5,000,000 shares authorized, no shares issued and
outstanding as of December 31, 2017 and 2016
Common stock, $0.001 par value; 125,000,000 shares authorized, 34,210,388 and
33,762,278 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2017 and 2016,
respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit

34

34

248,278

239,631

(211,087)

(180,084)

Total stockholders' equity

37,225

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity

$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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78,669 $

59,581
101,034

VERACYTE, INC.
Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss
(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)
Year Ended December 31,
2017

Revenue

$

2016

2015

71,953 $

65,085 $

49,503

Cost of revenue

28,195

25,462

21,497

Research and development

13,881

15,324

12,796

Selling and marketing

32,260

28,248

25,293

General and administrative

23,088

23,787

22,583

Operating Expenses:

Intangible asset amortization
Total operating expenses
Loss from operations
Interest expense
Other income, net

1,067

1,067

800

98,491

93,888

82,969

(26,538)

(28,803)

(33,466)

(4,941)

(2,757)

(378)

476

202

140

Net loss and comprehensive loss

$

(31,003) $

(31,358) $

(33,704)

Net loss per common share, basic and diluted

$

(0.91) $

(1.09) $

(1.30)

Shares used to compute net loss per common share, basic and diluted

33,925,617

28,830,472

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

67

25,994,193

VERACYTE, INC.
Statements of Stockholders' Equity
(in thousands, except shares)

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

Common Stock
Shares
Balance at December 31, 2014

Amount

22,523,529 $

Issuance of common stock on exercise of stock options

23 $

Accumulated
Deficit

156,373 $

(115,022) $

Total
Stockholders'
Equity
41,374

253,787

—

722

—

722

4,907,975

5

37,253

—

37,258

Stock-based compensation expense (employee)

—

—

5,302

—

5,302

Stock-based compensation expense (non-employee)

—

—

110

—

110

Stock-based compensation expense (ESPP)

—

—

190

—

190

Sale of common stock in a private placement, net of issuance costs of
$2,742

Net loss and comprehensive loss

—

—

—

(33,704)

(33,704)

27,685,291

28

199,950

(148,726)

51,252

Issuance of common stock on exercise of stock options

212,740

—

538

—

Issuance of common stock under employee stock purchase plan (ESPP)

140,947

—

678

—

5,723,300

6

32,087

Stock-based compensation expense (employee)

—

—

6,046

—

6,046

Stock-based compensation expense (non-employee)

—

—

15

—

15

Stock-based compensation expense (ESPP)

—

—

317

Net loss and comprehensive loss

—

—

—

Balance at December 31, 2015

Sale of common stock in a public offering, net of issuance costs of $2,247

Balance at December 31, 2016

33,762,278 $

34 $

239,631 $

538
678
32,093

—

317

(31,358)

(31,358)

(180,084) $

59,581

Issuance of common stock on exercise of stock options and vesting of
restricted stock units

295,059

—

1,374

—

1,374

Issuance of common stock under employee stock purchase plan (ESPP)

153,051

—

656

—

656

Stock-based compensation expense (employee)

—

—

6,352

—

6,352

Stock-based compensation expense (non-employee)

—

—

19

—

19

Stock-based compensation expense (ESPP)

—

—

246

—

246

—

—

Net loss and comprehensive loss
Balance at December 31, 2017

34,210,388 $

34 $

—
248,278 $

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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(31,003)
(211,087) $

(31,003)
37,225

VERACYTE, INC.
Statements of Cash Flows
(in thousands of dollars)
Year Ended December 31,
2017
Operating activities
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Bad debt expense
Loss on disposal of property and equipment
Genzyme co-promotion fee amortization
Stock-based compensation
Conversion of accrued interest to long-term debt
Amortization and write-off of debt discount and issuance costs

$

Interest on end-of-term debt obligation and prepayment penalty
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Supplies inventory
Prepaid expenses and current other assets
Other assets
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities and deferred rent
Net cash used in operating activities
Investing activities
Purchases of property and equipment
Proceeds from the sale of property and equipment
Change in restricted cash

2016

2015

(31,003) $

(31,358) $

(33,704)

3,841
—
12
—
6,617
—
472
1,589

3,511
68
12
(948)
6,378
385
173
206

2,254
105
—
(1,897)
5,602
—
46
79

(3,960)
(1,849)
(7)
(192)
1,728
(1,163)

(5,321)
292
(415)
25
(1,441)
451

(558)
(71)
304
(42)
(3,546)
4,463

(23,915)

(27,982)

(26,965)

(1,755)
440
120

(4,210)
—
(2)

(6,165)
—
(533)

Net cash used in investing activities
Financing activities
Proceeds from the issuance of long-term debt, net of debt issuance costs
Proceeds from issuance of common stock in a private placement, net of issuance costs
Proceeds from issuance of common stock in a public offering, net of issuance costs
Payment of long-term debt
Payment of end-of-term debt obligation and prepayment penalty
Payment of deferred stock offering costs
Payment of capital lease liability
Proceeds from the exercise of common stock options and employee stock purchases

(1,195)

(4,212)

(6,698)

24,880
—
200
(25,385)
(1,536)
—
(274)
1,897

24,452
—
31,949
(5,000)
(288)
—
—
1,216

—
37,258
—
—
—
(247)
—
722

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

(218)
(25,328)
59,219

52,329
20,135
39,084

37,733
4,070
35,014

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year
Supplementary cash flow information of non-cash investing and financing activities:
Net receivable for reimbursement of public offering issuance costs
Purchases of property and equipment included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Supplementary cash flow information:
Cash paid for interest on debt
Cash paid for tax

$

33,891 $

59,219 $

39,084

$

— $
42

144 $
363

—
1,825

2,718
21

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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2,149
7

278
22

VERACYTE, INC.
Notes to Financial Statements

1. Organization and Description of Business
Veracyte, Inc. (“Veracyte” or the “Company”) was incorporated in the state of Delaware on August 15, 2006 as
Calderome, Inc. Calderome operated as an incubator until early 2008. On March 4, 2008, the Company changed its name to
Veracyte, Inc. The Company’s operations are based in South San Francisco, California and Austin, Texas, and it operates in one
segment.
Veracyte is a genomic diagnostics company that resolves diagnostic uncertainty by uniquely combining genomic technology,
clinical science and machine learning to provide diagnostic answers to physicians and patients.
Since the Company's founding in 2008, it has commercialized three products:
Afirma Thyroid FNA Analysis - Includes the next-generation Afirma Genomic Sequencing Classifier, or GSC, and its
predecessor, the Afirma Gene Expression Classifier, or GEC that is used to identify patients with benign thyroid nodules
among those with indeterminate cytopathology results in order to preserve the thyroid. The Afirma classifier was
developed using machine learning that is based on ensemble methods in which multiple algorithms - each playing its own
role - are used to interpret large amounts of ribonucleic acid ("RNA") sequencing genomic data and obtain a better
predictive performance than any single algorithm on its own.
Percepta Bronchial Genomic Classifier - The 23-gene Percepta classifier improves lung cancer screening and diagnosis by
increasing the diagnostic performance of bronchoscopies and identifying patients with lung nodules who are at low risk of
cancer, without the need for more invasive procedures. The test analyzes genomic changes that occur in the epithelial cells
lining the airways of current or former smokers to assess a patient’s risk of having lung cancer, without the need to test the
often-hard-to-reach nodule directly.
Envisia Genomic Classifier - The Envisia classifier is designed to improve physicians’ ability to differentiate idiopathic
pulmonary fibrosis, or IPF, from other interstitial lung diseases, or ILD, without the need for invasive and potentially risky
surgery. The Envisia classifier uses machine learning coupled with powerful, deep RNA sequencing to detect the presence
or absence of usual interstitial pneumonia, or UIP, a classic diagnostic pattern whose presence is essential for the diagnosis
of IPF.
All of the Company's testing services are made available through its clinical reference laboratories located in South San
Francisco, California and Austin, Texas, which are each certified under the Clinical Laboratory Improvement Amendments of 1988,
or CLIA.
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation
The Company's financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States ("U.S. GAAP"). The financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its former wholly-owned
subsidiary, which was dissolved in June 2015. For periods prior to the subsidiary dissolution, all intercompany accounts and
transactions were eliminated in consolidation.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities as of the date
of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Significant items subject
to such estimates include: revenue recognition; the useful lives of property and equipment; the recoverability of long-lived assets;
the estimation of the fair value of intangible assets; stock options; income tax uncertainties, including a valuation allowance for
deferred tax assets; and contingencies. The Company bases these estimates on historical and anticipated results, trends, and various
other assumptions that the Company believes are reasonable under the circumstances, including assumptions as to future events.

70

VERACYTE, INC.
Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

These estimates form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities and recorded revenue and
expenses that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results could differ from those estimates and assumptions.
Liquidity
The Company has incurred net losses since its inception and expects to incur additional losses in 2018 and in future years. As
of December 31, 2017, the Company had an accumulated deficit of $211.1 million. The Company may never achieve revenue
sufficient to offset its expenses. The Company believes its cash and cash equivalents of $33.9 million as of December 31, 2017 and
its revenue from sales in 2018 will be sufficient to meet its anticipated cash requirements through at least March 2019.
In November 2017, the Company entered into a loan and security agreement and drew down a term loan advance of $25.0
million of which the entire amount was used to pay the outstanding balance of the Company's previous long-term debt as discussed
in Note 7 - Debt.
If the Company is not able to generate revenue to finance its cash requirements, the Company will need to finance future cash
needs primarily through public or private equity offerings, debt financings, borrowings or strategic collaborations or licensing
arrangements. If the Company is not able to secure additional funding when needed, on acceptable terms, it may have to delay,
reduce the scope of or eliminate one or more research and development programs or selling and marketing initiatives which may
have a material adverse effect on the Company's business, results of operations, financial condition and/or its ability to fund its
scheduled obligations on a timely basis or at all.
Concentrations of Credit Risk and Other Risks and Uncertainties
The majority of the Company's cash and cash equivalents are deposited with one major financial institution in the United
States. Deposits in this institution may exceed the amount of insurance provided on such deposits. The Company has not
experienced any losses on its deposits of cash and cash equivalents.
Several of the components of the Company's sample collection kit and test reagents are obtained from single-source suppliers.
If these single-source suppliers fail to satisfy the Company's requirements on a timely basis, it could suffer delays in being able to
deliver its diagnostic solutions, a possible loss of revenue, or incur higher costs, any of which could adversely affect its operating
results.
The Company is also subject to credit risk from its accounts receivable related to its sales. The Company does not perform
evaluations of customers' financial condition and does not require collateral.
Through December 31, 2017, most of the Company's revenue have been derived from the sale of Afirma. To date, Afirma has
been delivered primarily to physicians in the United States. The Company's third-party payers in excess of 10% of revenue and their
related revenue as a percentage of total revenue were as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2017

Medicare
UnitedHealthcare

2016

2015

26 %
14 %

27 %
12 %

26 %
14 %

40 %

39 %

40 %

The Company's significant third-party payers in excess of 10% of accounts receivable and their related accounts receivable
balance as a percentage of total accounts receivable were as follows:
December 31,
2017

Medicare

2016

22 %

71
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Cash Equivalents
Cash equivalents consist of short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less from the date
of purchase. Cash equivalents consist of amounts invested in a money market account primarily consisting of U.S. Treasury reserves.
Restricted Cash
The Company had deposits of $120,000 included in current assets as of December 31, 2016, pledged for corporate cards.
There was no such restricted amount as of December 31, 2017. The Company also had deposits of $603,000 included in long-term
assets as of December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016, restricted from withdrawal and held by a bank in the form of collateral for
an irrevocable standby letter of credit held as security for the lease of the Company's South San Francisco facility.
Supplies Inventory
Supplies inventory consists of test reagents and other consumables primarily used in the sample collection kits and in
cytopathology and genomic classifier test processing, and are valued at the lower of cost or market value. Cost is determined using
actual costs on a first-in, first-out basis.
Property and Equipment
Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation is computed using the
straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets, generally between three and five years. Leasehold improvements
are amortized using the straight-line method over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset or the term of the lease.
Maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred, and improvements and betterments are capitalized. When assets are
retired or otherwise disposed of, the cost and accumulated depreciation are removed from the balance sheet and any resulting gain or
loss is reflected in the statements of operations and comprehensive loss in the period realized.
Finite-lived Intangible Assets
Finite-lived intangible assets consists of intangible assets reclassified from indefinite-lived intangible assets, following the
launch of Percepta in April 2015. The Company amortizes finite-lived intangible assets using the straight-line method over their
estimated useful life. The estimated useful life of 15 years was used for the intangible asset related to the Percepta test based on
management's estimate of product life, product life of other diagnostic tests and patent life. The Company tests this finite-lived
intangible asset for impairment when events or circumstances indicate a reduction in the fair value below its carrying amount. There
was no impairment for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 or 2015.
Goodwill
Goodwill, derived from the Company's acquisition of Allegro Diagnostics Corp. in September 2014, is reviewed for
impairment on an annual basis or more frequently if events or circumstances indicate that it may be impaired. The Company's
goodwill evaluation is based on both qualitative and quantitative assessments regarding the fair value of goodwill relative to its
carrying value. The Company has determined that it operates in a single segment and has a single reporting unit associated with the
development and commercialization of diagnostic products. In the event the Company determines that it is more likely than not the
carrying value of the reporting unit is higher than its fair value, quantitative testing is performed comparing recorded values to
estimated fair values. If impairment is present, the impairment loss is measured as the excess of the recorded goodwill over its
implied fair value. The Company performs its annual evaluation of goodwill during the fourth quarter of each fiscal year. There was
no impairment for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 or 2015.
Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The carrying amounts of certain financial instruments including cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, prepaid
expenses and other current assets, accounts payable and accrued liabilities approximate fair value due to their relatively short
maturities.
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See Note 5, "Fair Value Measurements" for further information on the fair value of the Company’s financial instruments.
Revenue Recognition
The Company recognizes revenue in accordance with the provision of ASC 954-605, Health Care Entities—Revenue
Recognition ("ASC 954"). The Company's revenue is generated from the provision of diagnostic services. The service is completed
upon the delivery of test results to the prescribing physician, at which time the Company bills for the service. The Company
recognizes revenue related to billings for tests delivered on an accrual basis when amounts that will ultimately be realized can be
reasonably estimated. The estimates of amounts that will ultimately be realized requires significant judgment by management. Until
a contract has been negotiated with a commercial payer or governmental program, the Company's tests may or may not be covered
by these entities' existing reimbursement policies. In addition, patients do not enter into direct agreements with the Company that
commit them to pay any portion of the cost of the tests in the event that their insurance declines to reimburse the Company.
The Company may bill the patient directly for these amounts in the form of co-payments and co-insurance in accordance with
their insurance carrier and health plans. In the absence of contracted reimbursement or the ability to estimate the amount that will
ultimately be realized for the Company's services, revenue is recognized on the cash basis.
Revenue recognized for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 was as follows (in thousands of dollars):
Year Ended December 31,
2017

Revenue recognized on the accrual basis

$

Revenue recognized on the cash basis
Total

$

2016

2015

69,274

96 % $

47,099

72 % $

27,043

55 %

2,679

4%

17,986

28 %

22,460

45 %

71,953

100 % $

65,085

100 % $

49,503

100 %

Prior to July 1, 2016, the Company believed it did not have a consistent enough payment history to accrue a significant portion
of its Afirma tests delivered to customers and, as noted above, recognized revenue on the cash basis for such tests. The Company has
been analyzing the amounts received for tests performed since commercialization and during the quarter ended September 30, 2016,
sufficient information developed to support a reasonable estimate of the amount of revenue to accrue upon test delivery for a number
of payers that had been previously recognized on the cash basis. In determining the amount to accrue for a particular test, the
Company considered factors such as payer coverage, whether there is a reimbursement contract between the payer and the Company,
timeliness of payment, payment as a percentage of agreed upon rate (if applicable), amount paid per test and any current
developments or changes that could impact reimbursement. As a result, the Company recognized $3.5 million of incremental
revenue during the quarter ended September 30, 2016 upon test delivery that previously would not have been recognized until cash
was received. Tests performed prior to July 1, 2016 that did not meet the Company’s accrual criteria at the time of delivery will
continue to be recognized as revenue on the cash basis. However, the Company expects the amount of revenue to be recognized on
the cash basis for Afirma to decline in future periods since subsequent to September 2016 relatively few tests were performed for
which a reasonable estimate of revenue to accrue was not made at the time of delivery.
Cost of Revenue
The components of our cost of revenue are laboratory expenses, sample collection expenses, compensation expense, license
fees and royalties, depreciation and amortization, other expenses such as equipment and laboratory supplies, and allocations of
facility and information technology expenses. Costs associated with performing tests are expensed as the test is processed regardless
of whether and when revenue is recognized with respect to that test.
Research and Development
Research and development expenses include expenses incurred to develop our technology, collect clinical samples and
conduct clinical studies to develop and support our products. These expenses consist of compensation expenses, direct research and
development expenses such as prototype materials, laboratory supplies and costs associated with setting up and conducting clinical
studies at domestic and international sites, professional fees, depreciation and amortization, other miscellaneous expenses and
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allocation of facility and information technology expenses. We expense all research and development costs in the periods in which
they are incurred.
Income Taxes
The Company accounts for income taxes under the liability method. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are
determined based on the difference between the financial statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates in
effect for the year in which the differences are expected to affect taxable income. Valuation allowances are established when
necessary to reduce deferred tax assets to the amounts expected to be realized.
The Company assesses all material positions taken in any income tax return, including all significant uncertain positions, in all
tax years that are still subject to assessment or challenge by relevant taxing authorities. The Company's assessment of an uncertain
tax position begins with the initial determination of the position's sustainability and is measured at the largest amount of benefit that
is more-likely-than-not of being realized upon ultimate settlement. As of each balance sheet date, unresolved uncertain tax positions
must be reassessed, and the Company will determine whether (i) the factors underlying the sustainability assertion have changed and
(ii) the amount of the recognized tax benefit is still appropriate. The recognition and measurement of tax benefits requires significant
judgment. Judgments concerning the recognition and measurement of a tax benefit may change as new information becomes
available.
Stock-based Compensation
Stock-based compensation expense for equity instruments issued to employees is measured based on the grant-date fair value
of the awards. The fair value of each employee stock option is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing
model. The Company recognizes compensation costs on a straight-line basis for all employee stock-based compensation awards that
are expected to vest over the requisite service period of the awards, which is generally the awards' vesting period. Forfeitures are
required to be estimated at the time of grant and revised, if necessary, in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from those
estimates.
Equity awards issued to non-employees are valued using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model and are subject to remeasurement as the underlying equity awards vest.
Net Loss per Common Share
Basic net loss per common share is calculated by dividing net loss attributable to common stockholders by the weightedaverage number of common shares outstanding during the period, without consideration of common stock equivalents. Diluted net
loss per common share is computed by dividing net loss attributable to common stockholders by the weighted-average number of
common share equivalents outstanding for the period determined using the treasury stock method. Potentially dilutive securities
consisting of options to purchase common stock, restricted stock units and shares subject to purchase under our employee stock
purchase plan are considered to be common stock equivalents and were excluded from the calculation of diluted net loss per
common share because their effect would be anti-dilutive for all periods presented.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board, or FASB, issued ASU 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (Topic 606), to supersede nearly all existing revenue recognition guidance under U.S. GAAP. The core principle of ASU
2014-09 is to recognize revenues when promised goods or services are transferred to customers in an amount that reflects the
consideration that is expected to be received for those goods or services. ASU 2014-09 defines a five-step process to achieve this
core principle and, in doing so, it is possible more judgment and estimates may be required within the revenue recognition process
than are required under existing U.S. GAAP. The Company will adopt the new revenue standard as of January 1, 2018 using the
modified retrospective method. The Company has completed its assessment of the five steps of this ASU and believes that the
adoption of this ASU will not result in a material cumulative catch-up adjustment under the modified retrospective method, or have a
material impact on the Company's financial position or results of operations.
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In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-2, Leases. This ASU is aimed at making leasing activities more
transparent and comparable, and requires substantially all leases be recognized by lessees on their balance sheet as a right-of-use
asset and corresponding lease liability, including leases currently accounted for as operating leases. The ASU will be effective for
interim and annual periods beginning after December 15, 2018. Entities are required to use a modified retrospective approach for
leases that exist or are entered into after the beginning of the earliest comparative period in the financial statements. Full
retrospective application is prohibited and early adoption is permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the potential effect of
this standard on its financial statements.
In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-9, Compensation - Stock Compensation, related to the tax effects of sharebased awards. The ASU requires that all the tax effects of share-based awards be recorded through the income statement, thereby
simplifying the current guidance that requires excess tax benefits and certain excess tax deficiencies to be recorded in equity. This
ASU also permits an election for the impact of forfeitures on the recognition of expense for share-based payment awards where
forfeitures can be estimated or recognized when they occur. This ASU was effective for interim and annual periods beginning after
December 15, 2016. The Company adopted this ASU as of January 1, 2017 and elected to continue using its forfeiture estimation
method for share-based payment awards. This ASU was adopted prospectively and the impact of adoption on the Company's
financial statements was not material.
In August 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-15, Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230): Classification of Certain Cash
Receipts and Cash Payments, provides specific guidance on cash flow classification issues, including classifying debt prepayment or
debt extinguishment costs under financing activities in the statements of cash flows. The amendments in ASU 2016-15 are effective
for interim and annual periods beginning after December 15, 2017. The ASU should be applied using a retrospective transition
method, unless it is impracticable to do so for some of the issues. In such case, the amendments for those issues would be applied
prospectively as of the earliest date practicable. Early adoption is permitted. This ASU was adopted retrospectively and the impact
of adoption on the Company's financial statements was not material because prior period debt prepayment costs were immaterial and
already included under financing activities in the statements of cash flows.
In November 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-18, Statement of Cash Flows - Restricted Cash. This ASU requires that
restricted cash and restricted cash equivalents be included with cash and cash equivalents when reconciling the beginning-of-period
and end-of-period total amounts shown on the statement of cash flows. The ASU will be effective for interim and annual periods
beginning after December 15, 2017. The Company does not anticipate that the adoption of this ASU will have a significant impact
on its financial statements.
3. Net Loss Per Share
The following outstanding common stock equivalents have been excluded from diluted net loss per common share for the years
ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 because their inclusion would be anti-dilutive:
Year Ended December 31,
2017

Shares of common stock subject to outstanding options

2016

2015

6,163,734

5,093,454

4,086,640

Employee stock purchase plan

34,559

36,651

15,561

Restricted stock units

63,425

25,000

—

6,261,718

5,155,105

4,102,201

Total common stock equivalents

4. Balance Sheet Components
Property and Equipment, Net
Property and equipment consisted of the following (in thousands of dollars):
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Year Ended December 31,
2017

Leasehold improvements

$

2016

5,790 $

5,861

Laboratory equipment

8,026

6,441

Computer equipment

1,293

1,177

Software, including software developed for internal use

2,308

1,937

Furniture and fixtures

1,435

1,131

141

1,769

Total property and equipment, at cost

18,993

18,316

Accumulated depreciation and amortization

(9,305)

(6,836)

Construction-in-process

Total property and equipment, net

$

9,688 $

11,480

Depreciation and amortization expense was $2.8 million, $2.4 million and $1.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2017,
2016 and 2015, respectively.
The Company has a capital lease for laboratory equipment that went into service in 2017 with a cost of $1.2 million,
accumulated depreciation of $135,000 at December 31, 2017, and depreciation of $135,000 for the year ended December 31, 2017.
Finite-lived Intangible Assets
Amortization of the Percepta test intangible asset, which was acquired from the acquisition of Allegro in September 2014,
began in April 2015 when research and development activities were deemed to be completed and is recognized on a straight-line
basis. The amortization period of this intangible asset is over its estimated useful life of 15 years after taking into consideration
expected use of the asset, legal or regulatory provisions that may limit or extend the life of the asset, as well as the effects of
obsolescence and other economic factors. Amortization of $1.1 million, $1.1 million, and $0.8 million was recognized for the years
ended December 31, 2017, 2016, and 2015, respectively, and accumulated amortization was $3.0 million, $1.9 million, and $0.8
million as of December 31, 2017, 2016, and 2015, respectively. Amortization expense will be approximately $1.1 million per year
over the remaining life of the asset.
Accrued Liabilities
Accrued liabilities consisted of the following (in thousands of dollars):
Year Ended December 31,
2017

Accrued compensation expense

$

Accrued other
Total accrued liabilities

$
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2016

5,293 $

6,120

2,882

2,990

8,175 $

9,110
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5. Fair Value Measurements
The Company records its financial assets and liabilities at fair value. The carrying amounts of certain financial instruments of
the Company, including cash and cash equivalents, prepaid expenses and other current assets, accounts payable and accrued
liabilities, approximate fair value due to their relatively short maturities. The carrying value of the Company's debt approximates its
fair value because the interest rate approximates market rates that the Company could obtain for debt with similar terms. The fair
value of the Company’s debt is estimated using the net present value of the payments, discounted at an interest rate that is consistent
with market interest rates, which is a Level II input. The accounting guidance for fair value provides a framework for measuring fair
value, clarifies the definition of fair value, and expands disclosures regarding fair value measurements. Fair value is defined as the
price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the reporting date. The accounting guidance establishes a three-tiered hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs used in
the valuation methodologies in measuring fair value as follows:
•

Level I: Inputs which include quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities.

•

Level II: Inputs other than Level I that are observable, either directly or indirectly, such as quoted prices for
similar assets or liabilities; quoted prices in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can
be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities.

•

Level III: Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair
value of the assets or liabilities.

The fair value of the Company's financial assets include money market funds and a deposit for the lease of the Company's
South San Francisco facility. Money market funds, included in cash and cash equivalents in the accompanying balance sheets, was
$33.1 million and $58.7 million as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively, and are Level I assets as described above. The
deposit for the lease, included in restricted cash in the accompanying balance sheets, was $603,000 as of December 31, 2017 and
2016, respectively, and are Level I assets as described above.
6. Commitments and Contingencies
Operating Leases
The Company leases its headquarters and laboratory facilities in South San Francisco, California under a non-cancelable lease
agreement for approximately 59,000 square feet. The lease began in June 2015 and ends in March 2026 and contains extension of
lease term and expansion options. In February 2017, the Company relinquished certain expansion rights for a nominal fee. The
Company had deposits of $603,000 included in long-term assets as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, restricted from withdrawal and
held by a bank in the form of collateral for an irrevocable standby letter of credit held as security for the lease of the South San
Francisco facility.
The Company also leases laboratory and office space in Austin, Texas under a lease that expires in January 2029 and includes
options for expansion and early termination in 2025. The Company provided a cash security deposit for this lease of $139,000 and
$75,000, which is included in other assets in the Company's balance sheets as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.
Future minimum lease payments under non-cancelable operating leases as of December 31, 2017 are as follows (in thousands
of dollars):
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Year Ending December 31,

Amounts

2018

$

2,121

2019

2,227

2020

2,332

2021

2,401

2022

2,472

Thereafter

9,384

Total minimum lease payments

$

20,937

The Company recognizes rent expense on a straight-line basis over the non-cancelable lease period. Rent expense was $1.9
million, $2.0 million, and $1.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively.
Capital Lease
The Company entered into a capital lease in December 2016 for $1.2 million of laboratory equipment. The Company paid an
upfront amount of $330,000 and the present value of the total future minimum lease payments was $874,000. As at December 31,
2017, the annual future minimum lease payments will be $317,000 for each of 2018 and 2019.
Supplies Purchase Commitments
The Company had non-cancelable purchase commitments with suppliers to purchase a minimum quantity of supplies for
approximately $7.1 million at December 31, 2017.
Contingencies
From time to time, the Company may be involved in legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business. The
Company believes there is no litigation pending that could have, individually or in the aggregate, a material impact on the
Company's financial statements.
7. Debt
Loan and Security Agreement
On November 3, 2017, the Company entered into a loan and security agreement (the “Loan and Security Agreement”) with
Silicon Valley Bank. The Loan and Security Agreement allows the Company to borrow up to $35.0 million, with a $25.0 million
advance term loan (the “Term Loan Advance”) and a revolving line of credit of up to $10.0 million (the “Revolving Line of Credit”).
The Term Loan Advance was advanced upon the closing of the Loan and Security Agreement and was used to pay the outstanding
balance of the Company’s existing long-term debt, which was canceled at that date. The Company had not drawn on the Revolving
Line of Credit as of December 31, 2017. Borrowings under the Loan and Security Agreement mature on October 1, 2022. Amounts
may be borrowed and repaid under the Revolving Line of Credit up until the earliest of full repayment or maturity of the Loan and
Security Agreement, termination of the Loan and Security Agreement, or October 1, 2022.
The Term Loan Advance bears interest at a variable rate equal to (i) the thirty-day U.S. London Interbank Offer Rate
(“LIBOR”) plus (ii) 4.20%, with a minimum rate of 5.43% per annum. Principal amounts outstanding under the Revolving Line of
Credit bear interest at a variable rate equal to (i) LIBOR plus (ii) 3.50%, with a minimum rate of 4.70% per annum.
The Company may prepay the outstanding principal amount under the Term Loan Advance plus accrued and unpaid interest
and, if the Term Loan Advance is repaid in full, a prepayment premium. The prepayment premium will be (i) $750,000 if
prepayment is made prior to November 3, 2018, (ii) $500,000 if the prepayment is made after November 3, 2018 but on or before
November 3, 2019, or (iii) $250,000 if the prepayment is made after November 3, 2019.
In addition, a final payment on the Term Loan Advance in the amount of $1.2 million is due upon the earlier of the maturity
date of the Term Loan Advance or its payment in full. The Loan and Security Agreement contains customary representations,
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warranties, and events of default such as a material adverse change in our business, operations or financial condition, as well as
affirmative and negative covenants. The negative covenants include, among other provisions, covenants that limit or restrict the
Company's ability to incur liens, make investments, incur indebtedness, merge with or acquire other entities, dispose of assets, make
dividends or other distributions to holders of its equity interests, engage in any new line of business, or enter into certain transactions
with affiliates, in each case subject to certain exceptions. The Company’s obligations under the Loan and Security Agreement are
secured by substantially all of its assets (excluding intellectual property), subject to certain customary exceptions. The Loan and
Security Agreement also requires the Company to achieve certain revenue levels tested quarterly on a trailing twelve-month basis.
However, failure to maintain the revenue levels will not be considered a default if the Company maintains liquidity of at least $40.0
million. As of December 31, 2017, the Company was in compliance with the loan covenants.
As of December 31, 2017, the net debt obligation for borrowings made under the Loan and Security Agreement was as follows
(in thousands of dollars):

Debt principal

$

December 31, 2017
25,000

End-of-term debt obligation

53

Unamortized debt issuance costs

(115)

Net debt obligation

$

24,938

Future principal and end-of-term debt obligation payments due under the Loan and Security Agreement are as follows
(in thousands of dollars):
Year Ending December 31,

2019

$

1,389

2020

8,333

2021

8,333

2022

8,132

Total

$

26,187

Credit Agreement
In March 2016, the Company entered into a credit agreement (the “Credit Agreement”) with Visium Healthcare Partners, LP
(“Visium”). Under the Credit Agreement, two term loans were available to the Company with an aggregate principal amount of up to
$40.0 million. The Company drew down the initial $25.0 million term loan (the “Initial Term Loan”) on March 30, 2016, of which
$5.0 million was used to pay the outstanding balance of the Company’s previous long-term debt, which was canceled at that date.
The Term Loans bore interest at a fixed rate of 12.0% per annum and no principal payments were due through March 31, 2020.
The Company was obligated to repay the outstanding principal amounts under the Term Loans in eight equal installments during the
final two years under the Credit Agreement. Prepayment of the outstanding principal amount under the Term Loans prior to March
31, 2018 was subject to a prepayment premium equal to 24.0% of the outstanding principal balance, less the aggregate amount of all
interest payments in cash. For any quarterly interest payment through and including the 16th interest payment date after the Initial
Borrowing Date, so long as no event of default had occurred and was then continuing, the Company could have elected to pay
interest in cash on the outstanding principal amounts of the Term Loans at a fixed rate of 9.0%, with the remaining 3.0% of the
12.0% interest paid-in-kind by adding such paid-in-kind interest to the outstanding principal amounts of the Term Loans. The
Company elected to pay interest in-kind for the quarters ended June 30, 2016 and September 30, 2016, totaling $385,000.
As noted above, upon entering into the Loan and Security Agreement, the Credit Agreement was paid in full and terminated on
November 3, 2017, wherein all commitments were terminated, all liens were released and all outstanding principal, interest and fees
accrued thereunder were repaid in the aggregate amount of $27.3 million, including a prepayment premium of $1.5 million.
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As of December 31, 2016, the net debt obligation for borrowings made under the Loan and Security Agreement was as follows
(in thousands of dollars):

Debt principal

$

December 31, 2016
25,385

Unamortized debt issuance costs

(467)

Net debt obligation

$

24,918

Interest Expense
Interest expense was recognized as follows (in thousands of dollars):
Year Ended December 31,
2017

Nominal debt interest

$

Amortization and write-off of debt discount and issuance costs
End-of-term debt obligation interest
Debt prepayment penalty
Interest on capital lease
Total

$

80

2016

2015

2,838 $

2,378 $

253

472

173

46

53

156

79

1,536

50

—

42

—

—

4,941 $

2,757 $

378

8. Stockholders' Equity
Common Stock
The Company's Restated Certificate of Incorporation authorizes the Company to issue 125,000,000 shares of common stock
with a par value of $0.001 per share. The holder of each share of common stock shall have one vote for each share of stock. The
common stockholders are also entitled to receive dividends whenever funds and assets are legally available and when declared by
the Board of Directors, subject to the prior rights of holders of all series of convertible preferred stock outstanding. No dividends
have been declared as of December 31, 2017.
As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, the Company had reserved shares of common stock for issuance as follows:
December 31,
2017

2016

Stock options and restricted stock units issued and outstanding

6,061,081

5,251,832

Stock options and restricted stock units available for grant under stock option plans

1,133,907

887,724

456,002

609,053

7,650,990

6,748,609

Common stock available for the Employee Stock Purchase Plan
Total

In November 2016, the Company completed a public offering of 5,723,300 shares of its common stock at a price of $6.00 per
share. Net proceeds to the Company were $32.1 million, after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and other
expenses of $2.2 million. At December 31, 2016, the Company had $200,000 receivable from the underwriters for reimbursement of
other expenses, which is included in prepaid expenses and other current assets in the Company's balance sheet at that date.
In April 2015, the Company completed a private placement of 4,907,975 shares of its common stock to certain accredited
investors at a purchase price of $8.15 per share. Net proceeds to the Company were $37.3 million, after deducting placement agent
fees and other expenses of $2.7 million.
9. Stock Incentive Plans
Stock Plans
In February 2008, the Company adopted the 2008 Stock Plan (the "2008 Plan"). The 2008 Plan provides for the granting of
options to purchase common stock and common stock to employees, directors and consultants of the Company. The Company may
grant incentive stock options ("ISOs"), non-statutory stock options ("NSOs") or restricted stock under the 2008 Plan. ISOs may only
be granted to Company employees (including directors who are also considered employees). NSOs and restricted stock may be
granted to Company employees, directors and consultants. Options may be granted for terms of up to ten years from the date of
grant, as determined by the Board of Directors, provided however, that with respect to an ISO granted to a person who owns stock
representing more than 10% of the voting power of all classes of stock of the Company, the term shall be for no more than five years
from the date of grant. The exercise price of options granted must be at a price no less than 100% of the estimated fair value of the
shares on the date of grant, as determined by the Board of Directors, provided however, that with respect to an ISO granted to an
employee who at the time of grant of such option owns stock representing more than 10% of the voting power of all classes of stock
of the Company, the exercise price shall not be less than 110% of the estimated fair value of the shares on the date of grant.
In October 2013, the Company adopted the 2013 Stock Incentive Plan (the "2013 Plan"). The 2013 Plan was subsequently
approved by the Company's stockholders and became effective on November 4, 2013, immediately before the closing of the
Company's initial public offering ("IPO"). Following the effectiveness of the 2013 Plan, no additional options were granted under
the 2008 Plan. An aggregate of 1,700,000 shares were initially reserved for issuance under the 2013 Plan. In addition, to the extent
that any awards outstanding or subject to vesting restrictions under the 2008 Plan are subsequently forfeited or terminated for any
reason before being exercised or settled, the shares of common stock reserved for issuance pursuant to such awards as of the closing
of the IPO will become available for issuance under the 2013 Plan. The remaining shares available for grant under the 2008 Plan
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became available for issuance under the 2013 Plan upon the closing of the IPO. On the first day of each year from 2014 to 2023, the
2013 Plan authorizes an annual increase of the lesser of 4% of outstanding shares on the last day of the immediately preceding fiscal
year or a lesser amount as determined by the Company's Board of Directors. As of December 31, 2017, 1,133,907 shares were
available for future issuance under the 2013 Plan.
Pursuant to the 2013 Plan, stock options, restricted shares, stock units, including restricted stock units and stock appreciation
rights may be granted to employees, consultants, and outside directors of the Company. Options granted may be either ISOs or
NSOs.
Stock options are governed by stock option agreements between the Company and recipients of stock options. ISOs and NSOs
may be granted under the 2013 Plan at an exercise price of not less than 100% of the fair market value of the common stock on the
date of grant, determined by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors. Options become exercisable and expire as
determined by the Compensation Committee, provided that the term of ISOs may not exceed ten years from the date of grant. Stock
option agreements may provide for accelerated exercisability in the event of an optionee's death, disability, or retirement or other
events.
Stock units are governed by stock unit agreements between the Company and recipients of stock units. Stock units may be
granted under the 2013 Plan and the number of stock units awarded are determined by the Compensation Committee of the Board of
Directors. Stock units vest and expire as determined by the Compensation Committee. Stock unit agreements may provide for
accelerated vesting in the event of a stock unit holder's death, disability, or retirement or other events.
Any outside director who was not previously an employee and who first joins the Company's Board of Directors on or after the
effective date of the 2013 Plan will be automatically granted an initial NSO to purchase 35,000 shares of common stock upon first
becoming a member of the Board of Directors. The shares subject to the initial option will vest and become exercisable one-third
(1/3) each of the first, second and third annual anniversaries of the date of grant. On the first business day after each regularly
scheduled annual meeting of stockholders, each outside director who was not elected to the Board of Directors for the first time at
such meeting and who will continue serving as a member of the Board of Directors thereafter will be automatically granted an option
to purchase 10,000 shares of common stock, provided that the outside director has served on the Board of Directors for at least six
months. Each annual option will vest and become exercisable on the first anniversary of the date of grant, or immediately prior to the
next regular annual meeting of the Company's stockholders following the date of grant if the meeting occurs prior to the first
anniversary date. The options granted to outside directors will have a per share exercise price equal to 100% of the fair market value
of the underlying shares on the date of grant and will become fully vested in the event of a change of control. In addition, such
options will terminate on the earlier of (i) the day before the 10th anniversary of the date of grant or (ii) the date 12 months after the
termination of the outside director's service for any reason.
The following table summarizes activity under the Company's stock incentive plans (aggregate intrinsic value in thousands):
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Shares
Available
for Grant

Balance—December 31, 2016
Additional shares authorized
Granted - stock options
Granted - restricted stock units
Canceled
Exercised
Restricted stock units vested
Tax portion of restricted stock units vested
Balance—December 31, 2017

887,724
1,350,491
(1,769,000)
(60,000)
715,297
—
—
9,395
1,133,907

Options vested and exercisable—December 31, 2017
Options vested and expected to vest—December 31,
2017

Stock Options
Outstanding
and Unvested
Stock Units

Weighted
Average
Exercise Price
of Stock
Options

5,251,832 $
—
1,769,000
60,000
(715,297)
(279,454)
(25,000)
—
6,061,081 $

7.56

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contractual
Life of Stock
Options
(Years)

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value of
Stock
Options

7.24 $

8,515

7.76

6.71 $

4,531

3,174,848 $

7.43

5.58 $

4,257

5,749,963 $

7.74

6.64 $

4,509

8.80
9.94
5.13

The aggregate intrinsic value was calculated as the difference between the exercise price of the options to purchase common
stock and the fair market value of the Company's common stock, which was $6.53 and $7.74 per share as of December 31, 2017 and
2016, respectively.
The weighted average fair value of options to purchase common stock granted was $4.49, $3.35 and $5.12 for the years ended
December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively.
The aggregate estimated grant date fair value of employee options to purchase common stock vested during the years ended
December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 was $3.1 million, $5.8 million and $5.3 million, respectively.
The intrinsic value of stock options exercised was $0.7 million, $0.9 million and $1.8 million for the years ended
December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively.
The weighted average fair value of restricted stock units granted was $8.93 and $7.47 for the years ended December 31, 2017
and 2016, respectively. The intrinsic value of restricted stock units vested was $157,000 for the year ended December 31, 2017 for
the first stock units issued in December 2016.
Employee Stock Purchase Plan
In May 2015, the Company's stockholders approved the Company's Employee Stock Purchase Plan ("ESPP"). The ESPP
provides eligible employees with an opportunity to purchase common stock from the Company and to pay for their purchases
through payroll deductions. The ESPP will be implemented through a series of offerings of purchase rights to eligible employees.
Under the ESPP, the Compensation Committee of the Company's Board of Directors may specify offerings with a duration of not
more than 12 months, and may specify shorter purchase periods within each offering. During each purchase period, payroll
deductions will accumulate, without interest. On the last day of the purchase period, accumulated payroll deductions will be used to
purchase common stock for employees participating in the offering.
The purchase price will be specified pursuant to the offering, but cannot, under the terms of the ESPP, be less than 85% of the
fair market value per share of the Company's common stock on either the offering date or on the purchase date, whichever is less.
The Company's Board of Directors has determined that the purchase periods initially shall have a duration of six months, that
the first purchase period began on August 3, 2015 and that the purchase price will be 85% of the fair market value per share of the
Company's common stock on either the offering date or the purchase date, whichever is less. The length of the purchase period
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applicable to U.S. employees and the purchase price may not be changed without the approval of the independent members of the
Compensation Committee of the Company's Board of Directors. The Compensation Committee has determined that if the fair
market value of a share of the Company's common stock on any purchase date within a particular offering period is less than the fair
market value on the start date of that offering period, then the offering period will automatically terminate and the employees in that
offering period will automatically be transferred and enrolled in a new offering period which will begin on the next day following
such purchase date.
No employee is permitted to accrue, under the ESPP, a right to purchase stock of the Company having a value in excess of
$25,000 of the fair market value of such stock (determined at the time the right is granted) for each calendar year.
Stock-based Compensation
The following table summarizes stock-based compensation expense related to stock options, restricted stock units and the
ESPP for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, and are included in the statements of operations and comprehensive
loss as follows (in thousands of dollars):
Year Ended December 31,
2017

Cost of revenue

$

2016

133 $

2015

126 $

100

Research and development

1,495

1,322

1,178

Selling and marketing

1,899

1,594

1,326

3,090

3,336

2,998

6,617 $

6,378 $

5,602

General and administrative
Total stock-based compensation expense

$

As of December 31, 2017, the Company had $9.2 million of unrecognized compensation expense related to unvested stock
options and restricted stock units, which is expected to be recognized over an estimated weighted-average period of 2.50 years.
The estimated grant-date fair value of employee stock options was calculated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model,
based on the following assumptions:
Year Ended December 31,

Weighted-average volatility
Weighted-average expected term (years)
Risk-free interest rate
Expected dividend yield

2017

2016

2015

50.40 - 52.40%

52.49 - 56.36%

52.56 - 68.82%

5.50 - 6.08

5.50 - 6.27

5.50 - 6.08

1.80 - 2.33%

1.16 - 2.09%

1.55 - 2.03%

—

—

—

The estimated fair value of non-employee stock options was calculated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model, based
on the following assumptions:
Year Ended December 31,

Weighted-average volatility
Weighted-average expected term (years)
Risk-free interest rate
Expected dividend yield
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2017

2016

2015

50.40 - 51.10%

52.77 - 65.85%

64.72 - 74.48%

6.80 - 7.75

7.80 - 8.56

7.92 - 10.00

2.16 - 2.37%

1.39 - 2.30%

1.78 - 2.29%

—

—

—
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The estimated grant date fair value of the ESPP shares was calculated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model, based on
the following assumptions:
Year Ended December 31,

Weighted-average volatility
Weighted-average expected term (years)
Risk-free interest rate
Expected dividend yield

85

2017

2016

2015

37.00 - 43.86%

46.38 - 75.72%

53.57 - 58.10%

0.50 - 1.00

0.50 - 1.00

0.49 - 0.99

0.65 - 1.22%

0.40 - 0.50%

0.17 - 0.33%

—

—

—

10. Genzyme Co-Promotion Agreement
In January 2012, the Company and Genzyme Corporation ("Genzyme") executed a co-promotion agreement for the coexclusive rights and license to promote and market the Company's Afirma thyroid diagnostic solution in the United States and in 40
named countries. In exchange, the Company received a $10.0 million upfront co-promotion fee from Genzyme in February 2012 that
was recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the agreement. Under the terms of the co-promotion agreement, Genzyme
received a percentage of U.S. cash receipts that the Company has received related to Afirma as co-promotion fees. On March 9,
2016, as permitted under the agreement, the Company gave Genzyme notice of termination effective September 9, 2016 with the
remaining portion of the upfront co-promotion fee recognized through that date as well.
In February 2015, the Company entered into an ex-U.S. co-promotion agreement with Genzyme for the promotion of the
Afirma solution test with exclusivity in five countries outside the United States initially and in other countries agreed to from time to
time. The agreement commenced on January 1, 2015 and was to continue until December 31, 2019, with extension of the agreement
possible upon agreement of the parties. Pursuant to the agreement, the Company agreed to pay Genzyme 25% of net revenue from
the sale of the Afirma solution test in Brazil and Singapore over a five-year period commencing January 1, 2015. These payments
were immaterial for all periods presented. Effective July 6, 2017, the agreement was terminated and payments made under this
agreement for all periods presented were not material.
The Company incurred $6.1 million and $7.3 million in co-promotion expense, excluding the amortization of the upfront copromotion fee, in the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively, which is included in selling and marketing expenses in
the statements of operations and comprehensive loss. The Company had no obligation to Genzyme at either December 31, 2017 or
December 31, 2016.
The Company amortized $0.9 million and $1.9 million of the $10.0 million upfront co-promotion fee in the years ended
December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively, which is reflected as a reduction to selling and marketing expenses in the accompanying
statements of operations and comprehensive loss. The upfront fee was fully amortized in 2016.
11. Thyroid Cytopathology Partners
In 2010, the Company entered into an arrangement with Pathology Resource Consultants, P.A. ("PRC") to set up and manage a
specialized pathology practice to provide testing services to the Company. There was no direct monetary compensation from the
Company to PRC as a result of this arrangement. The Company's service agreement is with the specialized pathology practice,
Thyroid Cytopathology Partners, ("TCP"), which was managed by PRC and was effective through December 31, 2015, and
thereafter automatically renews every year unless either party provides notice of intent not to renew at least 12 months prior to the
end of the then-current term. Under the service agreement, the Company pays TCP based on a fixed price per test schedule, which is
reviewed periodically for changes in market pricing. Subsequent to December 2012, an amendment to the service agreement allows
TCP to sublease a portion of the Company's facility in Austin, Texas. The Company does not have an ownership interest in or
provide any form of financial or other support to TCP.
The Company has concluded that TCP represents a variable interest entity and that the Company is not the primary beneficiary
as it does not have the ability to direct the activities that most significantly impact TCP's economic performance. Therefore, the
Company does not consolidate TCP. All amounts paid to TCP under the service agreement are expensed as incurred and included in
cost of revenue in the accompanying statements of operations and comprehensive loss.
On October 16, 2017, the Company amended and restated its service agreement with TCP. The agreement is effective through
October 31, 2022, and thereafter automatically renews every year unless either party provides notice of intent not to renew at least
12 months prior to the end of the then-current term. In connection with amending and restating the TCP agreement, the Company’s
arrangement with PRC was simultaneously assigned by PRC to TCP and immediately terminated, and the Company agreed to pay
PRC a total of $1.8 million over eight quarterly installments in exchange for TCP reducing the price per test it charges the Company
during the term of the amended TCP agreement. Payments are amortized over the term of the agreement.
The Company incurred $4.6 million, $5.1 million, and $4.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015,
respectively, in cytopathology testing and evaluation services expenses with TCP. The Company's outstanding obligations to TCP for
cytopathology testing services were $308,000 and $426,000 as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively, and are included in
accounts payable in the accompanying balance sheets.
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TCP reimburses the Company for TCP's proportionate share of the Company's rent and related operating expenses for the
leased facility. TCP's portion of rent and related operating expenses for the shared space at the Austin, Texas facility was $114,000,
$103,000 and $90,000 for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 and is included other income, net in the Company's
statements of operations and comprehensive loss.
12. Income Taxes
The Company generated a pretax loss of $31.0 million, $31.4 million and $33.7 million in the United States for the years
ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively. Since inception, the Company has not generated any pretax income or loss
outside of the United States. The Company recorded no provision for income taxes during the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016
or 2015.
The Company follows FASB ASC No. 740, Income Taxes for the Computation and Presentation of its Tax Provision. The
following table presents a reconciliation of the income tax expense computed at the statutory federal rate and the Company's income
tax expense for the periods presented (in thousands of dollars):
Year Ended December, 31,
2017

U.S. federal taxes at statutory rate

$

State tax (net of federal benefit)
Permanent differences
Incentive stock options
Tax credits

2016

(10,541) $

(30)

198

153

96

994

1,095

24,474

Total

$

87

(11,459)

20

(14,552)

Rate differential impact - Tax Cuts and Jobs Act

(10,662) $

15

(588)

Change in valuation allowance

2015

— $

(677)

789
(581)

10,071

11,185

—

—

— $

—

VERACYTE, INC.
Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
12. Income Taxes (Continued)
Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. Significant components of the Company's deferred
tax assets and liabilities are as follows (in thousands of dollars):
Year Ended December 31,
2017

2016

2015

Deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss carryforwards

$

47,177 $

61,674 $

52,262

Research and development credits

4,034

3,174

2,497

Stock-based compensation

2,068

2,847

1,825

Genzyme co-promotion agreement

—

—

330

2,375

4,511

4,698

55,654

72,206

61,612

(51,657)

(65,975)

(55,101)

3,997

6,231

6,511

(983)

(1,180)

(1,215)

In-process research and development

(3,014)

(5,051)

(5,296)

Gross deferred tax liabilities

(3,997)

(6,231)

(6,511)

(3,997)

(6,231)

(6,511)

Accruals, deferred rent and other
Gross deferred tax assets
Valuation allowance
Net deferred tax assets
Deferred tax liabilities:
Property and equipment

Net deferred tax liabilities
Net deferred taxes

$

— $

— $

—

On December 22, 2017, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act ("The Act") was signed into law. Among other changes is a permanent
reduction in the statutory federal corporate income tax rate from 35% to 21% effective January 1, 2018. As a result of the reduction
in the corporate income tax rate, the Company revalued its net deferred tax asset at December 31, 2017, to the new statutory rate.
This resulted in a reduction in the value of net deferred tax asset of approximately $24.5 million, which was offset by the change in
valuation allowance resulting in no impact on the Company's tax expense. The Company has completed a preliminary assessment of
the accounting for the income tax effects of the Act, as it relates to its current structure, including provisions that are effective for tax
years beginning in 2018. The Company's preliminary assessment is subject to revisions to any additional guidance issued by the
U.S. Treasury Department, Internal Revenue Service, FASB, and other standard-setting and regulatory bodies. Adjustments may
materially impact our provision for income taxes and the assessment of the accounting for the tax effects of The Act will not extend
beyond one year from the enactment date.
The Company has established a full valuation allowance against its net deferred tax assets due to the uncertainty surrounding
realization of such assets. The valuation allowance decreased $14.3 million during the year ended December 31, 2017 and increased
$10.9 million and $11.7 million during the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively.
On March 30, 2016, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update 2016-09, Improvements to Employee Share-Based
Accounting, (“ASU 2016-09”). The required adoption period is for financial statements issued for annual periods beginning after
December 15, 2016. The Company adopted ASU 2016-09 in the first quarter of 2017 which was applied using a modified
retrospective approach. As a result of adoption, the Company’s federal and state net operating losses have been adjusted by excess
tax benefits of $1.6 million. Due to a full valuation allowance on all deferred tax assets, there is no impact to the statement of
financial position.
As of December 31, 2017, the Company had net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $196.1 million and $91.8
million available to reduce future taxable income, if any, for federal and state income tax purposes, respectively. The U.S. federal
net operating loss carryforwards will begin to expire in 2026 while for state purposes, the net operating losses began to expire in
2028.

88

VERACYTE, INC.
Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
12. Income Taxes (Continued)
As of December 31, 2017, the Company had net research and development credit carryforwards of approximately $3.8 million
and $3.2 million available to reduce future taxable income, if any, for federal and state income tax purposes, respectively. The
federal credit carryforwards begin to expire in 2028. California credits have no expiration date. Other state credit carryforwards
begin to expire in 2023.
The Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, imposes restrictions on the utilization of net operating losses and tax credits
in the event of an "ownership change" of a corporation. Accordingly, a company's ability to use net operating losses and tax credits
may be limited as prescribed under Internal Revenue Code Section 382 and 383 ("IRC Section 382"). Events which may cause
limitations in the amount of the net operating losses or tax credits that the Company may use in any one year include, but are not
limited to, a cumulative ownership change of more than 50% over a three-year period. Utilization of the federal and state net
operating losses may be subject to substantial annual limitation due to the ownership change limitations provided by the IRC Section
382 rules and similar state provisions. In the event the Company has any changes in ownership, net operating losses and research and
development credit carryovers could be limited and may expire unutilized.
Uncertain Tax Positions
As of December 31, 2017, the Company had unrecognized tax benefits of $2.5 million, none of which would currently affect
the Company's effective tax rate if recognized due to the Company's deferred tax assets being fully offset by a valuation allowance.
The Company does not anticipate that the amount of unrecognized tax benefits relating to tax positions existing at December 31,
2017 will significantly increase or decrease within the next 12 months.
A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows (in thousands of dollars):
Year Ended December 31,
2017

Unrecognized tax benefits, beginning of period

$

Gross increases—tax position in prior period

2016

2015

2,222 $

1,871 $

—

—

1,571
—

Gross decreases—tax position in prior period

—

—

—

Gross increases—current period tax position

301

351

300

—

—

—

2,523 $

2,222 $

Lapse of statute of limitations
Unrecognized tax benefits, end of period

$

1,871

It is the Company's policy to include penalties and interest expense related to income taxes as a component of other income
(expense), net, and interest expense, respectively, as necessary. There was no interest expense or penalties related to unrecognized
tax benefits recorded through December 31, 2017.
The Company's major tax jurisdictions are the United States and California. All of the Company's tax years will remain open
for examination by the Federal and state tax authorities for three and four years, respectively, from the date of utilization of the net
operating loss or research and development credit. The Company does not have any tax audits pending.
13. 401(k) Plan
The Company sponsors a 401(k) defined contribution plan covering all employees. Employer contributions to the plan were
$324,000, $262,000 and $103,000 for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016, and 2015, respectively.
14. Selected Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)
The following table presents selected unaudited financial data for each of the eight quarters in the two-year period ended
December 31, 2017. The Company believes this information reflects all recurring adjustments necessary to fairly present this
information when read in conjunction with the Company's financial statements and the related notes. Net loss per common share,
basic and diluted, for the four quarters of each fiscal year may not sum to the total for the fiscal year because of the different number
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of shares outstanding during each period. The results of operations for any quarter are not necessarily indicative of the results to be
expected for any future period (in thousands of dollars, except for share and per share data):
Quarter Ended

March 31

June 30

September 30

December 31

2017:
Revenue

$

Net loss
Net loss per common share, basic and diluted
Shares used to compute net loss per common share, basic
and diluted

16,432 $

18,406 $

17,519 $

19,596

(8,217)

(7,298)

(7,049)

(8,439)

(0.24)

(0.22)

(0.21)

(0.24)

33,823,889

33,873,128

33,946,748

34,055,524

2016:
Revenue

$

13,550 $

Net loss
Net loss per common share, basic and diluted
Shares used to compute net loss per common share, basic
and diluted

14,675 $

18,603 $

18,257

(10,075)

(11,243)

(5,637)

(4,403)

(0.36)

(0.40)

(0.20)

(0.14)

27,817,993

27,859,918

27,916,819

31,705,603

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURE
Not applicable.
ITEM 9A.

CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
We maintain "disclosure controls and procedures," as such term is defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the Exchange Act, that are
designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is
recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in Securities and Exchange Commission rules and
forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. In designing and evaluating our
disclosure controls and procedures, management recognized that disclosure controls and procedures, no matter how well conceived
and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the disclosure controls and procedures are
met. Our disclosure controls and procedures have been designed to meet reasonable assurance standards. Additionally, in designing
disclosure controls and procedures, our management necessarily was required to apply its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit
relationship of possible disclosure controls and procedures. The design of any disclosure controls and procedures also is based in
part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in
achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions.
Based on their evaluation as of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K, our Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that, as of such date, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective at the
reasonable assurance level.
Management's Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as defined
in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act. Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not
prevent or detect misstatements. Projections of any evaluation of the effectiveness of internal control to future periods are subject to
the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with policies or
procedures may deteriorate. Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting
as of December 31, 2017 using the criteria established in Internal Control Integrated Framework ("2013 Framework") issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission ("COSO").
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Based on our evaluation using those criteria, our management has concluded that, as of December 31, 2017, our internal
control over financial reporting was effective to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.
This Annual Report on Form 10-K does not include an attestation report of our registered public accounting firm on our
internal control over financial reporting due to an exemption established by the JOBS Act for "emerging growth companies."
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as such term is defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the
Exchange Act) identified in connection with the evaluation identified above that occurred during the quarter ended December 31,
2017 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
ITEM 9B.

OTHER INFORMATION

None.

91

PART III
ITEM 10.

DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The information required by this item with respect to directors is incorporated by reference from the information contained in
our proxy statement to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission no later than 120 days from the end of our fiscal year
ended December 31, 2017 in connection with the solicitation of proxies for our 2018 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, or the Proxy
Statement. Certain information required by this item concerning executive officers is set forth in Part I of this Report under the
caption “Executive Officers of the Registrant” and is incorporated herein by reference.
There have been no material changes to the procedures by which stockholders may recommend nominees to our Board of
Directors.
Item 405 of Regulation S-K calls for disclosure of any known late filing or failure by an insider to file a report required by
Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act. This disclosure is contained in the section entitled “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership
Reporting Compliance” in the Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.
We have adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that applies to all of our officers and employees, including our
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer, our Chief Financial Officer and other employees who perform financial or
accounting functions. The Code of Business Conduct and Ethics sets forth the basic principles that guide the business conduct of our
employees. We have also adopted a Senior Financial Officers’ Code of Ethics that specifically applies to our Chairman, President
and Chief Executive Officer, our Chief Financial Officer, and key management employees. Stockholders may request a free copy of
our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics and our Senior Financial Officers’ Code of Ethics by contacting Veracyte, Inc., Attention:
Chief Financial Officer, 6000 Shoreline Court, Suite 300, South San Francisco, California 94080.
To date, there have been no waivers under our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics or Senior Financial Officers’ Code of
Ethics. We intend to disclose future amendments to certain provisions of our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics or Senior
Financial Officers’ Code of Ethics or waivers of such Codes granted to executive officers and directors on our website at
http://www.veracyte.com within four business days following the date of such amendment or waiver.
Our Board of Directors has appointed an Audit Committee, comprised of Kevin K. Gordon, as Chairman, Karin Eastham, and
John L. Bishop. The Board of Directors has determined that Mr. Gordon qualifies as an audit committee financial expert under the
definition outlined by the Securities and Exchange Commission. In addition, each of the members of the Audit Committee qualifies
as an "independent director" under the current rules of The Nasdaq Stock Market and SEC rules and regulations.
ITEM 11.

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to our Proxy Statement.
ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to our Proxy Statement.
ITEM 13.

CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to our Proxy Statement.
ITEM 14.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to our Proxy Statement.
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PART IV
ITEM 15.

EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a) Documents filed as part of this report
1.

Financial Statements:

Reference is made to the Index to Financial Statements of Veracyte, Inc. included in Item 8 of Part II hereof.
2.

Financial Statement Schedules

All schedules have been omitted because they are not required, not applicable, or the required information is included in the
financial statements or notes thereto.
3.

Exhibits

See Item 15(b) below. Each management contract or compensating plan or arrangement required to be filed has been
identified.
(b) Exhibits

Incorporated by Reference
Exhibit
Number

Form

Description

File No.

Filed
Exhibit Filing Date Herewith

3.1

Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the
Registrant

8-K

001-36156

3.1

11/8/2013

3.2

Restated Bylaws of the Registrant

8-K

001-36156

3.2

11/8/2013

4.1

Form of Common Stock Certificate

S-1/A

333-191282 4.1

10/15/2013

10.1#

Form of Indemnification Agreement between the
Registrant and its officers and directors.

S-1/A

333-191282 10.1

10/7/2013

10.2#

2008 Stock Plan and forms of agreements
thereunder.

S-1

333-191282 10.2

9/20/2013

10.3#

2013 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended, and forms of
stock option award agreement, stock option exercise
agreement, restricted stock agreement and restricted
stock unit agreement.

10.4#

Employee Stock Purchase Plan.

10-Q

001-36156

10.1

8/13/2015

10.5

Lease Agreement between Riata Holdings, L.P., as
landlord, and the Registrant, as tenant, dated
November 28, 2012.

S-1

333-191282 10.6

9/20/2013

10.7

Second Amendment to Lease Agreement dated as of
August 14, 2017 by and between BRI 1868 RIATA, 10-Q
LLC and the Registrant.

001-36156

10.1

11/7/2017

001-36156

10.7

3/20/2014

001-36156

10.2

8/13/2015

10.6
10.8

X

First Amendment to Lease Agreement dated as of
January 7, 2014 by and between Riata Holdings, L.P. 10-K
and the Registrant.
Office Building Lease by and between American
10-Q
Fund US Investments LP and the Registrant dated
April 29, 2015.
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Incorporated by Reference
10.9

First Amendment to Office Building Lease dated
May 3, 2016 by and between American Fund US
Investments LP and the Registrant.

10.10

Second Amendment to Office Building Lease dated
February 8, 2017 by and between CRP 6000
Shoreline, L.L.C. and the Registrant.

10-K

001-36156

10.11#

Employment Agreement, dated as of February 15,
2008, between Bonnie Anderson and the Registrant.

S-1

333-191282 10.10

9/20/2013

10.12#

Amendment to Bonnie Anderson Employment
Agreement, dated as of December 22, 2008, between S-1
Bonnie Anderson and the Registrant.

333-191282 10.11

9/20/2013

10.13#

Amendment No. 2 to Bonnie Anderson Employment
Agreement, effective as of March 11, 2009, between S-1
Bonnie Anderson and the Registrant.

333-191282 10.12

9/20/2013

10.14#

Amended and Restated Change of Control and
Severance Agreement, effective as of May 14, 2015, 10-Q
between Bonnie Anderson and the Registrant.

001-36156

10.1

5/15/2015

10.15#

Amended and Restated Change of Control and
Severance Agreement, effective as of May 14, 2015, 10-Q
between Christopher Hall and the Registrant.

001-36156

10.3

5/15/2015

10.16#

Change of Control and Severance Agreement,
effective as of February 15, 2017, between Keith
Kennedy and the Registrant.

10-K

001-36156

10.18

3/1/2017

10.17#

Offer Letter dated as of January 28, 2010 with
Christopher M. Hall.

S-1

333-191282 10.18

10.18†

Amended and Restated Pathology Services
Agreement dated as of October 16, 2017 between
Thyroid Cytopathology Partners, P.A. and the
Registrant

X

10.19

Loan and Security Agreement dated as of November
3, 2017 between Silicon Valley Bank and the
Registrant.

X

10.20#

Offer Letter dated as of November 17, 2016 with
Keith Kennedy.

X

12.1

Statement Regarding Computation of Ratios.

X

23.1

Consent of independent registered public accounting
firm.

X

24.1

Power of Attorney (see the signature page of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K).

X

31.1

Principal Executive Officer’s Certification Pursuant
to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

X

31.2

Principal Financial Officer’s Certification Pursuant
to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

X

32.1*

Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350
(Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002).

X

32.2*

Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350
(Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002).

X

101.INS

XBRL Instance Document

X

101.SCH

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema

X

101.CAL

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase

X

X
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10.10

3/1/2017

9/20/2013

Incorporated by Reference
101.DEF

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase

X

101.LAB

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase

X

101.PRE

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase

X

_____________________________________________

#

Indicates management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.

*

In accordance with Item 601(b)(32)(ii) of Regulation S-K and SEC Release No. 34-47986, the certifications
furnished in Exhibits 32.1 and 32.2 hereto are deemed to accompany this Form 10-K and will not be deemed
“filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”) or deemed to
be incorporated by reference into any filing under the Exchange Act or the Securities Act of 1933, as amended,
except to the extent that the registrant specifically incorporates it by reference.

†

Registrant is requesting confidential treatment with respect to certain portions of this Exhibit.

Copies of the above exhibits not contained herein are available to any stockholder, upon payment of a reasonable per page fee, upon
written request to: Chief Financial Officer, Veracyte, Inc., 6000 Shoreline Court, Suite 300, South San Francisco, California 94080.
(c) Financial Statement Schedules
Reference is made to Item 15(a) 2 above.
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ITEM 16.

FORM 10-K SUMMARY

Not applicable.
SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this
report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
VERACYTE, INC.
By:
/s/ BONNIE H. ANDERSON
Bonnie H. Anderson
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Date: February 27, 2018
POWER OF ATTORNEY
KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENT, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints
Bonnie H. Anderson and Keith S. Kennedy, and each of them, his true and lawful attorneys-in-fact, each with full power of
substitution, for him or her in any and all capacities, to sign any amendments to this annual report on Form 10-K and to file the
same, with exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, hereby
ratifying and confirming all that each of said attorneys-in-fact or their substitute or substitutes may do or cause to be done by virtue
hereof.
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following
persons, on behalf of the registrant on the dates and the capacities indicated.
Signature

/s/ BONNIE H. ANDERSON
Bonnie H. Anderson

Title

Date

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

February 27, 2018

Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial
and Accounting Officer)

February 27, 2018

Lead Independent Director

February 27, 2018

/s/ FRED E. COHEN, M.D., D.PHIL.
Fred E. Cohen, M.D., D.Phil.

Director

February 27, 2018

/s/ KARIN EASTHAM
Karin Eastham

Director

February 27, 2018

/s/ ROBERT S. EPSTEIN
Robert S. Epstein

Director

February 27, 2018

/s/ KEVIN K. GORDON
Kevin K. Gordon

Director

February 27, 2018

/s/ EVAN JONES
Evan Jones

Director

February 27, 2018

/s/ TINA S. NOVA, PH.D.
Tina S. Nova, Ph.D.

Director

February 27, 2018

/s/ JESSE I. TREU, PH.D.
Jesse I. Treu, Ph.D.

Director

February 27, 2018

/s/ KEITH S. KENNEDY
Keith S. Kennedy
/s/ JOHN L. BISHOP
John L. Bishop
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